Technische Universität München TUM School of Life Sciences

Bacterial phosphorus turnover in agricultural soils and the effect of different fertilizer amendments

Martin Alexander Grafe

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der TUM School of Life Sciences der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitzender:	Prof. Dr. Kurt-Jürgen Hülsbergen	
Prüfer der Dissertation:	1. Hon. – Prof. Dr. Michael Schloter	
	2. Prof. Dr. Gerd Patrick Bienert	

Die Dissertation wurde am 28.10.2021 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die TUM School of Life Sciences am 02.05.2022 angenommen.

Meiner Familie

# Table of contents

Zusammenfassung	1
Summary	3
I Introduction	5
1. The essential role of P	5
2. Forms of P in soil	7
3. Environmental drivers for P turnover	8
4. Fertilization practices to ensure sufficient P supply	9
5. Microbial P turnover in agricultural soils	12
6. Microorganisms facilitating P transformations in soil	13
7. Bacterial P mobilizing processes and underlying molecular mechanisms	14
7.1. Bacterial P-uptake	15
7.2. Solubilization of P by bacteria	16
7.3. Bacterial P mineralization	
8. Microbial strategies to maintain their C:N:P stoichiometry	20
9. Objectives and Hypotheses of the PhD thesis	22
II Materials and Methods	24
1. Site descriptions and sampling	24
1.1. Experiment I (M1)	24
1.2. Experiment II (M2)	25
1.3. Experiment III (M3)	26
2. Soil abiotic properties	29
3. Microbial biomass C, N, and P and soil enzyme activities	29
4. Nucleic acid extraction	29

5. Quantitative polymerase chain reaction measurements (qPCR)	0
6. Library preparation for whole shotgun sequencing3	0
7. Sequence processing and taxonomic and functional annotation	1
8. Statistical analysis3	1
III Manuscript overview	4
List of manuscripts	4
Manuscript description and contributions3	5
Manuscript I3	6
Manuscript II	7
Manuscript III	8
IV Discussion	9
1. Bacterial community composition and P turnover potential is affected by organic	
amendment3	9
1.1. Microbial C:N:P ratios reflected the soil nutrient stochiometry	9
1.2 Distribution of genes coding for enzymes catalyzing different steps in P turnover	
among bacterial families4	0
1.3. Effect of organic fertilization on bacterial community structure	2
2. The effect of different fertilizers on the abundance of bacterial P turnover genes4	3
2.1. Bacterial P solubilization4	3
2.2. Bacterial P mineralization4	4
2.3. Bacterial P uptake4	6
3. The effect of organic amendments on bacterial P turnover	7
3.1. Metagenomic analysis of bacterial P turnover genes as affected by organic fertilization	ı
	7
3.2. The effect of organic amendments on P <sub>mic</sub> and potential phosphatase activity4	8
4. Alternative P fertilizers	0

4.1. Fertilizer effect is highly interlinked with plant growth stage and initial soil P
concentration51
V Conclusions and outlook
VI Methodological caveats
1. Sampling and DNA extraction55
2. Limitations of metagenomic analysis55
3. qPCR
References
List of abbreviations
Acknowledgements
Appendix
Manuscript I
Supplemental Information Manuscript I109
Manuscript II
Manuscript III
Supplemental Information Manuscript III147
Licence agreements
Manuscript I
Manuscript II
Manuscript III

# Zusammenfassung

Posphor (P) ist ein unersetzliches Element für alle Lebensformen auf der Erde. Seine Bedeutung für die landwirtschaftliche Produktion spiegelt sich darin wider, dass P einer der wichtigsten pflanzlichen Makronährstoffe ist, so dass eine ausreichende Versorgung notwendig ist, um hohe Ernteerträge zu erzielen. Es gibt jedoch auch die Kehrseite der Medaille. Einerseits stammt der Großteil des in der Landwirtschaft ausgebrachten P aus Rohphosphat, das eine begrenzte Ressource ist. Andererseits hat die übermäßige P-Düngung in den letzten Jahrzehnten zu negativen Folgen für die Umwelt geführt. Mikroorganismen im Boden sind Schlüsselkomponenten für zahlreiche Ökosystemfunktionen, einschließlich des P-Zyklus. Durch Mineralisierungs- und Solubilisierungsprozesse sowie den Einbau und die Speicherung von P in ihrer Biomasse wirken Bakterien sowohl als Senke als auch als Quelle für P im Boden.

Daher ist es notwendig, die Einflussfaktoren des P-Zyklus genauer zu verstehen. Diese Erkenntnisse werden durch nachhaltige Düngestrategien und alternative P-Dünger ergänzt, die dazu beitragen können, hohe Ernteerträge für eine ständig wachsende Bevölkerung zu sichern und gleichzeitig nicht erneuerbare Ressourcen nachhaltig zu nutzen und somit die Umwelt zu schützen. Das Hauptziel dieser Doktorarbeit war es, das Potenzial des bakteriellen P-Umsatzes zur Verringerung des P-Düngereinsatzes in der Landwirtschaft zu erforschen und die Realisierbarkeit alternativer P-Quellen zu untersuchen.

Dazu wurden sowohl der metagenomische als auch der quantitative Polymerase-Kettenreaktion (qPCR) Ansatz angewandt. Die Abundanz von Bakteriengenen, von denen bekannt ist, dass sie an P-Umsetzungsprozessen im Boden beteiligt sind, dient stellvertretend für die Gesamt- und P-Cycling-Gemeinschaftsstruktur sowie für P-Umsetzungsprozesse unter organischen, mineralischen und einer Kombination aus organischen und mineralischen sowie entweder konventionellen (TSP) oder alternativen P-Düngern (BC und BC<sup>plus</sup>). Die Ergebnisse wurden des Weiteren durch Daten über die potenziellen Aktivitäten der P-akquirierenden Enzyme ergänzt. Die metagenomische Analyse ergab, dass die Gesamtstruktur der Bakteriengemeinschaft weder von der Düngung noch von der Zeit der Probenahme beeinflusst wurde. Der Aufbau der Familien,

die Gene beherbergten, welche am P-Umsatz beteiligt sind, wurde jedoch durch die Zugabe von

organischem Dünger beeinflusst. Die Familien, die in den Datensätzen am häufigsten vorkamen, waren Acidobacteriaceae, Bradyrhizobiaceae, Verrucomicrobia subd. 3, Planctomycetaceae und Chitinophagaceae. Keine der identifizierten Familien deckte alle bekannten Prozesse ab, die mit dem bakteriellen P-Umsatz im Boden verbunden sind, d. h. Solubilisierung, Mineralisierung und P-Aufnahme. Einige Familien leisteten einen eher universellen Beitrag zum P-Umsatz, während andere lediglich Gene zur P-Aufnahme aufwiesen, ohne nachweisbare Fähigkeit zur P-Solubilisierung oder Mineralisierung. Unabhängig von der angewandten Methode (Metagenomik oder qPCR), der geografischen Lage, Jahreszeit oder der Art von eingesetztem Dünger war das am häufigsten vorkommenden Gen in den Datensätzen die Quinoprotein-Glukose-Dehydrogenase (qcd), einem Enzym, das an der Solubilisierung von anorganisch gebundenem P beteiligt ist. Obwohl die potenziellen Phosphatase-Aktivitäten unter organischer Düngung, signifikant erhöht waren, gab es keine entsprechende Änderung der Abundanz von Phosphatase-Genen. Dies deutet darauf hin, dass die Wirkung eher auf die Transkriptionsrate zurückzuführen ist. Darüber hinaus war die Abundanz von Genen, die für Phosphatasen kodieren, in Böden mit sehr niedrigem, niedrigem und optimalem P-Gehalt stabil und zeigte keine signifikante Reaktion auf konventionelle oder alternative P-Düngerzusätze. Im Allgemeinen beeinflussten alternative P-Dünger die P-Mobilisierung, jedoch begünstigte ihr Einsatz unterschiedliche Prozesse. BCplus begünstigte die bakterielle P-Solubilisierung, was sich in einer höheren gcd-Abundanz widerspiegelt, während BC das P-Recycling aus der Biomasse förderte. Darüber hinaus waren die Auswirkungen stark mit dem anfänglichen P-Gehalt im Boden und dem Wachstumsstadium der Pflanzen verknüpft. Diese Arbeit bietet grundlegende Einblicke in die mikrobielle Gesamt- und P-Kreislauf-Gemeinschaft und zeigt die Auswirkungen verschiedener Düngemittelzusätze auf das mikrobielle Potenzial für den P-Umsatz im Boden in landwirtschaftlichen Ökosystemen.

# Summary

Phosphorus (P) is an irreplaceable element for all life forms on earth. Its significance for agricultural production is reflected by P being one of the most important plant macronutrients, and consequently an adequate supply is necessary for maintaining high crop yields. There is, however, the flipside of the coin. On the one hand, the majority of P applied in agriculture comes from rock phosphate, which is a limited resource. On the other hand, excessive P fertilization over the past few decades has led to negative environmental consequences. Soil microorganisms are key components for numerous ecosystem functions, including P cycling. Through processes of mineralization, solubilization, as well as incorporation and storage of P in their biomass, bacteria act as both sink and source of P in soil.

Therefore, it is necessary to obtain a more detailed understanding of P cycle drivers. Soil microbes have the potential to mobilize soil P reserves and can increase plant-available P. These findings are complemented by sustainable fertilizing strategies and alternative P fertilizers which can assist to maintain high crop yields for an ever-growing human population while sustainably using non-renewable resources and protecting the environment. Thus, the main aim of this PhD thesis was to explore bacterial P turnover potential to reduce P fertilizer input in agriculture and to investigate the viability of alternative P sources. This was accomplished by applying metagenomic and quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) approaches where abundances of bacterial genes known to be involved in soil P turnover processes were used as a proxy to investigate the total and P-cycling community structure as well as P turnover processes under organic, mineral, and a combination of organic and mineral, as well as either conventional (TSP) or alternative P fertilizers (BC and BC<sup>plus</sup>).

These results were complimented by data on potential activities of P acquiring enzymes.

Metagenomic analysis revealed that the total bacterial community structure was neither influenced by fertilization nor sampling season. However, community structure of families harboring genes involved in P turnover was affected by organic fertilizer amendment. The most abundant families were *Acidobacteriaceae*, *Bradyrhizobiaceae*, *Verrucomicrobia* subd. 3, *Planctomycetaceae* and *Chitinophagaceae*. None of the identified families covered all known processes associated to bacterial P turnover in soil, i.e., solubilization, mineralization, and P

3

uptake. Some families showed a more universal contribution to P turnover, whereas others harbored only P uptake genes, without capabilities for P solubilization or mineralization. Irrespective of the method applied (metagenomic or qPCR), geographical location, season, or fertilization treatment, the most abundant gene in the datasets was that of quinoprotein glucose dehydrogenase (qcd), an enzyme involved in solubilization of inorganically bound P. The second most abundant genes were those involved in P uptake, followed by genes involved in P mineralization. Although potential phosphatase activities were significantly increased in treatments where organic fertilizer was applied, there was no corresponding change in phosphatase gene abundances, suggesting that the effect more likely occurs on rate of transcription rather than on the DNA level. Moreover, the abundances of genes encoding phosphatases were stable across soils with very low, low, and optimal P content, and showed no significant response to either conventional or alternative P fertilizer amendments. In general, alternative P fertilizers affected P-mobilization, but they differed in the processes they promoted. BC<sup>plus</sup> favored bacterial P solubilization, as indicated by higher *qcd* abundance, whereas BC favored P recycling from biomass. Additionally, the effects were strongly interlinked with initial soil P content and plant growth stage. This study provides fundamental insights into the total and P cycling microbial community and reveals the effects of different fertilizer amendments on the microbial potential for soil P turnover in agricultural ecosystems.

# I Introduction

# 1. The essential role of P

Phosphorus (P) is an essential nutrient for all forms of life. It is a key element for numerous biological processes, including storage of genetic information, cell development via synthesis of nucleic acids and cell membranes, as well as synthesis of adenosine triphosphate and energy transfer (Caballero et al., 2003). P is therefore a ubiquitous element vital for the survival and proper functioning of all living organisms.

In crop production, phosphorus is the second most limiting macronutrient after nitrogen (N) and its deficiency delays plant maturity and reduces yields (Carstensen et al., 2019; He et al., 2017). Unlike other macronutrients (carbon, sulphur, and nitrogen), P lacks an atmospheric gaseous component, which is why the P cycle has often been described as the "broken cycle" (Slocombe et al., 2020). Most of the phosphorus is locked in sediments and rocks, and as such cannot be directly taken up and used by plants or microorganisms (Rengel & Marschner, 2005). The release of bound P in soil is dependent on the interplay of abiotic factors such as soil type, pH, temperature, and soil biota, especially microorganisms and plant roots.

The modern terrestrial P cycle (Fig. 1) is dominated by agriculture and human activity, with fertilization playing a significant role (Filippelli, 2008).



Fig. 1 Terrestrial Phosphorus Cycle. Schematic representation of the terrestrial Phosphorus (P) cycle. Orange labels depict loss of P from soil, green labels depict forms of P present in soil.

To ensure high crop yields necessary to provide food security for an ever-growing human population, agriculture relies on the addition of external phosphorus derived from geological sources (Elser & Bennett, 2011). Unfortunately, excessive amounts of applied P in the last decades disregarded the existing content and dynamics of P in soil, and often exceeded plant P requirements leading to serious ecological problems. Considering that more than 85% of P applied in agriculture comes from non-renewable phosphate rock on one hand, and considerable amounts of bound P in soils with potentially negative ecological implications on the other(Cordell & White, 2011; Nedelciu et al., 2019), sustainable crop production will have to rely on alternative sources for P fertilization and utilizing microorganisms to access soil P reserves.

# 2. Forms of P in soil

Phosphorus exists in soil in inorganic P ( $P_i$ ) and organic P ( $P_o$ ) forms, which differ in their behavior and fate (Fig. 2) (Hansen et al., 2004; Turner, 2008).





Depending on soil type, parent material, and climate, P<sub>i</sub> usually accounts for 35% to 70% of total P in soil (Harrison, 1987). P<sub>i</sub> exists in following forms: primary P minerals (apatites, strengite, and variscite), which are very stable and from which available P can be released by weathering; secondary P minerals, such as Al<sup>3+</sup>, Fe<sup>3+</sup>, and Ca<sup>2+</sup> phosphates, whose dissolution rates depend on size of mineral particles and soil pH (Oelkers & Valsami-Jones, 2008; Pierzynski et al., 2015); P adsorbed on clay particles and Al/Fe oxides, which can be released by desorption reactions (Shen et al., 2011). P<sub>o</sub> accounts for 30% to 65% of the total P in soil (Sims et al., 2005) and mainly exists in stabilized forms as inositol phosphates and phosphonates, active forms as orthophosphate diesters, labile orthophosphate monoesters, and organic polyphosphates (Sims et al., 2005; Turner et al., 2002). P<sub>o</sub> can be released by processes of mineralization through microbial activity and plant root exudates, which are influenced by soil moisture, temperature, surface physicochemical properties, soil pH, and soil redox potential (Shen et al., 2011).

Plants take up P dissolved in the soil solution in form of H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub><sup>-</sup> and HPO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> (Bucher & Bucher, 2007; Richardson & Simpson, 2011). Although P reserves in soil might far exceed the plants' needs, only a small fraction is available for plant uptake (Smil, 2000; Sohrt et al., 2017). In comparison to other macronutrients, phosphorus concentration in soil solution is much lower and ranges from 0.001 mg L<sup>-1</sup> to 1 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (Brady & Weil, 2008). Crop requirement for P varies between species and cultivars, but generally ranges between 0.3 and 0.5 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> each day during phase of rapid growth (Johnston et al., 2014), and adequate supply of available P is crucial for obtaining high yields.

#### 3. Environmental drivers for P turnover

The main environmental factors for P turnover are soil edaphic parameters such as soil type, pH, temperature, moisture, aeration, and salinity as well as plant growth phase and species. P availability from the different bound forms in soil depends largely on weathering of the parent material which is dependent on the soil type (Audette et al., 2016; Börling et al., 2001; Brennan et al., 1994; H. Li et al., 2020; L. Li et al., 2007; Luo et al., 2009; Walker & Syers, 1976; Wang & Tzou, 1995; Zhang et al., 2015). Organic ( $P_0$ ) and inorganic ( $P_i$ ) soil P pools are differently affected by abiotic factors.  $P_0$  in its stable form is present as inositol phosphates and phosphonates. By climate weathering it is then converted to its active forms, which are either orthophosphate diesters, labile orthophosphate monoesters, or organic polyphosphate. Unlike Po, Pi is sorbed on clays as well as bound by metals (Al and Fe) and is released through desorption. P can be immobilized by precipitation forming secondary P minerals with Ca, Al, and Fe (i.e., apatites) and can be made available through dissolution. Sorption of P by secondary minerals is pH dependent. The optimum pH for P availability is between 6 and 7.5, whereas under low or high pH conditions P binds with divalent cations such as Al<sup>2+</sup>, Fe<sup>2+</sup> or Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Mora et al., 2004). Temperature also plays a vital role as it influences soil organic matter (SOM) decomposition thereby affecting the rate of P release. This has been demonstrated recently by Geng et al. (2017) and Jiao et al. (2016) who showed that SOM decomposition and P release increased with increased temperature. Soil moisture, aeration, and salinity also affect organic matter decomposition thereby affecting the rate of P mineralization (USDA - NRCS). Plant species and growth phase affect P availability through uptake and release of P solubilizing compounds (Hirzel & Undurraga, 2013). Plants exude organic acids, such as malate and citrate, which in their deprotonated form chelate Al<sup>3+</sup>, Fe<sup>3+</sup>, and Ca<sup>2+</sup> thereby mobilizing bound P<sub>i</sub> (Hinsinger, 2001). However, this metabolic adaptation to low P availability is not present in all species, and even differs among cultivars and genotypes (Wang & Lambers, 2020). Additionally, the composition of exuded organic acids is highly variable and dependents on plant species (Badri & Vivanco, 2009; Curl & Truelove, 1986; Hale et al., 1971). To access P that is bound in organic compounds, plants can secrete phosphohydrolase (Abel et al., 2002; Marschner, 1995; Vance et al., 2003), but the importance of this P acquiring strategy has been shown to vary with species, cropping system, and forms of organic P in the soil (George et al., 2005; Liang & Li, 2003; Yun & Kaeppler, 2001). Plants' uptake of P varies during the season with about 50% of the plants' total requirement being absorbed by the time they have accumulated 25% of their total seasonal dry mass (Black, 1968).

#### 4. Fertilization practices to ensure sufficient P supply

Although cultivation and farming go back to the Neolithic era, and through centuries many attempts to increase yields by adding various mineral and organic substances have been applied, until the mid 19th century the approach to fertilization was highly empirical (Hignett, 1985). The foundations of the modern fertilizer industry were laid by Justus von Liebig in 1840, who recognized the importance of inorganic minerals in plant nutrition, and Lawes, who in 1842 started the first commercial superphosphate production (Hignett, 1985). These discoveries prompted the development of a variety of P fertilizers such as Single super phosphate (SSP), Triple super phosphate (TSP), Monoammonium phosphate (MAP), Diammonium phosphate (DAP) and Nitrophosphate, most of which are based on treatment of phosphate rock with sulfuric acid.

The application of P fertilizers has quadrupled since 1961, from 4.6 million tons to approximately 21 million tons in 2015 (Mogollón et al., 2018). On the one hand, this has enabled considerable increases in yield, contributing to the green revolution and food security (Sharpley et al., 2018), but on the other hand, the lack of scientific and public understanding has led to overuse of P fertilizers (Haygarth et al., 2013). For example, for the period between 1967 and 2007 it has been calculated that the cumulative P application (550 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) was more than double of the crop cumulative uptake (225 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) globally (MacDonald et al., 2011), and recent research shows

that global surpluses have built up at an estimated 11–16 MT P year<sup>-1</sup> (Bouwman et al., 2017; Lu & Tian, 2017; Sattari et al., 2012). This excess P application has no added benefit for yield – a comparison of P input for maize, rice, and wheat with simulation where P input was optimized for crop uptake, suggested that currently 34%, 82%, and 70% of P applications for the three crops respectively, could be eliminated without reducing crop yields (J. Liu et al., 2018). Although much of the applied P binds to soil, creating a pool of residual P, a considerable amount is lost via leaching, runoff, and/or erosion and may reach waterbodies, leading to eutrophication (Carpenter, 2008; Childers et al., 2011; Conijn et al., 2018; Grizzetti, 2012; W. Liu et al., 2018; Powers et al., 2016).

However, 32% of the world's cropland and 43% of pastures are still P deficient (Lun et al., 2017), making P fertilization unavoidable. Following a growing demand on P fertilizers, the mining of rock phosphate has also quadrupled over the past half century (Scholz et al., 2013), raising concerns about future shortages and food security (Cordell et al., 2009; Peñuelas et al., 2013; Vuuren et al., 2010). The increasing scarcity of high-quality rock phosphates prompted the search for alternative P sources for fertilizers (Cordell et al., 2009).

One option is the use of organic fertilizers such as animal manures, sewage sludge, plant substances, and compost. In addition to providing macro- and micronutrients to plants and soil microorganisms, thereby positively affecting soil biodiversity and biological activity, organic fertilizers improve soil quality by increasing SOM and moisture retention, improving soil structure, and protecting soil against erosion (Roba, 2018) However, it has to be taken into account that organic fertilizers have relatively low nutrient content and highly variable composition, which makes the accurate application of nutrients to meet plants' needs difficult. In addition, transformations of organic compounds and nutrient release are dependent on microbial activities and therefore, affected by seasonal dynamics (Djukic et al., 2018). The amount of P in organic fertilizers varies between different materials, for example, green waste compost contains on average 0.22% P, liquid biosolids 3.75% P, and 0.3 - 1.4% P in dried manure (Möller et al., 2018).

Another type of fertilizer that has gained popularity in the last few decades is biochar. Biochar is a carbon-rich solid material obtained from the carbonization of biomass which is produced

10

through application of heat or chemicals on organic materials (Atkinson et al., 2010; Karhu et al., 2011; Lehmann et al., 2007; Novak et al., 2009) by processes such as pyrolysis (Ronsse et al., 2013), gasification, hydrothermal carbonization, flash carbonization (Antal & Grønli, 2003; Chen et al., 2016; Wade et al., 2006), and torrefaction (Benavente & Fullana, 2015). Numerous recent studies have shown that application of biochar has multiple positive effects on soil quality (Barrow, 2012), including high nutrient content and increased soil C through sequestration (Lehmann et al., 2007; Li et al., 2019), increased water-holding capacity and nutrient retention, correction of soil acidity, habitats for soil microbes, control of plant pathogens, and improved mycorrhizal competence (Hammer et al., 2015), as well as positive environmental effects such as reduction in greenhouse gas emissions, and adsorption of heavy metals (Hagemann et al., 2018; Jia et al., 2018; Kong et al., 2018; Thangarajan et al., 2018; Turk Sekulić et al., 2018; Xu et al., 2016). Biochar characteristics differ depending on type of feedstock and the production variables such as highest treatment temperature and holding time at the highest temperature (Enders et al., 2012; Novak et al., 2009).

P content of biochar highly depends on the type of feedstock used to produce biochar. A study comparing different feedstocks showed that bonechar (BC) – a biochar obtained by pyrolyzing defatted animal bones at 600 to 800 °C (Siebers & Leinweber, 2013) – has highest content of both total, as well as bioavailable P (Li et al., 2019).

BC contains roughly 130 to 150 g P kg<sup>-1</sup>, 280 g Ca kg<sup>-1</sup>, and 6.5 g Mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (Siebers et al., 2012; Warren et al., 2009), and in contrast to biochar that is obtained from plant material, contains low amounts of organic C (Zwetsloot et al., 2016). Therefore, BC is a strong candidate as an alternative to mineral P fertilizers (Morshedizad et al., 2016; Morshedizad & Leinweber, 2017; Siebers & Leinweber, 2013; Warren et al., 2009; Zwetsloot et al., 2016). The solubility of BC has been reported to be between the solubility of rock phosphate and that of TSP, and highly depends on abiotic factors such as pH, soil type, temperature, and water content (Warren et al., 2009).

Since many studies have proven that microbial sulfur (S) oxidation enhances solubilization of P from rock phosphate, and thus facilitates P uptake by plants (Besharati & Atashnama, 2007; Pathiratna et al., 1989), a novel approach to increase P solubility of BC is a surface modification by adding S. An incubation experiment with surface-modified BC (BC<sup>plus</sup>) under equilibrium

conditions revealed larger P dissolution than treatments with BC in all studied soils over a wide range of pH (Morshedizad et al., 2016). The pot experiment with annual rye grass and treatments without P (P0), BC, BC<sup>plus</sup> and TSP showed that the cumulative dry matter yield of BC was similar to P0, and that of BC<sup>plus</sup> similar to TSP, concluding that BC<sup>plus</sup> has a potential as a P and S fertilizer (Zimmer et al., 2019).

# 5. Microbial P turnover in agricultural soils

Soil microorganisms play a vital role in nutrient cycling, energy flow, and ecosystem productivity (Ohtonen et al., 1997). In agricultural soils they can enhance plant nutrient acquisition by transforming insoluble soil nutrients (Babalola & Glick, 2012). Soil P dynamic is highly dependent on soil microorganisms (Bünemann et al., 2011; Richardson & Simpson, 2011). Soil microbial P pool (P<sub>mic</sub>) is a critical part of P turnover, as it serves both as P source for plants by releasing bound P, as well as a temporal P sink by immobilizing inorganic P (Bilyera et al., 2018). Amount of P captured in microorganisms is estimated to be 2% to 10% of total soil P (Achat et al., 2010), and is generally equivalent or higher than that held in the plant biomass (Richardson & Simpson, 2011). P<sub>mic</sub> content of agricultural soils varies in range from 5 to 70 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup>, with turnover times of a few months, depending on management and C inputs (Oehl et al., 2001). Main factors affecting P<sub>mic</sub> are soil type, soil texture, and SOM (Turner & Haygarth, 2005). Soils in organic farming systems where no pesticides and only organic fertilizers are applied contain almost twice as much P<sub>mic</sub> as conventionally cultivated soils fertilized with mineral fertilizers (Oberson et al., 1996; Oehl et al., 2001). The uptake and release of P by microorganisms strongly affects the amount of P that is available for plant uptake (Turner & Haygarth, 2005). P incorporated in microbial biomass represents a temporarily unavailable P pool for plant uptake, but P immobilized in this way is released when cells die, so in the long term, all microbial P is potentially available. Therefore, it has been suggested that the immobilization of P in microbial biomass is an important mechanism for regulating P supply in soil solution (Seeling & Zasoski, 1993) and for preventing it from reactions with soil particles (Olander & Vitousek, 2004).

# 6. Microorganisms facilitating P transformations in soil

Figure 3 depicts P transformations in soil. A group of microorganisms involved in solubilization and mineralization of bound P is referred to as Phosphorus Solubilizing Microorganisms (PSM), and includes bacteria, fungi, actinomycetes, and algae (Alori et al., 2017). PSM are able to solubilize P<sub>i</sub> by secreting organic acids, such as citric, oxalic, and succinic acids, in the surrounding area, and mineralize P<sub>o</sub> by secreting enzymes such as phosphatases and phytases that hydrolytically cleave bound P (Tomer et al., 2017).



# Fig. 3 Schematic representation of the central role of P solubilizing bacteria in soil and their contribution on accessing inorganic and organic sources of P.

P is then released into the soil solution thereby increasing its bioavailability for plant uptake (Bergkemper, et al., 2016a; Khan et al., 2009; Richardson & Simpson, 2011; Zhu et al., 2011). Phosphatases catalyze the hydrolysis of both esters and anhydrides of phosphoric acid (Condron et al., 2015), and can be classified as phosphomonoesterases, phosphodiesterases, triphosphoric diester hydrolases, and enzymes acting on phosphoryl-containing anhydrides, and on P-N bonds (Nannipieri et al., 2011b). Since phosphomonoesters comprise approximately 68% to 98% of organic P (Nannipieri et al., 2011b; Turner & Engelbrecht, 2011; Turner & Haygarth, 2005), it is not surprising that they are the most studied group of P mineralizing enzymes. They include acid and alkaline phosphomonoesterases (ACP and ALP, respectively), phosphoprotein phosphatases, phythases, and nucleotidases. Unlike phosphodiesterases, that hydrolyze ester bonds in phosphodiester compounds and do not produce inorganic phosphate, ACP and ALP can hydrolyze lower-order inositol phosphates thereby releasing free phosphate for biological uptake (Makoi & Ndakidemi, 2008). Whereas ALPs are mainly produced by bacteria, ACP and phytases can be derived from plants, fungi, and bacteria (Nannipieri et al., 2011b). The quantity of

phosphatases in soil varies depending on microbial biomass, amount of SOM, as well as on applied agricultural practices, with fertilization and tillage being the most important ones (Banerjee et al., 2012).

Another important mechanism for sufficient P supply of plants in agricultural soils is symbiotic relationship with the arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi which are known for their ability to take up and transfer P and other growth limiting nutrients from soil to plants. AM hyphae extend the plant's rooting zone thereby providing access to P that otherwise would not be reachable. Hyphae have higher affinity for phosphate and lower threshold concentration for absorption, which allows for P uptake under low P concentrations (Bolan, 1991). AM fungi can increase P availability also through solubilization by excretion of organic acids (Tawaraya et al., 2006) as well as through mineralization of organic P by production of phosphatases (Koide & Kabir, 2000).

Understanding the microbial P turnover processes in agricultural ecosystems facilitates the development of sustainable strategies for food production. Although it is well known that microorganisms such as fungi contribute immensely to plant phosphorus uptake and overall nutrition, the focus of this PhD thesis was placed on bacteria for the following reasons. Firstly, at the timepoint of investigation, databases showed biases towards sequences from often studied organisms with emphasis on bacteria (Wooley, Godzik and Friedberg, 2010). Secondly, although fungi can significantly contribute to plant P uptake and overall nutrition, this applies mainly for undisturbed soil. Lower amounts of fungi are found in agricultural soil due to constant disruption of the communities through tillage (Miller & Lodge 1997) as well as the application of fertilizers and fungicides (De Vries et al. 2015). Another problem is that fungal genes contain many intronic sequences which require long reads in order to accurately annotate them (De Vries et al. 2015). Lastly, all investigations presented here were performed on bulk soil, excluding roots and therefor a great part of mycorrhiza.

#### 7. Bacterial P mobilizing processes and underlying molecular mechanisms

The main bacterial P turnover processes encompass solubilization of inorganically bound P, mineralization of organically bound P, as well as immobilization of P in microbial biomass and subsequent release upon cell death. Bacterial genera that have been recognized as P solubilizing bacteria include different strains of *Pseudomonas*, *Bacillus*, *Burkholderia*, *Agrobacterium*,

*Micrococcus, Achromobacter, Aerobacter, Flavobacterium, Rhizobium, Enterobacter, Aeromonas, Klebsiella, Mycobacterium, Acetobacter, Corynebacterium, Gluconacetobacter, Escherichia, Ralstonia, Serratia, and Erwinia* (Kaur and Kaur, 2020). These bacteria can solubilize fixed P<sub>i</sub> by production of organic acids, chelation, and formation of soluble complexes with metal ions, as well as mineralize P<sub>o</sub> by secretion of enzymes like phosphatases, phytases, and C-P lyases (Billah et al., 2019).

Based on Bergkemper et al. (2016b), bacterial genes coding for P transformation processes can be broadly categorized in six functional categories. These include genes for phosphoesterase, phytase, phosphonate degradation, inorganic phosphate solubilization, P transport, and regulation of phosphate starvation. The majority of genes involved in P turnover are located on the PHO regulon (Baek et al., 2006; Santos-Beneit, 2015), and are inducible by P<sub>i</sub> limiting conditions in the environment (Wanner, 1996). P turnover genes that are not regulated by PHO regulon include those encoding for solubilization (*gcd*), nonspecific acid phosphohydrolases (*phoN*), and specific phytases (e.g., *appA*).

# 7.1. Bacterial P-uptake

The preferential source of P for bacteria is its inorganic form (P<sub>i</sub>). Bacteria have two main uptake mechanisms for obtaining P<sub>i</sub> which are the phosphorus specific transporter (PstS) and inorganic phosphorus transporters (PitA and PitB). PstS is a high velocity, high affinity, and highly specific ABC-type P<sub>i</sub> transport system PstSCAB (Amemura et al., 1982; Magota et al., 1984; Nakata et al., 1984; Rees et al., 2009; Willsky & Malamy, 1980; Yuan et al., 2006) which is active under P limiting conditions (Richardson & Simpson, 2011). It transports P<sub>i</sub> and polyphosphates into the cytoplasm and also functions as a sensor of external P<sub>i</sub> concentrations (Gardner et al., 2014; Kimura et al., 2009; Peterson et al., 2005; Shi & Hulett, 1999). Another P<sub>i</sub> transport mechanism is mediated by the phosphorus inorganic transport systems – PitA and PitB (Harris et al., 2001). *PitA* gene is expressed constitutively and uses proton motive force within the periplasmic space of the cell. In contrast, *pitB* is expressed in low-phosphate environments and, although it shares 81% sequence identity with *pitA*, it is repressed or inactivated by the PHO regulon (Harris et al., 2001; Rao & Torhani, 1990). This was also observed on the field scale by Dai et al. (2020) who reported a

general increase in the relative abundance of *pit* gene copies in agricultural soil under long term P fertilization. Furthermore, Tanuwidjaja et al. (2020) found a higher abundance of *pst* gene in different soil mixtures with low P but did not detect gene copies of *pit*.

Due to the possible limitation of P<sub>i</sub> in the soil ecosystem, bacteria possess additional mechanisms to cover their needs. Alternative P sources are present as phosphate esters, phosphonic acids, and other reduced P compounds in soil (Wanner, 1996; White & Metcalf, 2007). Phosphorus esters can be utilized in two ways by bacterial cells. The first form is the release of extracellular phosphatase, mineralizing P and subsequently transporting it into the cell, and the other is transporting the esterized P as a whole and hydrolyzing it in the cytoplasm (Yang et al., 2009).

P esters are broken down and then taken up in form of glycerol-3-phosphate (G3P), glyceryl phosphoryl phosphodiesters by the Ugp (uptake of glycerol phosphate) transport system (Brzoska et al., 1994). Similar to PstSCAB, Ugp is a multicomponent transport system which utilizes ATP as an energy source (Brzoska et al., 1994). It has been reported to specifically transport glycerol-2-phosphate (G2P) and glycerol-3-phosphate (G3P) and is unable to transport P<sub>i</sub> (Stasi et al., 2019). Besides P<sub>i</sub> and esterized P, bacteria can access phosphonate by the phosphonate transporter (Phn). Stasi et al. (2019) have proven that this system is also able to transport phosphite, P-esters, and even P<sub>i</sub>. However, these observations were made in pure culture studies and have not been further investigated in environmental samples.

# 7.2. Solubilization of P by bacteria

Solubilization of P by microorganisms was first reported back in 1948 by Pikovskaya. Since then, our knowledge on P solubilizing microorganisms has increased significantly (Bergkemper, et al., 2016a; Richardson & Simpson, 2011; Rodríguez & Fraga, 1999). Of microorganisms which can exploit minerally bound P, bacteria make up between 1% and 50% and fungi between 0.1% and 0.5% of the total population (Sharma et al., 2013).

The primary mechanism of orthophosphate release is by compounds which can dissolve it. These include organic acids, siderophores, protons, hydroxyl ions, and even CO<sub>2</sub> (Rodríguez & Fraga, 1999; Sharma et al., 2013). Bacteria produce organic acids such as citric, oxalic, malic, and gluconic acids in the periplasm via the direct oxidation pathway (Zhao et al., 2014), and

subsequently excrete these into the extracellular space (Goldstein, 1994a, 1994b; Liang et al., 2020). The acids then release mineral P by chelating phosphate-bound cations (i.e., Mg<sup>2+</sup>, Ca<sup>2+</sup>, Fe<sup>2+</sup>, Al<sup>2+</sup>) through their hydroxyl and carboxyl groups or by reducing the surrounding pH (acidification) and releasing P for plants to take up (Castagno et al., 2011; Kim et al., 1997; Seshachala & Tallapragada, 2012). Of the aforementioned organic acids, mineral P release mediated by gluconic acid production is the most extensively studied mechanism (Goldstein, 1995). The glucose dehydrogenase (GDH) enzyme is encoded by the *qcd* gene and is responsible for the conversion of glucose and other aldose sugars to gluconic acid. However, it requires the cofactor pyrrologuinoline guinone (PQQ) for its full function. Besides the cofactor, solubilization of P is influenced by P and C availability in the given environment. Although PQQ is regarded as essential for the activity of the GDH enzyme, evidence suggests that there is no correlation between the PQQ and GDH levels (Schie et al., 1984; van Kleef & Duine, 1989). Nevertheless, An & Moe (2016) observed that PQQ levels are not random and its transcription follows the C availability. Additionally, they found that qcd expression is not constitutive and is increased under low P levels. High abundance of gcd in sites with low soil P was also observed by Liang et al. (2020) who were searching for novel phosphate solubilizing bacteria in former mining sites undergoing ecological restoration. Interestingly, relative abundance of *qcd* did not decrease when fields received additional P input (Dai et al., 2020). Regarding the taxonomic affiliation of gcd harboring bacteria, only a few culture-free studies in environmental samples have been conducted by the time of writing this thesis. Yang et al. (2012) identified 23 strains of *qcd*-harboring bacteria in soil samples of the Dianchi Lake drainage area in China, which were affiliated to three phyla and 12 genera. The most dominant gcd-harbouring genera were Rhizobium, Ensifer, Shinella, and Sinorhizobium, all belonging to the phylum of Proteobacteria. Bergkemper et al (2016a) obtained six phyla, 17 orders, and 24 families of *qcd*-harboring bacteria from forest soil samples, where most abundant were genes harbored by Rhizobiales, Rhodospirillales, and Burkholderiales.

P solubilization can also be increased through the excretion of H<sup>+</sup> ions which assimilates cations such as NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> therefore solubilizing P. Alternatively, Rodríguez & Fraga (1999) proposed an H<sup>+</sup> excretion to the outer surface in exchange for cation uptake or translocation of H<sup>+</sup> via an ATPase

17

as ways to solubilize mineral P. This assimilation of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> within cells and the release of H<sup>+</sup> solubilizes mineral P without the production of any organic acids (Sharma et al., 2013). Beside solubilization via organic acid and H<sup>+</sup> excretion, microorganisms can solubilize P via the production of inorganic acids (i.e., sulphuric, nitric, and carbonic) and accompanying chelating substances (Alori et al., 2017). However, the effectiveness of this P solubilization mechanism has been reported to be lower than that of organic acids (Jordan, 1997).

#### 7.3. Bacterial P mineralization

Up to 85% of total P in agricultural soil can be found in organic form as inositol phosphate esters, phospholipids, nucleic acids, sugar phosphates, and phosphoric acid derivatives (Tarafdar et al., 2001). Microorganisms can mineralize these recalcitrant organic P sources both intra- and extracellularly (Heath, 2005; Winkler, 1973) and thus survive in environments with very low P availability (Godwin & Cotner, 2015; Wei et al., 2017).

Under alkaline conditions bacteria use alkaline phosphatases (ALPs) for P acquisition. These are common in the environment and are principally assigned to bacteria (Tan et al., 2013) although they have also been reported for archaea and fungi (Ragot et al., 2015). ALPs are grouped into three distinct families, namely PhoA, PhoD, and PhoX (Boulanger & Kantrowitz, 2003; Eder et al., 1996; Hsieh & Wanner, 2010; Kageyama et al., 2011; Monds et al., 2006; Torriani, 1960; Wanner & Chang, 1987; Wu et al., 2007). These have in common that they are located in the periplasm (Luo et al., 2009) but differ in their target substrates (Coleman, 1992; Kageyama et al., 2011; Ragot et al., 2015; Wu et al., 2007; Yang et al., 2009). PhoD is the most abundant ALP in soil and is also present in aquatic environments, thus it is the most extensively investigated ALP (Luo et al., 2017; Ragot et al., 2015; Tan et al., 2013). According to Bergkemper et al. (2016b), dominant bacterial orders harbouring phoD genes include Planctomycetales, Burkholderiales, Rhizobiales, Pseudomonadales, Rhodospirillales, and Actinomycetales. So far, the studies investigating the effect of fertilization on phoD abundance showed contrasting outcomes (Chen et al., 2017; Luo et al., 2017; Tan et al., 2013). Hu et al. (2018) suggested that these inconsistencies might be due to the sensitivity of *phoD* harboring microbes which respond differently depending on the fertilizer and soil type. In a study with long term organic fertilizer application, the quantity and composition of applied fertilizer affected the composition and structure of the *phoD* harboring bacterial community (Hu et al., 2018). Additionally, type of applied fertilizer, i.e., mineral vs. organic, also affects composition of the *phoD* harboring community (Fraser et al., 2015; Luo et al., 2017; Ragot et al., 2016). Regarding the relationship between soil P content and *phoD* abundance, it has been observed that *phoD* increases with decreasing soil P (Wei et al., 2019). Conversely, the application of P fertilizer has led to decrease of *phoD* abundance, suggesting that the expression of *phoD* is starvation induced (Apel et al., 2007).

Under acidic conditions bacteria can hydrolyze phosphate esters utilizing specific and nonspecific acid phosphohydrolases (SAPs and NSAPs) (Vincent et al., 1992), which have their optimum catalytic activity at acidic to neutral pH (Rossolini et al., 1998). Acid phosphohydrolases (ACPs) can be grouped into three distinct families (A, B, and C) based on amino acid sequence similarities (Thaller et al., 1995). NSAPs target a broad spectrum of phosphoesters and release Pi from nucleotides, sugar phosphates, and phytic acid, to name a few. They are either excreted into the periplasm or located in the membrane as lipoproteins (Rodríguez & Fraga, 1999). Interestingly, little was known about the different NSAPs and their distribution in natural and managed environments until Neal et al. (2018) investigated the distribution of the different classes and discovered that it is highly ecosystem dependent. Specifically, whereas class B NSAPs were associated with pathogenic bacteria, class A and C were dispersed more widely. The most widely spread was class C NSAP, which is located on the outer cell membrane, and enables the hydrolyzation of large organic compounds, thus having an important role in soil P cycling (Neal et al., 2018). Specific acid phosphatases (SAPs) are highly substrate specific and have wide biotechnological applications. However, to my knowledge, these have been discovered in single cell cultures and have not been further investigated in an environmental context.

The predominant form of organic phosphorus are phytates, which constitute up to 60% of soil organic phosphorus (Singh & Satyanarayana, 2011). They are present in form of inositol hexakisphosphate (IP6), inositol polyphosphate, or phytate. Though phytate is highly abundant in the organic P moiety, most plants are incapable of accessing it (Richardson & Simpson, 2011). Soil microorganisms actively secrete phytases into soil, facilitating P availability for plants (Balaban et al., 2017; Greiner et al., 1993; Lim et al., 1973; Touati & Danchin, 1987). Phytases are

19

grouped into four classes: i) histidine acid phosphatases (HAPS), ii) beta-propeller phytases, iii) purple acid phosphatases, and vi) protein tyrosine phosphatase like phytases (Mullaney & Ullah, 2003; Puhl et al., 2007). These are all reported to be unique, both structurally and catalytically (Castillo Villamizar et al., 2019). Although phytases have been studied in cultured organisms, environmental phytases still remain largely unexplored. Recently, this problem was addressed by Castillo Villamizar et al. (2019) who used a metagenomics approach and discovered novel phosphatases with phytase activity.

Organophosphate compounds represent the last source of P which bacteria can access. These highly stable sources are exploited by the release of enzymes which specifically target C-P bonds (Bujacz et al., 1995; McGrath et al., 2013; McGrath et al., 1995; Ohtake et al., 1996; Quinn et al., 2007). To date, two enzyme systems are known, namely, C-P lyase and C-P hydrolase (Quinn et al., 2007; White & Metcalf, 2007). While C-P lyases are utilized only to obtain P (Dyhrman et al., 2006; Wanner, 1994), C-P hydrolases allow microbes to acquire C, N, P, and energy from phosphonates (Gilbert, 2009; Kulakova et al., 2009; McGrath et al., 1997; McMullan & Quinn, 1994; O'Loughlin et al., 2006). Research on organophosphate degradation by bacteria is of high importance for biodegradation of pesticides (Dar et al., 2020; Kumar et al., 2016).

# 8. Microbial strategies to maintain their C:N:P stoichiometry

Studies have shown that although the range of C, N, and P in microbial biomass (C<sub>mic</sub>, N<sub>mic</sub>, P<sub>mic</sub>) spans several orders of magnitude, the relationship between these elements is linear and isometric suggesting that soil microorganisms are largely homeostatic in terms of C:N:P stoichiometry (Cleveland & Liptzin, 2007; Hartman & Richardson, 2013; X. Li et al., 2014; Sistla & Schimel, 2012; Xu et al., 2013), i.e., they keep their C:N:P ratios constant under variable resource stoichiometry. Cleveland & Liptzin (2007) analyzed C:N:P ratios of soils and microbial biomass from 187 samples and have found this ratio to be 186:13:1 in soils and 60:7:1 in microbial biomass, whereas Xu et al. (2013) reported averages of 287:17:1 and 42:6:1 in 3422 analyzed samples for soil and microbial biomass, respectively. Nevertheless, there is also evidence for some stoichiometric flexibility of microbial communities (Fanin et al., 2013; Hartman & Richardson, 2013; Li et al., 2012). However, this non-homeostatic behavior appears to be a result of a shift in microbial community structure rather than physiological adaptation of the same

community (Fanin et al., 2013). The resources for soil microorganisms include dead plant biomass, root exudates, and SOM, all of which exhibit much wider and more variable C:N:P ratios than microorganisms (Sistla & Schimel, 2012). This imbalance between resource stoichiometry and microbial nutrient demands leads to microbial regulatory mechanisms for maintaining stoichiometric homeostasis. The regulatory mechanisms include regulation of element use efficiency (defined as "ratio of element invested in growth over total element uptake" by Sterner & Elser, 2002) by releasing elements in excess and optimizing the use of limiting elements, as well as production of extracellular C-, N-, and P acquiring enzymes to mobilize resources to meet their demands (Mooshammer et al., 2014). For example, from C-rich resources, such as leaf and root litter, and woody debris, excess C is released through high respiration, whereas N and P limitation is overcome by high N and P use efficiency and production of N- and P- acquiring enzymes (Zechmeister-Boltenstern et al., 2015). The regulation of extracellular enzymes (EE) production is complex, and it includes constitutive secretion of low levels of EE to detect suitable substrates, induction of EE synthesis in response to increasing availability of complex substrates, and feedback inhibition of EE activity by their products (Burns et al., 2013; Wallenstein & Weintraub, 2008). Aside from being a trigger for regulatory mechanisms of microbes, the quality and nutrient content of the resource shapes microbial community composition on taxonomic and physiological level by promoting microorganisms with certain enzyme capabilities, and metabolic and stoichiometric characteristics. For example, nutrient poor organic matter is dominated by fungi because they have lower P requirements than bacteria (Güsewell & Gessner, 2009). Beside fungi, environments of lower quality are usually favored by Gram-positive bacteria, especially Acidobacteria and Actinobacteria (Strickland et al., 2009), while soils with high SOM content and N availability tend to be dominated by Gram-negative bacteria (Bray et al., 2012; Fierer et al., 2003; Hossain et al., 2010). Resource quality affects also lifestyle of microorganism, differentiating between copiotrophic microorganisms, which are selectively advantaged by high nutrient conditions, use broadly different pools of organic matter, and show high growth rates as they have a high affinity to soluble substrates (Moorhead & Sinsabaugh, 2006), and oligotrophic microorganisms, which are advantaged under low nutrient conditions, utilize more complex C sources, and have slower growth rates (Hättenschwiler et al., 2011; Moorhead &

Sinsabaugh, 2006). Copiotrophs have been reported to exhibit lower biomass C:N:P ratios than oligotrophs (Elser & Hamilton, 2007; Fierer et al., 2007). Although agricultural practices aim at improving crop yields, addition of C and nutrients by fertilization, rhizodeposition, and incorporation of plant residues into the soil also influence soil microbiota. For example, Chen et al. (2014) showed that long-term P application led to a shift towards a more bacterially dominated system, with greater microbial biomass, different community structure, and altered P metabolism. Recent studies investigating the fertilization effect on microbial C:N:P stoichiometry revealed tighter constraints of microbial C:N ratios in response to N additions as compared to C:P ratios in response to P additions (Soong et al., 2018). This was explained by the ability of microorganisms to store P as polyphosphate when excess P is available (Kornberg, 1995; Mooshammer et al., 2014), suggesting that microbial C:P might reflect P availability in soils (Fujita et al., 2019). High N:P ratio of the substrate leads to microbial P limitation, increase in P use efficiency, and production of phosphatases. Thus, understanding the interplay between microbial and soil C:N:P ratios, and how they respond to fertilization, is of utmost importance as they affect biogeochemical fluxes and have implications for C sequestration and nutrient losses from terrestrial ecosystems (Mooshammer et al., 2014).

#### 9. Objectives and Hypotheses of the PhD thesis

Given the non-renewable nature of rock phosphates as a source of P fertilizers on the one hand, and negative ecological implications of inadequate P fertilization on the other, it is necessary to deepen our understanding of the soil P cycle drivers and complement these findings with sustainable fertilization strategies and alternative P fertilizers.

Gaining deeper understanding of soil P transformations mediated by bacteria is of special interest, since these microbes can mobilize recalcitrant forms of P in soil, thereby narrowing the gap between soil legacy P, fertilizer application, and plant-available P.

To address these issues, this thesis aimed at (i) investigating bacterial P mobilization potential to reduce P fertilizer input in agriculture and (ii) investigating the viability of alternative P fertilizers (BC and BC<sup>plus</sup>).

Therefore, the following hypotheses were tested:

- Bacterial community composition will be affected by organic fertilization application, as it has been shown that the changes in microbial biomass C:N:P ratio under changing soil C:N:P are a consequence of bacterial community shifts rather than physiological adaptation of the present community.
- P release from mineral, organic, organo-mineral fertilizer amendments depends on treatment-specific microbial P-turnover. These fertilizers exhibit different P-pools and thus selectively trigger microbial P transformations.
- Organic fertilization will increase bacterial demand on P and consequently stimulate bacterial P mobilization which will be reflected in increased abundance of genes coding for extracellular P-acquiring enzymes.
- Viability of the alternative mineral P fertilizers (BC and BC<sup>plus</sup>) will be reflected in the abundance of bacteria mediating P turnover processes that is comparable to that of conventional mineral fertilizer (TSP).
- 5. The effect of fertilization on bacterial P turnover will vary depending on the initial soil P content and plant growth stage leading to changes in potential activities of P-acquiring extracellular enzymes during the growing season in agricultural soils with very low, low, and optimal P content.

These hypotheses were tested in three field experiments carried out on trial sites in three locations in Germany. The first experiment investigated the effect of organic fertilizer in two long-term field trials located in Freising, Bavaria, and Rostock, Mecklenburg Western-Pommerania (Manuscript 1). The second experiment evaluated the impact of inorganic, organic, and combined inorganic/organic fertilizer on the microbial P transformation on a long-term field experiment under maize (*Zea mays* L.) in Rostock (Manuscript 2). The third field experiment, located in Braunschweig, Lower Saxony, investigated the viability of novel alternative P fertilizers (BC and BC<sup>plus</sup>) using soils from three different initial soil P test classes during the growing season of winter wheat (Manuscript 3).

# **II** Materials and Methods

#### 1. Site descriptions and sampling

All experiments were supported by the German Federal Ministry of Education and research (BMBF), funding the "Innovative Solutions to sustainable Soil Phosphorus management" (InnoSoilPhos) project (No.: 031A558A) in the frame of BONARES (www.bonares.de/innosoilphos-de).

#### 1.1. Experiment I (M1)

Two long-term field trial sites were used in this experiment. The first one is located in southern Germany in Freising/Dürnast, Bavaria (48°24' N, 11°41' E), and was established in 1979. The test site is 470 m above sea level with a mean annual precipitation and temperature of 791 mm and 8.4 °C, respectively. The soil type was classified as Cambisol, the soil texture as silty loam and the pH was 6.35. The test site has a split plot design where two treatments were analyzed in the frame of this study: 1) control, without organic fertilization; 2) organic fertilization with straw and catch crops as green manure (ORG). In control, the residue of cereals was removed after harvest, whereas it remained on the ORG plots (straw and green manure). In ORG, green manure was applied by sowing catch crops (turnip rape, rape, mustard, or phacelia) after the harvest of winter or summer barley and prior to the cultivation of potatoes or summer cereals. The plots used in this study had received 150 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> and no mineral P fertilizer since 1979. Each plot had a size of 32 m<sup>2</sup>. Each treatment was three times replicated. In the long-term crop rotation, potato, winter or summer wheat followed by winter or summer barley were grown. However, winter barley in 2013 was followed by maize in 2014 and 2015. The mineral N fertilizer was applied on May 28, 2015, as calcium ammonium nitrate. The most recent application of green manure occurred in autumn 2010 (phacelia) and that of straw (winter barley) in 2013.

The second experimental site is a long-term field trial site in Rostock, Mecklenburg Western Pomerania, Germany (54°03' N, 12°05' E), which was established in 1998. The test site is 46 m above sea level, characterized by an annual mean precipitation of 600 mm and a temperature of 8.1 °C. The soil texture was classified as loamy sand, and the dominating soil type as Stagnic cambisol with a pH of 6.3. The site has a split plot design with four replicates, where two

24

treatments were analyzed in the frame of this study: 1) control, without organic fertilization; 2) organic fertilization in form of biowaste compost (30 t ha<sup>-1</sup>) (ORG). Biowaste was applied every three years (last application in September 2013) and 120 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> N was applied every year in May (80 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) and June (40 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>). Each treatment had three replicates. Plots selected for this study were cultivated with maize from 2013 – 2015, apart from one sample, where a mix of bean and maize was grown. This sample belonged to the biowaste treatment (Sample M11 in Table S1). Each plot has a size of 30 m<sup>2</sup>.

**Table 1** Displayed are the initial measurements for soil total carbon (TC), total nitrogen (TN), total phosphorus (TP) and pH of long-term field trial sites in Freising and Rostock. Measurements for the long-term field trial in Munich were performed by Dr. Sabine von Tucher, chair of Plant nutrition at the Technical University of Munich School of Life Sciences (WZW-TUM). The measurements of the Rostock experimental site were performed by Dr. Bettina Eichler-Löbermann, Faculty of agricultural and environmental sciences at the University of Rostock (UoR).

	Fr	eising	Rostock		
Treatment	С	ORG	С	ORG	
TOC (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	12.30	11.6	7.15	10.4	
TN (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	1.42	1.36	0.82	1.05	
TP (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	679.4	609.0	544	622	
рН	6.55	6.6	5.97	5.95	

Samples were taken from both sites in April and September 2015 with a soil auger (3 cm diameter) from the upper topsoil (0 to 10 cm soil depth) in three replicates per plot, which were subsequently pooled and homogenized using 5 mm sieve. A total of 24 samples were taken (6 per site, three replicates, two seasons).

# 1.2. Experiment II (M2)

Experiment was conducted in 2015 and 2016 in Rostock, Mecklenburg Western Pomerania, Germany (site and experimental design description as in "Experiment I"). Test years differed in precipitation, with 2016 being dryer than 2015. The crop rotation was dominated by maize. The experiment included control (C – no additional P fertilizer), and three treatments: triple superphosphate (MIN), biowaste compost (ORG), biowaste compost + triple superphosphate

(OMI). Triple superphosphate (TSP) was applied annually at rates of 21.8 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> until 2013, and at rates of 30 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> from 2014. Biowaste compost was applied at rates of 30 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in autumn every third year since 1998 (latest application before the test period in 2013). Since establishment of the test site in 1998 until the beginning of this study in spring 2015, the treatments with mineral and organic fertilizers received approx. 400 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup>, combined treatments with TSP and biowaste compost approx. 800 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> and the control has not received any P since 1998. The initial concentration of double lactate P (P<sub>dl</sub>) was 42.2 mg P kg<sup>-1</sup>. Maize was fertilized annually with 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> as calcium ammonium nitrate and 125 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> potassium during the whole duration of the field experiment. Within the period of investigation, the fertilizers were applied after the spring sampling. Soil management included annual tillage up to a depth of 20 cm after the autumn sampling.

Samples were taken in spring before sowing and in autumn before harvesting in 2015 and 2016, respectively, with a soil auger (3 cm diameter) from the upper topsoil (0 to 10 cm soil depth) in three of the four replicate plots for each fertilization treatment. Samples were pooled and subsamples were stored at 4 °C for microbial analyses and dried at 60°C for chemical analyses.

## 1.3. Experiment III (M3)

The study was performed at a field trial in the north-west of Braunschweig in Lower Saxony, Germany (52°18'N 10°27'E). The test site is situated 81 m above sea level with a mean annual precipitation of 620 mm and a mean temperature of 9 °C. The dominating soil types are Dystric Cambisol and Orthic Luvisol (according to IUSS Working Group WRB, 2015), which developed in silty-loamy sand with an average pH of 5.2. On this site, a long-term P field experiment was carried out between 1985 and 2008 (Vogeler et al., 2009). Briefly, five different mineral P fertilization regimes were applied including T1 – no P fertilization, T2 – 21.8 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> once a year (spring), T3 – 21.8 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> twice a year (spring and autumn), T4 – addition of P uptake of previous crop, and T5 – 1.5-times addition of P taken-up by the previous crop. In 1998, the experiment was split in two blocks to compare conventional and conservational tillage regimes for all treatments. The fertilization treatments included (1) no P fertilization, (2) organic P fertilization (T2, farmyard manure) and (3) a mixture of mineral fertilizer (T3, 45 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup>) and

farmyard manure. Because of this previous experiment, significant differences in concentrations of plant available P were present in the plots. According to the guidelines of the Association of German Agricultural Analytic and Research Institutes (VDLUFA), the plots were assigned to different classes of available P in soil, namely initial soil test class A (very low, < 15 mg  $P_{CAL}$  kg<sup>-1</sup>), B (low, 15 – 30 mg  $P_{CAL}$  kg<sup>-1</sup>), and C (optimal, 31 – 60 mg  $P_{CAL}$  kg<sup>-1</sup>).

The experiment was set up as a randomized complete block design with three replicates and a plot size of 5.75 \* 17.5 m. The crop rotation included winter barley, winter oilseed rape, winter wheat, lupine, and winter rye. In addition to control without P fertilization, three distinct types of P fertilizer have been applied to an equivalent of 45 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> P once a year shortly before sowing since fall 2013, namely, bone char (BC), surface-modified bone char (BC<sup>plus</sup>) with sulfur compounds from biogas streams (patent DE102011010525), and triple super phosphate (TSP). The proportion of P of the different fertilizer was 14.81% for BC, 10.72% for BC<sup>plus</sup> and 20.04% for TSP. Next to P, BC and BC<sup>plus</sup> contained considerable amounts of Zn and Ca, but were depleted in As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Ni, and U compared to TSP. The detailed elemental composition of the fertilizers was described previously (Panten & Leinweber et al. 2020, Zimmer et al. 2019). A detailed description of the experiment including all agronomic measures, and the P uptake by crops, crop yield, and the fertilizer efficiencies are published by Panten & Leinweber (2020).

This study investigated the third year of the newly established trial during the vegetation period in 2015/2016. In 2015 winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L., variety ASANO) was sown after ploughing to a depth of 25 cm. Fertilization with N (130 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>), K (100 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>), Mg (11 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>), and S (12 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>), as well as plant protection were uniform in all treatments. The trial was irrigated once with 30 l m<sup>-2</sup> on May 10<sup>th</sup>, 2016 and harvested on July 28<sup>th</sup>, 2016. Crop yields ranged from 5.7 (control) to 6.0 t dry matter (DM) ha<sup>-1</sup> (TSP) in the plots with optimal P concentrations, from 5.38 (BC) to 6.02 DM ha<sup>-1</sup> (BC<sup>plus</sup>) in plots with low P concentrations and from 5.41 (control) to 5.87 DM ha<sup>-1</sup> (TSP) in the plots with very low P concentrations (Panten & Leinweber et al. 2020).

Bulk soil samples were collected three times during the vegetation period in 2016 (April/BBCH 33/34 – stem elongation, May/BBCH 53 – heading, June/BBCH 73-75 – ripening). In the following, the terms stem elongation, heading, and ripening were used to improve readability of the

27

manuscript. Per plot, three cores (up to 10 cm soil depth) were collected, pooled, and subsequently homogenized using a 5 mm sieve. In total, 108 samples were taken (three samplings, three soil P classes (A, B, C), four treatments, and three replicates). The samples for the determination of potential acidic and alkaline phosphatase activities were stored at 4 °C and analyzed within one week. The samples for nucleic acid extraction were collected and immediately frozen on the field using dry ice. Samples for pH, water soluble P ( $P_{water}$ ) and plant available P ( $P_{CAL}$ ) analysis were air-dried and sieved < 2 mm.

**Table 2** Displayed are the means of soil parameters in the top 30 cm of three different initial soil P test classes after harvest in 2013. Measurements were performed by Dr. Kerstin Panten from the Institute for Crop production and Soil Science, Julius Kühn-Institut (JKI) in Braunschweig, Germany. These measurements were conducted before the set-up of the present experiment.

Soil parameter	Soil A	Soil B	Soil C
P <sub>water</sub> [mg kg <sup>-1</sup> ]	2.8 (2.0-3.9)	4.4 (3.5-5.5)	9.4 (8.0-10.5)
P <sub>CAL</sub> [mg kg <sup>-1</sup> ]	11.2 (6.9-17.8)	20.7 (16.5-25.1)	47.2 (41.4-53.0)
Total P [mg kg <sup>-1</sup> ]	217 (204-241)	273 (230-324)	399 (378-424)
Total C [%]	1.3 (1.2-1.4)	1.4 (1.3-1.5)	1.4 (1.4-1.4)
Total N [%]	0.10 (0.09-0.10)	0.10 (0.10-0.11)	0.10 (0.10-0.11)
рН	5.1 ± 0.1	5.2 (5.0-5.2)	5.2 (5.1-5.3)

#### 2. Soil abiotic properties

Measurements of dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) and dissolved organic carbon (DOC) concentrations were determined after extraction in 0.01 M CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution (4 g soil in 20 ml CaCl<sub>2</sub>) using a photometric autoanalyzer (CFA-SAN Plus; Skalar Analytik, Germany). DOC and DON concentrations were measured with a DIMA-TOC 100 (Dima Tec, Langenhagen, Germany). Further soil abiotic properties (pH, TC, TN, C<sub>org</sub>, TP, and P<sub>dl</sub>) of Manuscripts I and II were measured by the research group of Dr. Baum from the Faculty of agricultural and environmental sciences at the University of Rostock. Measurements of soil abiotic properties (pH, P<sub>cal</sub>, P<sub>Water</sub>) for Manuscript III were performed by the research group of Dr. Panten of the Institute for Crop production and Soil Science, Julius Kühn-Institut (JKI) in Braunschweig, Germany.

#### 3. Microbial biomass C, N, and P and soil enzyme activities

For the assessment of  $C_{mic}$  and  $N_{mic}$ , the chloroform-fumigation-extraction method (Vance et al., 1987) with 0.01 M CaCl<sub>2</sub> for extraction was used. Correction factors were  $K_{EC}$ =0.45 for  $C_{mic}$  and  $K_{EN}$ =0.54 for  $N_{mic}$  according to Joergensen (1996) and Joergensen & Mueller (1996), respectively. Measurements of microbial P ( $P_{mic}$ ), potential enzymatic activities for acid and alkaline phosphomonoesterases (ACP and ALP), as well as phosphodiesterases (PDE) and ß-glucosidase (GLA) were performed by the research group of Dr. Baum for M1 and M2. ACP and ALP activities in Experiment III were measured by the research group of Dr. Panten Institute for Crop production and Soil Science, Julius Kühn-Institut (JKI) in Braunschweig, using the same protocol.

# 4. Nucleic acid extraction

DNA was directly extracted from 0.5 g of frozen soil (-80°C) using Precellys 24 (Bertin Technologies, France) and phenol-chloroform based protocol modified according to Lueders et al. (2004) and Töwe et al. (2011). Total genomic DNA quality was determined photometrically (Nanodrop ND-1000; Thermo Fischer Scientific, USA) and the quantity of the DNA was assessed using the QuantiT PicoGreen kit (Life Technologies, USA). The obtained DNA concentrations were used to calculate microbial biomass in the extracted samples. Extracted samples were stored at -20°C before further processing for whole shotgun sequencing and qPCR analysis.
#### 5. Quantitative polymerase chain reaction measurements (qPCR)

Real-time quantitative PCR was performed on a 7300 Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Germany) using SyBr Green as fluorescent dye to quantify maker genes for different processes of P turnover including qcd, phoD, phoN, phnX, appA, pstS, and pitA. The reaction mix contained 12.5 µl of SYBR Green<sup>®</sup> (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA), forward (F) and reverse (R) primers (Metabion, Germany), 0.5 μl BSA (3%, Sigma, Germany) and DEPC-treated water and was set to 25 µl. The source of the standard, primer sequences and reaction mixture components are summarized in Table 2 (Bergkemper, et al., 2016b). The thermal profile consisted of a touchdown of 5 cycles starting with a denaturation at 95 °C for 15 sec followed by primer annealing at 65 °C for 30 sec and finished by elongation at 72 °C for 45 sec. After the touchdown with a reduction of the annealing temperature of 1 °C per qPCR cycle, 40 qPCR cycles followed with an annealing temperature of 60 °C. Serial plasmid dilutions (10<sup>1</sup>–10<sup>7</sup> gene copies per μl) were used for standard curve calculations. In a pre-experiment, performed to avoid reaction inhibition effects, the optimal sample dilution was determined as 1:16 (data not shown). Additionally, a melting curve analysis was performed by adding a dissociation stage after each run, to prove the specificity of the amplified qPCR products. To confirm the correct size of the amplified fragments further, gel electrophoresis for randomly selected samples was conducted on a 1% agarose gel. Efficiencies  $(E = 10^{(-1/slope)}-1)$  obtained were as follows: 81,9% for *phoD*, 73,5% for *pstS*, 89,3% for *pitA*, 90,3% *phnX*, and 85,0% for *gcd*, respectively.  $R^2$  was determined to be above 0.99 for each qPCR assay. The abundance of *appA* and *phoN* was below detection limit in all samples (less than 10 copies per µl).

#### 6. Library preparation for whole shotgun sequencing

Prior to library preparation 1 µg of DNA was shared on a COVARIS<sup>®</sup> E220 (Covaris<sup>®</sup>) according to the protocol provided by the manufacturer (Conditions: Peak incident Factor: 175 W; Duty Factor: 5%; Cycles per burst: 200; Treatment time: 35 sec; Temperature: 7 °C; Water level: 6; Intensifier: Yes). 100-200 ng of the shared DNA were used for the library preparation with NEBNext<sup>®</sup> Ultra<sup>™</sup> DNA Library Prep Kit (New England Biolabs<sup>®</sup> Inc.). All steps were carried out according to the NEBNext<sup>®</sup> Ultra<sup>™</sup> manual (New England Biolabs<sup>®</sup> Inc.). As described in the manual, the adapters for the ligation were diluted 1:10 to prevent the occurrence of primer dimers. Size selection of fragments was performed with Agencourt<sup>®</sup> AMPure<sup>®</sup> XP (Beckman Coulter, USA) to obtain a total library size of 500-600 bp. After the PCR, an additional cleaning up step with a bead to DNA ratio of 0.6:1 was necessary to eliminate residual primer dimers. Libraries were pooled equimolar (4nM). 10 pM of the mixture was spiked with 30 % PhiX, used as a quality and calibration control (Mukherjee et al., 2015). Sequencing was performed on an Illumina<sup>®</sup> Miseq<sup>®</sup> (Illumina<sup>®</sup>) sequencing machine using the MiSeq<sup>®</sup> Reagent Kit v3 (600 cycles) (Illumina<sup>®</sup>) for paired end sequencing. The raw sequencing data is available at the sequencing read archive (SRA) under the BioProject ID PRJNA385596 (SAMN06894543- SAMN06894566).

#### 7. Sequence processing and taxonomic and functional annotation

MiSeq fastq files were processed by removing the remnant adaptor sequences and subsequently trimming the reads via AdapterRemoval (Schubert et al., 2016) by applying the following settings: 5'/3'- terminal minimum Phred quality = 15, minimum read length = 50. Furthermore, PhiX contamination was used as a quality and calibration control during the sequencing run (Mukherjee et al., 2015). PhiX was removed using DeconSeq (Schmieder & Edwards, 2011).

For taxonomic and functional annotation, the sequences were blasted against the NCBI-nr database (ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/blast/db/FASTA/nr.gz) and the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) database (June 2011) (Kanehisa et al., 2016) using DIAMOND (0.5.2.32) on sensitive settings (Buchfink et al., 2014). Taxonomic and functional assignment was performed using MEGAN5 v 5.10.6 (Huson et al., 2011). This was based on the top 25 blast results (i.e., hits with the lowest e- value). Following parameters were applied during MEGAN analysis: MinScore=50.0, MaxExpected=0.01, TopPercent=10.0, MinSupport=1, MinComplexity=0. Hits with organism names containing words "environmental samples", "unclassified", and "unidentified" were excluded from further analysis. This was done to avoid confusion during visualization (Mizuno et al., 2001; Q. Zhu et al., 2014).

#### 8. Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses and visualization of all experiments were performed using Rstudio (https://www.r-project.org; versions 3.6.1 and 4.0-2).

For Experiment I, statistical analysis and visualization were based upon the relative abundance of reads. Relative abundances were obtained by dividing the number of reads by the total number of filtered reads per sample and multiplication by 100. Using two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), the effects of season, fertilizer, and interaction of both, on taxonomic as well as the functional profiles of the samples were detected. Pairwise differences were identified using the Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) method. Prior to testing for differences, normality of the data was ascertained with Q-Q plots and Shapiro-Wilk tests. Differences were considered significant when the p-value was below 5% (p < 0.05). Only taxa with a relative abundance of 0.01% and above in one of the samples were included in the statistical analysis of taxonomic profiles. This cut-off was not applied to functional data due to the low number of attained reads. To assess the level of dissimilarity between the samples, non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) ordination plots were created. These are based on the Bray-Curtis distance metrics, which uses the metaMDS function in the R vegan package (Oksanen et al., 2015). All R packages used for this study can be found in Table S6. Visualization of VENN diagrams was performed using InteractiVENN (Heberle et al., 2015). To create these diagrams a family was regarded as present if it occurred in at least two out of three samples.

For Experiment II, R packages hmisc (https://www.r-project.org; version 4.0-2) and agricolae (https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/agricolae/ index.html; version 1.2-4) were used. Soil properties, parameters of microbial activity, and mycorrhizal colonization were analyzed using the Kruskal test. Significance was considered at p < 0.05 and significant differences between treatments were indicated by using different letters. The treatment specific changes in the activities of hydrolytic enzymes were tested with principal component analysis (PCA) using the software package PAST (Hammer et al., 2001).

For Experiment III, the crossbar plots were created using ggplot2 package (Wickham, 2016). Linear models on log-transformed data and ANOVA were applied to evaluate variances caused by sampling time point, initial soil P class, and treatment on the total sample set. Further, samples were separated by sampling time point to detect different reactions caused by initial soil P concentration or treatment. Residual vs. fitted plots and sample quantiles vs. theoretical quantiles plots based on the model were tested for normal distribution and homogenous

32

variance to verify the models. As conditions were not met, data was log transformed. To test for significant differences (p < 0.05) between the investigated factors, pairwise comparisons were conducted by a Tukey Post hoc test (R package Ismeans) (Lenth, 2017). To visualize how gene abundances differ between control and fertilized plots, average gene abundances were calculated for each treatment (control, TSP, BC and BC<sup>plus</sup>) and subsequently normalized to the control. In case the values of treatments were higher than control values, this was calculated as r = treatment/control, else as r = - control/treatments. r > 1 indicate higher abundances in the fertilization treatment, while r < -1 indicate higher values in the control treatment.

# **III Manuscript overview**

#### List of manuscripts

Grafe M, Goers M, von Tucher S, Baum C, Zimmer D, Leinweber P, Vestergaard G, Kublik S, Schloter M, Schulz S (2018) Bacterial potentials for uptake, solubilization and mineralization of extracellular phosphorus in agricultural soils are highly stable under different fertilization regimes. Environ Microbiol Rep 10:320–327. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/1758-2229.12651

(M1, first author, published)

- Peine M, Vitow N, Grafe M, Baum C, Zicker T, Eichler-Löbermann B, Schulz S, Schloter M, Leinweber P (2019) Effect of triple superphosphate and biowaste compost on mycorrhizal colonization and enzymatic P mobilization under maize in a long-term field experiment, J Plant Nutr Soil Sci, 182 167. DOI: 10.1002/jpln.201800499 (M2, coauthor, published)
- Grafe M, Kurth JK, Panten K, Durai Raj A, Baum C, Zimmer D, Leinweber P, Schloter M, Schulz S (2021) Effects of different innovative bone char based P fertilizers on microbiota catalyzing P turnover in agricultural soils. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 314, 107419. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2021.107419
   (M3, first author, published)

Manuscript description and contributions

# Manuscript I

# Bacterial potentials for uptake, solubilization and mineralization of extracellular phosphorus in agricultural soils are highly stable under different fertilization regimes

Martin Grafe, Manuela Goers, Sabine v. Tucher, Christel Baum, Dana Zimmer, Peter Leinweber, Gisle Vestergaard, Susanne Kublik, Michael Schloter, Stefanie Schulz

### Brief description:

Bacteria play a crucial role in soil P turnover, affecting agricultural productivity. Since the application of fertilizers changes C:N:P ratios of soil, it is important to understand its effects on microbial C:N:P stoichiometry, P turnover processes, and community structure. These questions were addressed in two long-term field trials located in Freising, Bavaria, and Rostock, Mecklenburg Western-Pommerania using a metagenomic approach. The results showed highly stable microbial C:N:P ratios, that were not affected by fertilization, season, or location. Neither season nor the fertilization treatment had a significant effect on the relative abundance of the analyzed P turnover genes, with genes encoding for a glucose dehydrogenase (*gcd*) being the most abundant, followed by genes encoding for the uptake of inorganic P (*pst* and *pit*) and genes encoding for phosphatases (*phoA*, *phoD*, and olpA). However, a fertilization treatment had a significant effect on community structure of bacteria harboring P turnover genes, suggesting that fertilization could change P turnover efficiency by favoring different families.

# My contributions:

- performed sample preparation and metagenome sequencing
- conducted subsequent analyses and interpretation of metagenomic data
- contributed to bacterial biomass C, N, and P measurements
- wrote the manuscript

Environ Microbiol Rep 10:320–327

## Manuscript II

# Effect of triple superphosphate and biowaste compost on mycorrhizal colonization and enzymatic P mobilization under maize in a long-term field experiment

Manuela Peine, Nora Vitow, Martin Grafe, Christel Baum, Theresa Zicker, Bettina Eichler-Löbermann, Stefanie Schulz, Michael Schloter, Peter Leinweber

### Brief description:

This experiment aimed at finding the favorable fertilization strategies by evaluating the impact of inorganic, organic and combined inorganic / organic fertilization on the microbial P transformation, mycorrhizal colonization, and the supply of crops on a long-term field experiment under maize (*Zea mays* L.) in Rostock.

The objective was to test whether the different P-pools and C:N:P ratios of applied fertilizers selectively trigger microbial P transformation, deciding whether microbial biomass acts as a P sink or source. The results showed no effect of fertilization treatments on crop yield. However, the soil enzyme activities involved in P turnover showed clear splitting between treatments without (C, MIN) and with organic amendments, where organic fertilizer resulted in significantly increased potential activities.

# My contributions:

- contributed to measurement of microbial biomass C and N
- contributed to data analysis and interpretation
- edited first manuscript draft provided by the first author

Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science, 182 (2019) 167.

# Manuscript III

# Effects of different innovative bone char based P fertilizers on microbiota catalyzing P turnover in agricultural soils

Martin Grafe<sup>,</sup> Julia Katharina Kurth, Kerstin Panten, Abilash Durai Raj, Christel Baum, Dana Zimmer, Peter Leinweber, Michael Schloter, Stefanie Schulz

# Brief description:

The finite nature of natural P sources stresses the importance of improved P recycling. This study evaluated the effect of bone char (BC) and bone char plus (BC<sup>plus</sup>) as recycling products and alternative to conventional P fertilizers, such as triple super phosphate (TSP), on the abundance of microorganisms catalyzing the major steps in P turnover in a field experiment in Central Germany. Samples were analyzed from soils with three different initial soil P concentrations (very low, low, optimal) and three times during winter wheat cultivation (stem elongation, heading, ripening). The gene abundances, assessed by qPCR, were complemented by acidic- and alkaline phosphatase activity, water extractable P, and plant available P measurements. Results showed that fertilization effects were strongly interrelated with plant growth stage and initial soil P concentrations and effects were most pronounced at heading of wheat and in soils with optimal initial P concentration. The addition of BC<sup>plus</sup> increased the solubilization potential, while the slow release of P from BC favored P recycling from biomass and P inducible uptake systems.

# My Contributions:

- Performed sampling and DNA extraction
- performed qPCR measurements
- performed data analysis and interpretation
- wrote the manuscript

# Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, Volume 314, 2021

# **IV Discussion**

The present study was part of the collaborative InnoSoilPhos project (Innovative solutions to sustainable Soil Phosphorus management) and was funded by BonaRes ("Soil as a sustainable resource for the bioeconomy") funding initiative of the German Federal Ministry for Education and Research (BMBF) with focus on the sustainable use of soils as a limited resource. The main aim of the InnoSoilPhos project is the optimization of the soil-P-fertility to lower the dependency on phosphate rock-derived P-fertilizers.

The central focus of this PhD thesis was the microbial contribution to the soil P turnover and its response to different fertilization treatments as well as the response to the application of alternative P fertilizers.

# **1.** Bacterial community composition and P turnover potential is affected by organic amendment

The first hypothesis of this thesis postulated that organic fertilization will lead to changes in microbial community composition, as it has been shown that the changes in microbial biomass C:N:P ratio under changing soil C:N:P are a consequence of bacterial community shifts rather than physiological adaptation of the present community. To test this hypothesis, first the effect of organic amendment on C:N:P ratio of soil microorganisms was obtained, and then the structure of bacterial P turnover community in agricultural soil was addressed using a metagenomic approach in two long-term field trials located in Freising, Bavaria, and Rostock, Mecklenburg Western-Pommerania (M1).

# 1.1. Microbial C:N:P ratios reflected the soil nutrient stochiometry

As microorganisms take up required nutrients from their environment, carbon-to-nutrient ratios (C:N and C:P) of the resource determines whether nutrients are immobilized in the microbial biomass or mineralized to become available for uptake (Griffiths et al., 2012). The microbial C:N:P ratio has been subject to numerous studies with results suggesting a highly constrained relationship between these elemental ratios (Cleveland & Liptzin, 2007; Hartman & Richardson,

2013). However, there is also evidence of stoichiometric flexibility of microbial communities (Fanin et al., 2013; Hartman & Richardson, 2013; Li et al., 2012).

The results obtained in M1 showed highly stable ratios that were not affected by fertilization treatment. Interestingly, the observed C<sub>mic</sub>:N<sub>mic</sub>:P<sub>mic</sub> ratios of 25:1.2: 1 in Freising and 36:1.2:1 in Rostock deviated from the 60:7:1 reported by Cleveland & Liptzin (2007) and 42:6:1 reported by Xu et al (2013). However, Xu et al (2013) also stated that microbial C:N:P ratios differed at ecosystem and biome level, following a linear correlation with soil C:N:P ratios. They observed that cropland has a narrow microbial C:N:P, ascribing it to low C density and N and P input. This is in line with the observation made in M1, where ratios of C<sub>mic</sub>:N<sub>mic</sub>:P<sub>mic</sub> reflected the total C:N:P ratios of soils which was 20:2:1.

# **1.2** Distribution of genes coding for enzymes catalyzing different steps in P turnover among bacterial families

Metagenomic analysis identified 295 bacterial families in total. The most abundant families were *Acidobacteriaceae, Bradyrhizobiaceae, Verrucomicrobia* subd. 3, *Planctomycetaceae,* and *Chitinophagaceae,* all of which are known to be widely spread throughout terrestrial ecosystems (Rosenberg et al., 2014). None of the families covered all P turnover processes and therefore did not invest the same amount of energy in P turnover. This analysis was done by pooling the genes of all samples based on their function into regulation (3 genes), mineralization (23 genes), solubilization (1 gene) as well as organic and inorganic P uptake (7 genes) (M1).

Some of the identified families appeared to be more universal in the variety of genes which could be used in P turnover. In contrast, few families were detected which appeared to only have the ability for P uptake, without P solubilization and mineralization potential. Amongst those with a wider range were *Verrucomicrobiaceae* subdivision 3, *Sphingomonadaceae*, *Anaerolinaceae*, *Planctomycetaceae*, *Chitinophagaceae*, *Acidobacteriaceae*, and *Bradyrhizobiaceae*. This finding is especially surprising when considering that most of these families are known to be oligotrophic. Because the investigated soil is used for agriculture, and consequently is nutrient rich, one would expect to find mainly copiotrophic bacteria (Fierer et al., 2007). This finding highlights the hierarchical structure of soils, which is linked to the formation of niches with varying conditions (Kaminsky et al., 2017; Oades et al., 1991). What made this discovery even more interesting is the association of some families, e.g., *Bradyrhizobiaceae* and *Nitrospiraceae*, with N turnover. The capability of fixing N and the effective use of both organic and inorganic P compounds has also been documented for other organisms like Azotobacter (Nosrati et al., 2014; Zaidi et al., 2009).

The more specialized families can be split in those which are only involved in organic and inorganic P uptake and those that seem to act as suppliers. The prior pursued a rather copiotrophic lifestyle. This observation fits nicely especially because the fast-growing copiotrophs prefer to use easily available nutrients instead of investing energy into P solubilization or mineralization. These include Rhodocyclaceae, Chlorobiaceae, Geobacteraceae, Flavobacteriaceae and Opitutaceae (Uksa et al., 2015). Belonging to the supplier group were families such as Verrucomicrobiaceae and Solibacteraceae, which exhibited preferences either for mineralization or solubilization of P but in which, intriguingly, the P uptake genes were not detected (M1). This could suggest that P is being released as a by-product of the bacterial C metabolism (Heuck et al., 2015). However, it is also possible that P uptake genes were present only in very few taxa and the relative abundance of these was too low to be detected in the analyzed metagenomes. Alternatively, a possible explanation is the existence of other uncharacterized uptake mechanisms. This would make a detection difficult by the applied approach. This is especially the case when considering that a slightly divergent organic phosphate transporter can appear as a sulphate transporter, or even as a carboxylate transporter, depending on the organic moiety involved.

#### 1.3. Effect of organic fertilization on bacterial community structure

Of the 295 total identified families, 258 harbored genes encoding for proteins involved in extracellular P turnover. Of these, 85 families comprised a core microbiome (as defined by Shade & Handelsman (2012)), which was present at both sites, independent of season (spring, before sowing, and autumn, before harvest of maize) and treatments (organic fertilizer vs. control). The observed similarity of the communities between both sites corroborates previous reports that total bacterial community structure is primarily shaped by ecosystem type rather than location (Cao et al., 2016; Fierer & Jackson, 2006) and is further backed by Allison & Martiny, (2008) who argue that important ecosystem functions are preserved even if changes in microbial community structure occur. Fierer (2017) also postulated that the major determining factor for the community structure is pH, which was similar at both sites.

Total community structure was not significantly affected by organic fertilizer amendment (M1). The insensitivity of microbial community composition to fertilization has been reported by Beauregard et al. (2010) who found limited alterations of bacterial communities in response to 8 years of P fertilization in perennial forage stands. The group of Li et al. (2020) also reported that P fertilization had an insignificant influence on the overall structure of soil microbial communities and concluded that N fertilization is a main driver of soil microbial diversity, community structure, and function in a wheat producing agroecosystem. This could also be an explanation for the similarity of the total community structure in the tested soils, since all plots were amended with comparable amounts of mineral N.

However, the hypothesis that organic fertilization influences microbial community composition by changing soil C:N:P stoichiometry was corroborated by the analysis of the bacterial community involved in P turnover, which showed that its composition was influenced by fertilization, and the effect of season was strongly connected to fertilization effect. It has been shown that in agricultural soil, the addition of C-rich organic fertilizers results in strong coupling of C and P cycles (Bünemann et al., 2006), where increased availability of P in low-P soils leads to increased rates of C-mineralization (Wakelin et al., 2014). Increased bioavailability of C drives ecosystem processes and affects sequestration and supply of soil P. Consequentially, this leads to change in soil P species (Bradford et al., 2008; Gressel et al., 1996; Kirkby et al., 2013; Spohn & Kuzyakov, 2013), and thus, influences microbial P turnover, which could explain the change in the P-cycling community structure under long-term organic amendment. Moreover, Mander et al. (2012) showed that C:P ratio is a strong driver of microbial community composition, as it directly affects the abundance and taxonomic composition of P solubilizing bacteria.

Yet, metagenomics only provides information on microbial potential, and not their actual activity (Prosser, 2015). The fact that genes necessary for P turnover were harbored by different families gives rise to the possibility that these could perform the same function with different efficiencies. Indeed, it has been shown by Ragot et al. (2016) that for some taxa there are significant differences between the presence and expression of genes involved in P turnover. Therefore, the observed influence of fertilizer on the gene distribution pattern in different bacterial families could cause substantial changes in activity pattern. This hypothesis could be strengthened by the high abundance of regulatory genes that could influence the efficiency of P turnover.

#### 2. The effect of different fertilizers on the abundance of bacterial P turnover genes

The second hypothesis of this thesis postulated that fertilization treatments – i.e., mineral, organic, organo-mineral – constitute different P sources, thus, their application will selectively trigger microbial P transformation processes.

Although the amount of total P in soil is often large and usually ranges from 100 to 2000 mg P kg<sup>-1</sup> representing approximately 350 to 7000 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> in the surface 25 cm of the soil, due to the high reactivity of P, only a small fraction is available for plant uptake (Syers et al., 2008). Additionally, P is the most immobile macronutrient in soil. Altogether this led to P fertilization being a common agricultural practice to sustain optimal plant growth and high yields. Nevertheless, accumulated soil P, both in organic and inorganic forms, can be accessed by soil microorganisms.

### 2.1. Bacterial P solubilization

Microorganisms can solubilize inorganically bound P by producing organic acids, through release of protons which release P by decreasing soil pH, chelating cations (Al<sup>3+</sup>, Fe<sup>3+</sup>, Ca<sup>2+</sup>), and competition for adsorption sites (Khan et al., 2014; Uroz et al., 2009). The most important and main organic acids in microbial P solubilization is gluconic acid (GA). GA is produced by oxidation

of glucose in a reaction catalyzed by the enzyme glucose dehydrogenase with pyrroloquinoline quinon (PQQ) as cofactor. The gene coding for this enzyme is quinoprotein glucose dehydrogenase (gcd) (Cleton-Jansen et al., 1988). gcd was the most abundant gene both in dataset from Freising and Rostock (M1), as well as in dataset obtained by qPCR from Braunschweig (M3). This is in accordance with Bergkemper et al. (2016a) who proposed that solubilization is the main driver of microbial P turnover in soils rich in mineral P, which is true for most agricultural soils (Stutter et al., 2015). The studies have yielded contradicting results regarding the influence of fertilization on the abundance of *qcd*. Zeng et al. (2016) reported that gcd was suppressed by elevated levels of soluble phosphate. However, this study investigated the effect of soluble phosphate concentration on *qcd* expression in laboratory settings and only included one PSB strain (Pseudomonas frederiksbergensis JW-SD2). In a controlled pot experiment containing soil amended with three different levels of P fertilizer, Li et al. (2020) observed increased abundance of *qcd* with increasing P treatment. They suggested that rare taxa have the potential to release inorganically bound P when the supply is sufficient, which might allow them to be more competitive against dominant taxa. The experiments conducted in the scope of this PhD thesis showed that neither organic fertilization with compost in Rostock and Freising (M1) nor application of mineral P fertilizers (TSP, alternative fertilizers in form of bonechar and sulfur-enriched bonechar) in Braunschweig (M3) influenced gcd abundance. This is in line with Dai et al. (2020) who found no effect of long-term P fertilization on total relative abundance of genes involved in  $P_i$  solubilization. Thus, it can be assumed that stable *qcd* abundances reflect changes in the community structure of PSB, which was corroborated by the results of metagenomic analysis in M1, where addition of organic fertilizer had an effect on community structure of microorganisms harbouring P turnover genes.

#### 2.2. Bacterial P mineralization

Microorganisms mineralize P by excreting extracellular enzymes which release P bound in organic compounds. The main enzymes involved in P<sub>o</sub> transformations can be grouped into three categories depending on their substrate: (i) phosphatases, which hydrolyze ester-phosphate bonds form inositol phosphates, nucleotides, phosphoproteins, and sugar phosphates

(Nannipieri et al., 2011a; Turner et al., 2004); ii) Phytases, which degrade soil organic myo-Inositol1,2,3,4,5,6-hexakisphosphates (IP6) (Jorquera et al., 2008), and (iii) Phosphonatases and C-P lyases mineralize organophosphonates – organophosphorus compounds that contain at least one stable carbon to phosphorus bond and are mainly found in prokaryotes, mostly in peptide, glycan, or lipid conjugates (Hilderbrand, 2018).

The genes coding for mineralization enzymes were less abundant than solubilization genes in metagenomic dataset (M1) and their abundance was not affected by organic fertilization. The most abundant ones were the alkaline phosphatase genes (ALP) *phoA*, *phoD*, and a class C acid phosphatase *olpA*, while the abundances of genes coding for enzymes that specifically target substrates, such as phosphonate or phytate, were low. Lower abundance of mineralization genes compared to solubilization could be explained by the fact that, even with organic fertilization, the prevailing form of P in agricultural soils is P<sub>i</sub> (Stutter et al., 2015).

In M3, the bacterial mineralization potential was investigated using qPCR to measure gene abundances: NSAP class A (*phoN*) (Rossolini et al., 1998) and the ALP (*phoD*) (Eder et al., 1996) for phosphatases; *appA* for phytase (Lim et al., 2000), and *phnX* for phosphonatase (Hsieh & Wanner, 2010). The primers were developed by Bergkemper et al. (2016b) who proposed that there is a need to investigate the complete set of enzymes (genes) involved in processes of microbial P mineralization, solubilization, and uptake to better understand the P turnover in soil. They used metagenomic datasets as a starting point for targeted primer development.

In all samples, *phoN* and *appA* were below detection limit. The low abundance of *appA* does not necessarily imply a low abundance of phytases, since this gene codes for histidine-acid phosphatase (HAP; 6-phytase) (Lim et al., 2000), which represents only one class of phytases, next to beta propeller phytases (BPP) and purple acid phosphatases (PAP) (Bergkemper et al., 2016b). Since *phoN* is mostly present in Rhizobiales (Bergkemper et al., 2016b), its low abundance in soil under wheat growth is not surprising. This was confirmed by the analysis of samples from the same plots one year later, when there was lupine growing, which revealed significantly increased abundance of *phoN* (data not shown). Lupins fix atmospheric N by forming a symbiosis with soil bacteria of the genus Bradyrhizobium, which belongs to the order Rhizobiales.

It has been reported that phosphomonoesterases are induced by P limitation (Chen et al., 2019; Saha et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2014) and that *phoD* abundance is negatively related to P availability (Luo et al., 2017; Tan et al., 2013). However, contradicting observations have also been made. Randall et al. (2019) found an increase in *phoD* gene abundance under P<sub>i</sub> fertilization and Wei et al. (2021) observed a significantly increased abundance of *phoD*-harbouring bacteria and organic-P functional bacteria following both organic and mineral fertilization.

Contrary to those findings, in M3 the *phoD* and *phnX* gene abundances did not differ between soils with different initial P levels (very low, low, optimal) and were not influenced by mineral P amendments (TSP, BC,  $BC^{plus}$ ). A similar observation was made by Long et al. (2018), who found no difference in the abundance of genes involved in P<sub>o</sub> mineralization with increasing P treatment. It is possible that fertilization effects strongly interacted with initial soil P content and sampling date, which prevented the clear differentiation. Another explanation for the lacking effect of applied fertilizers on *phoD* gene abundances could be the increase of microbial P uptake when P is available in excess. It has been shown that *phoD* harboring microorganisms can modulate their P use strategies in response to P availability by stimulating intracellular P accumulation under high P conditions, and mineralization of organically bound P under P limitation (Raiesi & Hosseinpur, 2017; Zhang et al., 2015), which could explain the stable abundance of *phoD* genes regarding fertilization.

#### 2.3. Bacterial P uptake

Bacteria have two main systems for uptake of inorganic phosphate. Low affinity transporter Pit (phosphate inorganic transporter) is active under high  $P_i$  availability, when  $P_i$  concentration is above 4  $\mu$ M, whereas extracellular  $P_i$  concentration below this value induces starvation response which activates expression of high affinity phosphate specific transporter (Pst) (Hsieh & Wanner, 2010). Interestingly, in metagenomic dataset (M1), genes for both  $P_i$  transport systems were equally abundant and not affected by organic fertilization. In the experiment with mineral P fertilizers applied to soils with three different initial P levels (M3), the abundance of *pitA* was significantly higher than the abundance of *pstS*, indicating sufficient P availability in all of the tested soils.

#### 3. The effect of organic amendments on bacterial P turnover

The next hypothesis postulated that the addition of organic amendments will stimulate bacterial growth by providing C and N. This will consequentially increase the bacterial demand on P leading to increased production of P-acquiring extracellular enzymes, which will be reflected in the abundance of bacterial genes involved in P solubilization, mineralization and uptake, as well as potential phosphatase activity.

#### 3.1. Metagenomic analysis of bacterial P turnover genes as affected by organic fertilization

To assess the dominant bacterial P turnover processes and link them to the potential effect of organic fertilization, a metagenomic approach was applied and the genes encoding proteins linked to regulation, mineralization, solubilization, and uptake of extracellular P sources were detected (M1). Of the total reads, those which could be assigned to the P cycle accounted for 0.34% in Freising and 0.33% in Rostock. From a total of 40 P-turnover genes, 27 were included into further analysis, whilst the rest were excluded due to their low abundance. The relative abundance of the analyzed genes was similar between the investigated sites.

Contrary to the hypothesis, the application of organic fertilizer did not have a significant influence on the abundance of analyzed bacterial P turnover genes.

The most abundant gene in the metagenomic dataset was that encoding for glucose dehydrogenase enzyme (*gcd*) which oxidizes glucose and other aldose sugars resulting in the excretion of gluconic acid which acidifies the surrounding area thereby facilitating the solubilization of P bound in Ca- and Mg- secondary minerals. Normally, Gcd requires the co-factor pyrroloquinone (PQQ) to form the active PQQGDH holoenzyme (Goldstein, 1995). However, in M1 genes linked to this cofactor were very low in abundance. This could be due to partly PQQ independent activation of GDH, as described by (Goldstein et al., 2003) and although PQQ is regarded as essential for the activity of the GDH enzyme, evidence suggests that there is no correlation between the PQQ and GDH levels (Schie et al., 1984; van Kleef & Duine, 1989). It has been found that *gcd* expression is increased under low soil P conditions (An & Moe, 2016; Liang et al., 2020), which is in line with findings of M1 and M2, since the test sites have not received any P fertilizer in M1, and in M2 two out of three investigated soils contained suboptimal P levels.

The second most abundant genes in the dataset were those encoding for proteins involved in  $P_i$  uptake, namely *pst* and *pit*, followed by alkaline phosphatases (ALP) *phoA*, *phoD*, and a class C acid phosphatases (ACP) *olpA*, all of which are genes involved in P mineralization. Genes coding for substrate specific enzymes (phosphonatases, C-P lyases, and phytases) capable of accessing sources of P that are lower in concentration or more difficult to obtain (e.g., phytate) were very low in abundance. It has been suggested that when P utilization preference is examined, the most readily metabolized form of P determines which enzymes are produced, whereas the enzymes for accessing alternative P sources are usually not expressed (Tapia-Torres et al., 2016). This suggests that the prevalent form of  $P_0$  in the investigated soils were phosphoesters, which are mineralized more readily than phosphonates since C-P bonds are highly stable, as well as that P pools in the investigated agricultural soils are rich in inorganic orthophosphate (Stutter et al., 2015).

#### 3.2. The effect of organic amendments on P<sub>mic</sub> and potential phosphatase activity

In the experiment testing mineral P and organic amendments (M2),  $P_{mic}$  content ranged from 2.1 to 46.4 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> and was generally lowest in control plots (average of 7.2 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>). The content of  $P_{mic}$  in agricultural soils is generally lower than in forest and grassland soils with determined ranges between 2.4 and 21 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (Turner & Haygarth, 2005). This is attributed to lower soil organic C in agricultural soils, and further supported by an observed increase in  $P_{mic}$  content upon repeated addition of organic materials to cropped soils (Turner et al., 2004). Opposing to the previous findings where soils fertilized with organic amendments contained almost twice as much  $P_{mic}$  as soils receiving only mineral fertilizers (Oberson et al., 1996; Oehl et al., 2001), in the aforementioned experiment,  $P_{mic}$  content was highest in MIN (average of 26.6 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), and lowest in ORG (16.6 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), suggesting that microbes responded to readily available inorganic phosphate.

Amendments containing organic fertilizer (ORG and OMI) resulted in increased potential phosphatase activities compared to MIN and control. This is in line with Colvan et al. (2001), who found that meadow soils fertilized with farmyard manure for about 100 years had higher phosphatase activities than those receiving mineral P. The increase in phosphatase activities

following the organic fertilization was addressed in multiple studies (Criquet et al., 2007; Nannipieri et al., 2011b; Piotrowska-Długosz & Wilczewski, 2014) and can be explained by stimulation of microbial activity and improvement of soil properties through enrichment of SOM (Adetunji et al., 2017; Jones et al., 2011). In M2, soils with ORG and OMI amendments had significantly higher TN and C<sub>org</sub> compared to MIN and control. Marklein & Houlton (2012) found that TN is strongly positively correlated with phosphatase activity. This can be explained by high N availability relative to P being required for the microorganisms to start investing their energy into production of phosphatases since N is a necessary element for the synthesis of enzymes (Houlton et al., 2008; Olander & Vitousek, 2000; Treseder & Vitousek, 2001).

Therefore, although the hypothesis that organic amendments will result in higher abundance of bacterial genes involved in soil P transformations was not confirmed using metagenomic approach in M1, the results obtained in M2 regarding potential phosphatase activities suggest that organic amendments do stimulate bacterial P acquisition.

#### 4. Alternative P fertilizers

In M3, the response of the soil P turnover bacteria to the application of the alternative P fertilizers obtained by carbonizing animal bones (bonechar – BC, and sulphur enriched bonechar – BC<sup>plus</sup>) was compared to TSP fertilization and control (no P). The experiment was conducted during one growing season of winter wheat on soils with three different initial P levels which were classified based on available P content as very low (11.2 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), low (20.7 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>), and optimal (47.2 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) (according to VDLUFA guidelines), and contained different levels of TP (217, 273, 399 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively), while TC (1.3 – 1.4%) and TN (0.1%) were constant.

The fourth hypothesis of this thesis postulated that viability of the alternative mineral P fertilizers will be reflected in the abundance of bacteria mediating P turnover processes that is comparable to that of conventional mineral fertilizer (TSP). It has also been postulated that the effect of fertilization on bacterial P turnover will vary depending on the initial soil P content and plant growth stage. This will lead to changes in potential activities of P-acquiring extracellular enzymes during the growing season of winter wheat in agricultural soils with very low, low, and optimal P content (hypothesis five).

The effect of the different P fertilization regimes was most obvious in the P<sub>CAL</sub> and P<sub>water</sub> values that were, compared to the control, the highest in TSP amended plots, irrespective of soil class or plant growth stage. This might be due to TSP being the best water-soluble fertilizer and thus most of it could be reextracted, or most of the TSP remained unused and at risk of being lost by leaching to the groundwater (Djodjic et al., 2004). In the BC and BC<sup>plus</sup> treatments, the same amount of P was applied as in TSP plots, but no accumulation of P<sub>water</sub> or P<sub>CAL</sub> was observed for the alternative fertilizers. It is unlikely that no P was released from BC and BC<sup>plus</sup>, since this has already been proven, and it has also been shown that P release from BC<sup>plus</sup> is higher than that from BC due to activation by S, the oxidation of which results in pH reduction which promotes P dissolution (Zimmer et al., 2018, 2019). The other possibility is the binding of released P to the bone char particles, which is also unlikely because the bone char surface at soil pH between 5 and 5.3 is negatively charged and repels anions such as phosphate (Leinweber, unpublished data). Thus, it seems that all P released from BC and BC<sup>plus</sup> has been taken up, which was corroborated by higher abundance of P solubilization genes (*gcd*) as well as P uptake genes (*pitA* 

and *pstS*). This has also been observed for rock phosphate as alternative P fertilizer, which resulted in increased organic P mineralization and the immediate immobilization of P in the microbial biomass, while the fertilization with TSP caused an increase of P<sub>1</sub> (Margenot, 2016). The higher abundance of *gcd* genes in BC<sup>plus</sup> treatments suggests that this form of P fertilizer increases the microbial potential to solubilize inorganic P. This is in line with Postma et al. (2010), who demonstrated that the addition of P solubilizing microbes to animal bone charcoal particles improved the dissolution of P. Although the addition of P solubilizing bacteria to the soil had been recommended for improving the sustainability of P fertilization in agriculture (Alori et al., 2017; Ditta et al., 2018), the results imply that the application of alternative P fertilizers stimulates the inherent P solubilizing microbes, especially under specific circumstances such as particular plant growth stages (heading) or different initial soil P concentrations (low, optimal). Additionally, application of BC<sup>plus</sup> to the soil with low initial P level resulted in slightly higher crop yield (Panten & Leinweber, 2020).

The increased abundance of *phoD* genes in plots receiving BC fertilizer suggests that the fertilization with BC favored P<sub>o</sub> mineralization. In the plots with optimal initial soil P content, higher abundance of *phoD* was accompanied by higher abundance of *pitA* genes, which code for low-affinity P<sub>i</sub> transporter responsible for bacterial Pi uptake under sufficient P availability (Wanner, 1993; Willsky et al., 1973). Therefore, it seems that BC application provides favorable conditions for a closed P cycle. However, potential ALP activities were not increased, which might be due to low soil pH not being optimal for their activity.

Regarding the P uptake genes, the abundance of *pitA* was always 10 to 100-times higher than the abundance of *pstS*, indicating sufficient P availability in all tested soils.

# 4.1. Fertilizer effect is highly interlinked with plant growth stage and initial soil P concentration

In addition to the initial soil P content, the effect of alternative fertilizers was also strongly interlinked with plant growth stage (M3). During the heading of winter wheat, the abundances of P-turnover genes were higher in control plots compared to P fertilized plots. This points toward P<sub>i</sub> limiting conditions for the microorganisms when no P fertilizer was applied and after wheat had met most of its own P demands during highest biomass growth (Römer & Schilling, 1986).

Especially the abundance of *pstS* gene, which codes for a highly specific P<sub>i</sub> transporter and is starvation induced, was significantly higher compared to the other sampling dates (p = 0.03). Interestingly, both P uptake genes – low-affinity, constitutively expressed *pitA* and highly specific, starvation-induced *pstS*, were influenced by initial soil P content, with highest values detected in soils with optimal initial P content. This indicates that microbial community of those soils might have adapted to higher levels of available P by switching to "luxury phosphorus uptake" (Ohtake et al., 1985) as it has been shown that many microorganisms accumulate P<sub>i</sub> in the form of polyphosphate in P rich environments (Akbari et al., 2021; Kulaev & Vagabov, 1983; S. Li et al., 2014).

Even more interestingly, the potential phosphatase activities did not significantly differ between three soil classes used in this experiment. Addition of mineral P fertilizers has been shown to increase the phosphatase activity in soils with low organic matter but had no effect when the soil contained high organic matter (Piotrowska-Długosz & Wilczewski, 2014). Margalef et al. (2017) used a total of 378 sites around the world to analyze patterns of phosphatase activity and found no correlation between available P and phosphatase activity, suggesting that available P does not relate to potential capacity of the system to release P with the help of phosphatases. They proposed that phosphatases relate only to the source (organic matter) whereas available P is controlled both by the sink (plant and microbial P uptake) and the source. They also found TP to be a poor predictor of phosphatase activity because it comprises the phosphorus part of primary mineral and occluded recalcitrant forms, both being reservoirs that cannot be a substrate for phosphatase enzymatic activity.

Surprisingly, the increased abundance of *phoD* genes in plots receiving BC fertilizer was most pronounced in soils with optimal initial P content. This is unexpected because *phoD* is part of the PHO regulon which detects P starvation and controls several phosphate starvation inducible genes (Hsieh & Wanner, 2010). In a long-term fertilization study, Fraser et al. (2015) found highest mineralization potential, as shown by increased *phoD* abundance and high potential ALP activity, in soils with lowest available P concentration. Thus, one would expect to find highest *phoD* abundance in soils with lowest initial P content. However, it seems that the bacterial community in a very low P environment is adapted to low P availability, whereas slow rate of P release from BC (Leinweber et al., 2018) could promote bacterial mineralization potential. Control plots showed similar gene abundance pattern irrespective of the soil class, suggesting an equilibrium between P uptake, P turnover of the bacterial biomass and P solubilization from the soil. Under constant depletion of P pools by microbial and plant uptake, this equilibrium is essential for meeting their P-demands. Similar observations were made in forest sites with low P concentrations, which showed an efficient recycling of P (Bergkemper et al. 2016a, Lang et al. 2017).

In general, alternative P fertilizers affected P-mobilization, but they differed in the processes which they promote. BC<sup>plus</sup> favored bacterial P solubilization, as indicated by higher *gcd* abundance, whereas BC favored P recycling from biomass, which was displayed by high abundance of *phoD* carrying bacteria. Additionally, the effects were strongly interlinked with initial soil P content and plant growth stage.

# V Conclusions and outlook

Soil is a heterogeneous environment with complex interactions between plants and their surroundings. Microorganisms no doubt are at the heart of the P cycle in soil and contribute a large part to the P nutrition of plants. Throughout this study the predominant processes and families involved in P turnover in the scope of agricultural soil were uncovered. More specifically, it has been found that in agricultural soils the primary acquisition of P by bacteria was through solubilization of inorganic P indicative of sufficient reserves still being present. Moreover, it was confirmed that bacterial family composition and P transformation are not affected by geographical location, climate, soil genesis, and parent material but rather by management and ecosystem type.

Type of applied fertilizer has a profound effect on P-turnover, which was demonstrated by a clear splitting in phosphatase activities between treatments without and with organic amendments.

Furthermore, the experiment with conventional and alternative mineral P fertilizers during one growth season of winter wheat on soils with different initial P content further revealed the complexity of the different interactions. Alternative P fertilizers affected P-mobilization, but they differed in the processes which they promote. Additionally, the effects were strongly interlinked with initial soil P content and plant growth stage. However, the results did show that even here, P solubilization and uptake are the predominant processes.

Future work aimed at obtaining a more complete picture of microbial P turnover in soil undoubtedly involves the analysis of transcription rates of P turnover genes as well as the expansion of databases. Furthermore, the diversity of the soil microbial community should be complemented by deeper understanding of complex interactions between key players. Additionally, rhizosphere soil should be investigated and compared to bulk soil, and ideally sampling should take place multiple times during different growth stages of a crop as well as between growth seasons. Together these findings would allow for more sustainable P application in agriculture, improved crop production, as well as protection of environmental health.

# **VI Methodological caveats**

#### 1. Sampling and DNA extraction

It has been shown that one gram of soil contains around 100 million microbial cells (Prosser, 2015). This vast number is accompanied by the complex soil ecosystems compiling a plethora of diverse microhabitats, each defined by unique physical, chemical, and biological properties (Totsche et al., 2010). This level of complexity is complemented by aspects of temporal heterogeneity signified by the aboveground plant diversity and growth stage as well as season (Petersen & Esbensen, 2005). Diversity and distribution of soil microorganisms are strongly interlinked with these factors (Prosser, 2015; Richardson & Simpson, 2011; Vestergaard et al., 2017), resulting in numerous micro-niches and hotspots. Although this is well known, most studies on microbial distribution focus on large-scale differences, comparing land use types, position in landscape, or different treatments (Du et al., 2015; Francioli et al., 2014; Garciá-Orenes et al., 2013). Capturing this vast microbial diversity requires a carefully designed and executed sampling plan, appropriate downstream processing of samples, and efficient DNA extraction. Each of these steps poses a potential source of biases, from choosing inappropriate sampling scheme, to getting distorted picture of microbial community composition because of the biased DNA extraction. The extracellular and the DNA deriving from dormant and/or dead cells further complicates obtaining a meaningful picture of soil functional diversity. The extracted functional gene may also be inactive because it relies on other metabolic pathways for its activity (Prosser, 2015) A method which separates intracellular from extracellular DNA (Pietramellara et al., 2008) could eliminate this bias.

#### 2. Limitations of metagenomic analysis

Next generation Sequencing (NGS) has revolutionized the way we look at complex environments and has allowed for culture independent, simultaneous detection, and characterization of microorganisms in different environments (Goodwin et al., 2016; Prosser, 2015). For the past 15 years, technological advances in NGS have produced innumerable studies – with ascending tendency. One of the main advantages of this culture independent approach is the identification of untargeted microbiota and their characterization. Shotgun sequencing alone can provide a holistic image of communities based on relative abundances. This means that the obtained information reflects microbial potential and not actual activity (Knight et al., 2012).

Processing of the sequencing data is susceptible to limitations and biases (Lombard et al., 2011; Prosser, 2017), especially considering that most of the databases, such as the NCBI nonredundant protein database, show biases towards medically relevant, eukaryotic, or model organisms (Darzi et al., 2016; Vestergaard et al., 2017). The use of these general databases also impacts coverage estimations after sequencing runs of environmental samples. This is likely to change with databases focusing on environmental genomic data such as the earth microbiome project (Gilbert et al., 2014). But until then database independent coverage estimation through approaches such as nonpareil will still be important (Rodriguez & Konstantinidis, 2014).

As it is the case for microbial diversity, functional annotation also relies heavily on publicly accessible databases such as KEGG (Kanehisa et al., 2016), SEED (Overbeek et al., 2005), and COG (Tatusov et al., 2000) which are useful to get a first overview. However, further development and utilization of databases such as FOAM (Prestat et al., 2014) that are specifically designed for soil related studies will give a more specific picture.

To obtain a better understanding on actual P-turnover activity of microorganisms, future research should include data on transcriptional level using metatranscriptomic and/or metaproteomic approaches. Lastly, spatio-temporal data on physicochemical measurements, water availability, temperature, as well as plant species and growth stage should be well documented and included in analyses, as they are particularly important for obtaining a full picture of microbial activities, especially when investigating the effects of fertilization on microbial potentials to metabolize an extremely immobile element such as P.

#### 3. qPCR

Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) allows for cultivation independent detection and analysis of a gene of interest in real time and is widely used in microbial ecology. It is known to be a sensitive, reproducible, and robust method with which the changes in abundance of phylogenetic and functional genes can be tracked across temporal and spatial scales under changing environmental conditions.

56

However, qPCR is susceptible to limitations that could affect interpretation. As mentioned, the most crucial step which can affect the outcome and quality is the nucleic acid extraction protocol. In environmental sample analyses these vary greatly, especially because the extraction protocol is adjusted to the studied sample (Martin-Laurent et al., 2001). Agricultural soil can be particularly challenging depending on clay content and a number of various inhibitors (i.e., humic acids) which must be removed to obtain high grade DNA for downstream processing (Frostegård et al., 1999; Stults et al., 2001; Vestergaard et al., 2017). Moreover, the specificity of any qPCR assay is highly dependent on the primer design. This is particularly problematic when considering that some functional genes are not well conserved on the amino acid level when comparing microorganisms from distinct phyla (Bergkemper et al., 2016b). Furthermore, primer design could be influenced by biases in the employed database (Bergkemper et al., 2016b). These will likely be alleviated with further expansion of publicly accessible databases which focus on specific environments.

### References

- Abel, S., Ticconi, C. A., & Delatorre, C. A. (2002). Phosphate sensing in higher plants. In *Physiologia Plantarum* (Vol. 115, Issue 1, pp. 1–8). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-3054.2002.1150101.x
- Achat, D. L., Morel, C., Bakker, M. R., Augusto, L., Pellerin, S., Gallet-Budynek, A., & Gonzalez, M. (2010).
  Assessing turnover of microbial biomass phosphorus: Combination of an isotopic dilution method with a mass balance model. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 42(12), 2231–2240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.08.023
- Adetunji, A. T., Lewu, F. B., Mulidzi, R., & Ncube, B. (2017). The biological activities of β-glucosidase, pphosphatase, and urease as soil quality indicators: A review. *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, *17*(3), 794–807. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-95162017000300018
- Akbari, A., Wang, Z. J., He, P., Wang, D., Lee, J., Han, I. L., Li, G., & Gu, A. Z. (2021). Unrevealed roles of polyphosphate-accumulating microorganisms. In *Microbial Biotechnology* (Vol. 14, Issue 1, pp. 82–87). John Wiley and Sons Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.13730
- Allison, S. D., & Martiny, J. B. H. (2008). Resistance, resilience, and redundancy in microbial communities.
   Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 105(Supplement 1), 11512–11519.
   https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0801925105
- Alori, E. T., Glick, B. R., & Babalola, O. O. (2017). Microbial phosphorus solubilization and its potential for use in sustainable agriculture. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8(JUN), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00971
- Amemura, M., Shinagawa, H., Makino, K., Otsuji, N., & Nakata, A. (1982). Cloning of and complementation tests with alkaline phosphatase regulatory genes (phoS and phoT) of Escherichia coli. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *152*(2), 692–701.
- An, R., & Moe, L. A. (2016). Regulation of pyrroloquinoline quinone-dependent glucose dehydrogenase activity in the model rhizosphere-dwelling bacterium Pseudomonas putida KT2440. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 82(16), 4955–4964. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00813-16

58

- Antal, M. J., & Grønli, M. (2003). The art, science, and technology of charcoal production. In *Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research* (Vol. 42, Issue 8, pp. 1619–1640). American Chemical Society. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie0207919
- Apel, A. K., Sola-Landa, A., Rodríguez-García, A., & Martín, J. F. (2007). Phosphate control of phoA, phoC and phoD gene expression in *Streptomyces coelicolor* reveals significant differences in binding of PhoP to their promoter regions. *Microbiology*, *153*(10), 3527–3537. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.2007/007070-0
- Atkinson, C. J., Fitzgerald, J. D., & Hipps, N. A. (2010). Potential mechanisms for achieving agricultural benefits from biochar application to temperate soils: A review. In *Plant and Soil* (Vol. 337, Issue 1, pp. 1–18). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-010-0464-5
- Audette, Y., O'Halloran, I. P., & Paul Voroney, R. (2016). Kinetics of phosphorus forms applied as inorganic and organic amendments to a calcareous soil. *Geoderma*, 262, 119–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2015.08.021
- Babalola, O. O., & Glick, B. R. (2012). The use of microbial inoculants in African agriculture: current practice and future prospects. *J. Food Agric. Environ*, *10*(3&4), 540-549.
- Badri, D. V., & Vivanco, J. M. (2009). Regulation and function of root exudates. *Plant, cell & environment*, *32*(6), 666-681. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2009.01926.x
- Baek, J. H., Letters, S. Y. L.-F. microbiology, & 2006, U. (2006). Novel gene members in the Pho regulon of
   Escherichia coli. *Academic.Oup.Com*. https://academic.oup.com/femsle/article abstract/264/1/104/548477
- Balaban, N. P., Suleimanova, A. D., Valeeva, L. R., Chastukhina, I. B., Rudakova, N. L., Sharipova, M. R., &
  V. Shakirov, E. (2017). Microbial Phytases and Phytate: Exploring Opportunities for Sustainable
  Phosphorus Management in Agriculture. *American Journal of Molecular Biology*, 07(01), 11–29. https://doi.org/10.4236/ajmb.2017.71002
- Banerjee, A., Sanyal, S., & Sen, S. (2012). Soil phosphatase activity of agricultural land: A possible index of soil fertility. *Agricultural Science Research Journals*, 2(7), 412–419. http://www.resjournals.com/ARJ

Barrow, C. J. (2012). Biochar: Potential for countering land degradation and for improving agriculture.

Applied Geography, 34, 21–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2011.09.008

- Beauregard, M. S., Hamel, C., Atul-Nayyar, & St-Arnaud, M. (2010). Long-term phosphorus fertilization impacts soil fungal and bacterial diversity but not AM fungal community in alfalfa. *Microbial Ecology*, 59(2), 379–389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-009-9583-z
- Benavente, V., & Fullana, A. (2015). Torrefaction of olive mill waste. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 73, 186–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.12.020
- Bergkemper, F., Schöler, A., Engel, M., Lang, F., Krüger, J., Schloter, M., & Schulz, S. (2016a). Phosphorus depletion in forest soils shapes bacterial communities towards phosphorus recycling systems. *Environmental Microbiology*, 18(6), 1988–2000. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.13188
- Bergkemper, F., Kublik, S., Lang, F., Krüger, J., Vestergaard, G., Schloter, M., & Schulz, S. (2016b). Novel oligonucleotide primers reveal a high diversity of microbes which drive phosphorous turnover in soil. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 125, 91–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2016.04.011
- Besharati, H., & Atashnama, K. (2007). Biosuper as a phosphate fertilizer in a calcareous soil with low available phosphorus. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 6(11), 1325–1329. http://www.academicjournals.org/AJB
- Billah, M., Khan, M., Bano, A., Hassan, T. U., Munir, A., & Gurmani, A. R. (2019). Phosphorus and phosphate solubilizing bacteria: Keys for sustainable agriculture. *Geomicrobiology Journal*, *36*(10), 904-916.
- Bilyera, N., Blagodatskaya, E., Yevdokimov, I., & Kuzyakov, Y. (2018). Towards a conversion factor for soil microbial phosphorus. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 87(March), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2018.03.002
- Black, C. A. (1968). Soil-plant relationships. New York: Wiley
- Bolan, N. S. (1991). A critical review on the role of mycorrhizal fungi in the uptake of phosphorus by plants.
  In *Plant and Soil* (Vol. 134, Issue 2, pp. 189–207). Kluwer Academic Publishers. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00012037
- Börling, K., Otabbong, E., & Barberis, E. (2001). Phosphorus sorption in relation to soil properties in some cultivated swedish soils. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 59(1), 39–46.

60

https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1009888707349

- Boulanger, R. R., & Kantrowitz, E. R. (2003). Characterization of a Monomeric Escherichia coli Alkaline Phosphatase Formed upon a Single Amino Acid Substitution\* Downloaded from. *THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY*, 278(26), 23497–23501. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M301105200
- Bouwman, A. F., Beusen, A. H. W., Lassaletta, L., Van Apeldoorn, D. F., Van Grinsven, H. J. M., Zhang, J., & Ittersum Van, M. K. (2017). Lessons from temporal and spatial patterns in global use of N and P fertilizer on cropland. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep40366
- Bradford, M. A., Fierer, N., Jackson, R. B., Maddox, T. R., & Reynolds, J. F. (2008). Nonlinear root-derived carbon sequestration across a gradient of nitrogen and phosphorous deposition in experimental mesocosms. *Global Change Biology*, 14(5), 1113–1124. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01564.x
- Brady, N, C and Weil, R, R. (2008). The Nature and Properties of Soils 14th Ed. Pearson Prentice Hall, New Jersey, USA.
- Bray, S. R., Kitajima, K., & Mack, M. C. (2012). Temporal dynamics of microbial communities on decomposing leaf litter of 10 plant species in relation to decomposition rate. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 49, 30–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.02.009
- Brennan, R. F., Bolland, M. D. A., Jeffery, R. C., & Allen, D. G. (1994). Phosphorus Adsorption By A Range Of Western Australian Soils Related To Soil Properties. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 25(15–16), 2785–2795. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103629409369225
- Brookes, P. C., Powlson, D. S., & Jenkinson, D. S. (1982). Measurement of microbial biomass phosphorus in soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *14*(4), 319–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(82)90001-3
- Brzoska, P., Rimmele, M., Brzostek, K., & Boos, W. (1994). The pho regulon-dependent Ugp uptake system for glycerol-3-phosphate in Escherichia coli is trans inhibited by P(i). *Journal of Bacteriology*, *176*(1), 15–20. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.176.1.15-20.1994
- Bucher, M. (2007). Functional biology of plant phosphate uptake at root and mycorrhiza interfaces. *New Phytologist*, *173*(1), 11-26.

- Buchfink, B., Xie, C., & Huson, D. H. (2014). Fast and sensitive protein alignment using DIAMOND. In *Nature Methods* (Vol. 12, Issue 1, pp. 59–60). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3176
- Bujacz, B., Wieczorek, P., Krzysko-Lupicka, T., Golab, Z., Lejczak, B., & Kavfarski, P. (1995).
   Organophosphonate utilization by the wild-type strain of Penicillium notatum. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *61*(8), 2905–2910. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.61.8.2905-2910.1995
- Bünemann, E. K., Heenan, D. P., Marschner, P., & McNeill, A. M. (2006). Long-term effects of crop rotation, stubble management and tillage on soil phosphorus dynamics. *Australian Journal of Soil Research*, 44(6), 611–618. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR05188
- Bünemann, Else K, Prusisz, B., & Ehlers, K. (2011). Characterization of Phosphorus Forms in Soil Microorganisms (pp. 37–57). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-15271-9\_2
- Burns, R. G., DeForest, J. L., Marxsen, J., Sinsabaugh, R. L., Stromberger, M. E., Wallenstein, M. D., Weintraub, M. N., & Zoppini, A. (2013). Soil enzymes in a changing environment: Current knowledge and future directions. In *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* (Vol. 58, pp. 216–234). Pergamon. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.11.009
- Caballero, B., Trugo, L., & Finglas, P. (2003). *Encyclopedia of food sciences and nutrition: Volumes 1-10* (pp. 1436–1448). https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-12-227055-X/00544-7
- Cao, H., Chen, R., Wang, L., Jiang, L., Yang, F., Zheng, S., Wang, G., & Lin, X. (2016). Soil pH, total phosphorus, climate, and distance are the major factors influencing microbial activity at a regional spatial scale. *Scientific Reports*, *6*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep25815
- Carpenter, S. R. (2008). Phosphorus control is critical to mitigating eutrophication. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *105*(32), 11039-11040.
- Carstensen, A., Szameitat, A. E., Frydenvang, J., & Husted, S. (2019). Chlorophyll a fluorescence analysis can detect phosphorus deficiency under field conditions and is an effective tool to prevent grain yield reductions in spring barley (Hordeum vulgare L.). *Plant and Soil, 434*(1–2), 79–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-018-3783-6

- Castagno, L. N., Estrella, M. J., Sannazzaro, A. I., Grassano, A. E., & Ruiz, O. A. (2011). Phosphatesolubilization mechanism and in vitro plant growth promotion activity mediated by Pantoea eucalypti isolated from Lotus tenuis rhizosphere in the Salado River Basin (Argentina). *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 110(5), 1151–1165. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2011.04968.x
- Castillo Villamizar, G. A., Nacke, H., Boehning, M., Herz, K., & Daniel, R. (2019). Functional metagenomics reveals an overlooked diversity and novel features of soil-derived bacterial phosphatases and phytases. *MBio*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01966-18
- Chen, W. H., Zhuang, Y. Q., Liu, S. H., Juang, T. T., & Tsai, C. M. (2016). Product characteristics from the torrefaction of oil palm fiber pellets in inert and oxidative atmospheres. *Bioresource Technology*, 199, 367–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.08.066
- Chen, Xiaodong, Jiang, N., Chen, Z., Tian, J., Sun, N., Xu, M., & Chen, L. (2017). Response of soil phoD phosphatase gene to long-term combined applications of chemical fertilizers and organic materials. *Applied Soil Ecology*, *119*(June), 197–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2017.06.019
- Chen, Xiaodong, Jiang, N., Condron, L. M., Dunfield, K. E., Chen, Z., Wang, J., & Chen, L. (2019). Impact of long-term phosphorus fertilizer inputs on bacterial phoD gene community in a maize field, Northeast China. Science of the Total Environment, 669, 1011–1018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.03.172
- Chen, Xiaoyun, Daniell, T. J., Neilson, R., O'Flaherty, V., & Griffiths, B. S. (2014). Microbial and microfaunal communities in phosphorus limited, grazed grassland change composition but maintain homeostatic nutrient stoichiometry. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 75(April), 94–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2014.03.024
- Childers, D. L., Corman, J., Edwards, M., & Elser, J. J. (2011). Sustainability challenges of phosphorus and food: solutions from closing the human phosphorus cycle. *Bioscience*, *61*(2), 117-124. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2011.61.2.6
- Cleton-Jansen, A. M., Goosen, N., Wenzel, T. J., & Van De Putte, P. (1988). Cloning of the gene encoding quinoprotein glucose dehydrogenase from Acinetobacter calcoaceticus: Evidence for the presence of a second enzyme. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *170*(5), 2121–2125. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.170.5.2121-2125.1988

63

- Cleveland, C. C., & Liptzin, D. (2007). C:N:P stoichiometry in soil: Is there a "Redfield ratio" for the microbial biomass? *Biogeochemistry*, *85*(3), 235–252. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-007-9132-0
- Coleman, J. E. (1992). Structure and mechanism of alkaline phosphatase. In *Annual Review of Biophysics and Biomolecular Structure* (Vol. 21, pp. 441–483). Annual Reviews Inc. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.bb.21.060192.002301
- Colvan, S. R., Syers, J. K., & O'Donnell, A. G. (2001). Effect of long-term fertiliser use on acid and alkaline phosphomonoesterase and phosphodiesterase activities in managed grassland. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *34*(4), 258–263. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003740100411
- Condron, L. M., Turner, B. L., & Cade-Menun, B. J. (2015). Chemistry and dynamics of soil organic phosphorus. In *Phosphorus: Agriculture and the Environment* (pp. 87–121). wiley. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronmonogr46.c4
- Conijn, J. G., Bindraban, P. S., Schröder, J. J., & Jongschaap, R. E. E. (2018). Can our global food system meet food demand within planetary boundaries? Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment Can our global food system meet food demand within planetary boundaries? Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 251(January), 244–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2017.06.001
- Cordell, D., Drangert, J. O., & White, S. (2009). The story of phosphorus: Global food security and food for thought. *Global Environmental Change*, *19*(2), 292–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2008.10.009
- Cordell, D., & White, S. (2011). Peak phosphorus: clarifying the key issues of a vigorous debate about longterm phosphorus security. *Sustainability*, *3*(10), 2027-2049. https://doi.org/10.3390/su3102027
- Criquet, S., Braud, A., & Nèble, S. (2007). Short-term effects of sewage sludge application on phosphatase activities and available P fractions in Mediterranean soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *39*(4), 921–929. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2006.11.002
- Curl, E. A., & Truelove, B. (1986). *Root Exudates* (pp. 55–92). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-70722-3\_3
- Dai, Z., Liu, G., Chen, H., Chen, C., Wang, J., Ai, S., Wei, D., Li, D., Ma, B., Tang, C., Brookes, P. C., & Xu, J. (2020). Long-term nutrient inputs shift soil microbial functional profiles of phosphorus cycling in

diverse agroecosystems. ISME Journal, 14(3), 757–770. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-019-0567-9

- Dar, M. A., Kaushik, G., Francisco, J., & Chiu, V. (2020). Pollution status and biodegradation of organophosphate pesticides in the environment. In *Abatement of Environmental Pollutants*. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-818095-2.00002-3
- Darzi, Y., Falony, G., Vieira-Silva, S., & Raes, J. (2016). Towards biome-specific analysis of meta-omics data.
   In *ISME Journal* (Vol. 10, Issue 5, pp. 1025–1028). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2015.188
- De Vries, M., Schöler, A., Ertl, J., Xu, Z., & Schloter, M. (2015). Metagenomic analyses reveal no differences in genes involved in cellulose degradation under different tillage treatments. FEMS microbiology ecology, 91(7), fiv069.
- Ditta, A., Imtiaz, M., Mehmood, S., Rizwan, M. S., Mubeen, F., Aziz, O., Qian, Z., Ijaz, R., & Tu, S. (2018).
   Rock phosphate-enriched organic fertilizer with phosphate-solubilizing microorganisms improves nodulation, growth, and yield of legumes. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 49(21), 2715–2725. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624.2018.1538374
- Djodjic, F., Börling, K., & Bergström, L. (2004). Phosphorus leaching in relation to soil type and soil phosphorus content. *Journal of environmental quality*, *33*(2), 678-684.
- Djukic, I., Kepfer-Rojas, S., Schmidt, I. K., Larsen, K. S., Beier, C., Berg, B., Verheyen, K., Caliman, A., Paquette, A., Gutiérrez-Girón, A., Humber, A., Valdecantos, A., Petraglia, A., Alexander, H., Augustaitis, A., Saillard, A., Fernández, A. C. R., Sousa, A. I., Lillebø, A. I., ... Tóth, Z. (2018). Early-stage litter decomposition across biomes. *Science of the Total Environment*, *628–629*, 1369–1394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.01.012
- Du, Z., Riveros-Iregui, D. A., Jones, R. T., McDermott, T. R., Dore, J. E., McGlynn, B. L., Emanuel, R. E., & Li, X. (2015). Landscape position influences microbial composition and function via redistribution of soil water across a watershed. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *81*(24), 8457–8468. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02643-15
- Dyhrman, S. T., Chappell, P. D., Haley, S. T., Moffett, J. W., Orchard, E. D., Waterbury, J. B., & Webb, E. A. (2006). Phosphonate utilization by the globally important marine diazotroph Trichodesmium.
Nature, 439(7072), 68–71. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04203

Eder, S., Shi, L., Jensen, K., Yamane, K., & Hulett, F. M. (1996). A Bacillus subtilis secreted phosphodiesterase/alkaline phosphatase is the product of a Pho regulon gene, phoD. *Microbiology*, *142*(8), 2041–2047. https://doi.org/10.1099/13500872-142-8-2041

Elser, J., & Bennett, E. (2011). A broken biogeochemical cycle. Nature, 478(7367), 29-31.

- Elser, J. J., & Hamilton, A. (2007). Stoichiometry and the new biology: The future is now. In *PLoS Biology* (Vol. 5, Issue 7, pp. 1403–1405). Public Library of Science. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0050181
- Enders, A., Hanley, K., Whitman, T., Joseph, S., & Lehmann, J. (2012). Bioresource Technology Characterization of biochars to evaluate recalcitrance and agronomic performance. *Bioresource Technology*, *114*, 644–653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.03.022
- Fanin, N., Fromin, N., Buatois, B., & Hättenschwiler, S. (2013). An experimental test of the hypothesis of non-homeostatic consumer stoichiometry in a plant litter-microbe system. *Ecology Letters*, 16(6), 764–772. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12108
- Fierer, N. (2017). Embracing the unknown: Disentangling the complexities of the soil microbiome. In *Nature Reviews Microbiology* (Vol. 15, Issue 10, pp. 579–590). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2017.87
- Fierer, N., Bradford, M. A., & Jackson, R. B. (2007). Toward an ecological classification of soil bacteria. *Ecology*, 88(6), 1354–1364. https://doi.org/10.1890/05-1839
- Fierer, N., & Jackson, R. B. (2006). The diversity and biogeography of soil bacterial communities. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 103(3), 626–631. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0507535103
- Fierer, N., Schimel, J. P., & Holden, P. A. (2003). Variations in microbial community composition through two soil depth profiles. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *35*(1), 167-176.
- Filippelli, G. M. (2008). The global phosphorus cycle: Past, present, and future. *Elements*, 4(2), 89–95. https://doi.org/10.2113/GSELEMENTS.4.2.89

- Francioli, D., Ascher, J., Ceccherini, M. T., & Pietramellara, G. (2014). Land use and seasonal effects on a mediterranean soil bacterial community. *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, 14(3), 710–722. https://doi.org/10.4067/s0718-95162014005000057
- Fraser, T. D., Lynch, D. H., Bent, E., Entz, M. H., & Dunfield, K. E. (2015). Soil bacterial phoD gene abundance and expression in response toapplied phosphorus and long-term management. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 88, 137–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.04.014
- Frostegård, Å., Courtois, S., Ramisse, V., Clerc, S., Bernillon, D., Le Gall, F., Jeannin, P., Nesme, X., & Simonet, P. (1999). Quantification of bias related to the extraction of DNA directly from soils. *Applied* and Environmental Microbiology, 65(12), 5409–5420. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.65.12.5409-5420.1999
- Fujita, K., Miyabara, Y., & Kunito, T. (2019). Microbial biomass and ecoenzymatic stoichiometries vary in response to nutrient availability in an arable soil. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, *91*(August 2018), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2018.12.005
- Garciá-Orenes, F., Morugań-Coronado, A., Zornoza, R., & Scow, K. (2013). Changes in soil microbial community structure influenced by agricultural management practices in a Mediterranean agroecosystem. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0080522
- Gardner, S. G., Johns, K. D., Tanner, R., & McCleary, W. R. (2014). The PhoU protein from Escherichia coli interacts with PhoR, PstB, and metals to form a phosphate-signaling complex at the membrane. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *196*(9), 1741–1752. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00029-14
- Geng, Y., Baumann, F., Song, C., Zhang, M., Shi, Y., Kühn, P., Scholten, T., & He, J.-S. S. (2017). Increasing temperature reduces the coupling between available nitrogen and phosphorus in soils of Chinese grasslands. *Scientific Reports*, 7(July 2016), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep43524
- George, T. S., Richardson, A. E., & Simpson, R. J. (2005). Behaviour of plant-derived extracellular phytase upon addition to soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *37*(5), 977-988. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.10.016
- Gilbert, J. A., Jansson, J. K., & Knight, R. (2014). The Earth Microbiome project: Successes and aspirations. In *BMC Biology* (Vol. 12, Issue 1, pp. 1–4). BioMed Central Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12915-014-

- Gilbert, N. (2009). The disappearing nutrient. In *Nature* (Vol. 461, Issue 7265, pp. 716–718). https://doi.org/10.1038/461716a
- Godwin, C. M., & Cotner, J. B. (2015). Aquatic heterotrophic bacteria have highly flexible phosphorus content and biomass stoichiometry. *The ISME journal*, 9(10), 2324-2327. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2015.34
- Goldstein, A., Lester, T., & Brown, J. (2003). Research on the metabolic engineering of the direct oxidation pathway for extraction of phosphate from ore has generated preliminary evidence for PQQ biosynthesis in Escherichia coli as well as a possible role for the highly conserved region of quinoprote. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Proteins and Proteomics, 1647*(1–2), 266–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1570-9639(03)00067-0
- Goldstein, A. H. (1994a). Involvement of the quinoprotein glucose dehydrogenase in the solubilization of exogenous phosphates by gram-negative bacteria. *Phosphate in microorganisms: cellular and molecular biology. ASM Press, Washington, DC*, 197-203.

Goldstein, A H. (1994b). Phosphate in microorganisms: cellular and molecular biology.

- Goldstein, Alan H. (1995). Recent progress in understanding the molecular genetics and biochemistry of calcium phosphate solubilization by gram negative bacteria. *Biological Agriculture and Horticulture*, *12*(2), 185–193. https://doi.org/10.1080/01448765.1995.9754736
- Goodwin, S., McPherson, J. D., & McCombie, W. R. (2016). Coming of age: Ten years of next-generation sequencing technologies. In *Nature Reviews Genetics* (Vol. 17, Issue 6, pp. 333–351). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg.2016.49
- Greiner, R., Konietzny, U., & Jany, K. D. (1993). Purification and characterization of two phytases from
   Escherichia coli. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 303(1), 107–113.
   https://doi.org/10.1006/abbi.1993.1261
- Gressel, N., McColl, J. G., Preston, C. M., Newman, R. H., & Powers, R. F. (1996). Linkages between phosphorus transformations and carbon decomposition in a forest soil. *Biogeochemistry*, 33(2), 97-123.

- Griffiths, B. S., Spilles, A., & Bonkowski, M. (2012). C:N:P stoichiometry and nutrient limitation of the soil microbial biomass in a grazed grassland site under experimental P limitation or excess. *Ecological Processes*, 1(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/2192-1709-1-6
- Grizzetti, B., Bouraoui, F., & Aloe, A. (2012). Changes of nitrogen and phosphorus loads to E uropean seas. *Global Change Biology*, *18*(2), 769-782. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02576.x
- Güsewell, S., & Gessner, M. O. (2009). N: P ratios influence litter decomposition and colonization by fungi and bacteria in microcosms. *Functional Ecology*, *23*(1), 211-219. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01478.x
- Hagemann, N., Spokas, K., Schmidt, H. P., Kägi, R., Böhler, M. A., & Bucheli, T. D. (2018). Activated carbon, biochar and charcoal: linkages and synergies across pyrogenic carbon's ABCs. *Water*, *10*(2), 182. https://doi.org/10.3390/w10020182
- Hale, M. G., Foy, C. L., & Shay, F. J. (1971). Factors Affecting Root Exudation. *Advances in Agronomy*, *23*(C), 89–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(08)60151-0
- Hammer, E. C., Forstreuter, M., Rillig, M. C., & Kohler, J. (2015). Biochar increases arbuscular mycorrhizal plant growth enhancement and ameliorates salinity stress. *Applied Soil Ecology*, *96*, 114–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2015.07.014
- Hammer, Ø., Harper, D. A., & Ryan, P. D. (2001). PAST: Paleontological statistics software package for education and data analysis. *Palaeontologia electronica*, 4(1), 9.
- Hansen, J. C., Cade-Menun, B. J., & Strawn, D. G. (2004). Phosphorus Speciation in Manure-Amended Alkaline Soils. *Journal of Environment Quality*, *33*(4), 1521. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2004.1521
- Harris, R. M., Webb, D. C., Howitt, S. M., & Cox, G. B. (2001). Characterization of PitA and PitB from Escherichia coli. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *183*(17), 5008–5014. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.183.17.5008-5014.2001
- Harrison, A. F. (1987). Soil organic phosphorous: a review of world literature. https://worldveg.tind.io/record/17888/

Hartman, W. H., & Richardson, C. J. (2013). Differential nutrient limitation of soil microbial biomass and

metabolic quotients (q CO2): is there a biological stoichiometry of soil microbes?. *PloS one*, *8*(3), e57127. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057127

- Hättenschwiler, S., Fromin, N., & Barantal, S. (2011). Functional diversity of terrestrial microbial decomposers and their substrates. *Comptes Rendus - Biologies*, 334(5–6), 393–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crvi.2011.03.001
- Haygarth, P. M., ... R. D. B.-S. conditions and plant, & 2013, U. (2013). Nitrogen and phosphorus cycles and their management. Wiley Online Library.
   https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/9781118337295#page=141
- He, J., Jin, Y., Du, Y. L., Wang, T., Turner, N. C., Yang, R. P., ... & Li, F. M. (2017). Genotypic variation in yield, yield components, root morphology and architecture, in soybean in relation to water and phosphorus supply. *Frontiers in plant science*, *8*, 1499. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01499
- Heath, R. T. (2005). Microbial turnover of organic phosphorus in aquatic systems. *Organic phosphorus in the environment*, 185-203.
- Heberle, H., Meirelles, V. G., da Silva, F. R., Telles, G. P., & Minghim, R. (2015). InteractiVenn: A web-based tool for the analysis of sets through Venn diagrams. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12859-015-0611-3
- Heuck, C., Weig, A., & Spohn, M. (2015). Soil microbial biomass C: N: P stoichiometry and microbial use oforganic phosphorus. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *85*, 119–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.02.029
- Hignett, T. P. (1985). History of Chemical Fertilizers. In *Fertilizer Manual* (pp. 3–10). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-1538-6\_1
- Hilderbrand, R. L. (2018). The role of phosphonates in living systems. CRC Press.
- Hinsinger, P. (2001). Bioavailability of soil inorganic P in the rhizosphere as affected by root-induced chemical changes: a review. *Plant and soil*, *237*(2), 173-195. https://doi.org/10.1023/A
- Hirzel, Juan, & Undurraga, P. (2013). Nutritional Management of Cereals Cropped Under Irrigation Conditions. In Crop Production. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/56095

- Hossain, M. Z., Okubo, A., & Sugiyama, S. (2010). *Effects of grassland species on decomposition of litter* and soil microbial communities. 255–261. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-009-0648-8
- Houlton, B. Z., Wang, Y., Vitousek, P. M., & Field, C. B. (2008). *LETTERS A unifying framework for dinitrogen fixation in the terrestrial biosphere*. *454*(July), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07028
- Hsieh, Y. J., & Wanner, B. L. (2010). Global regulation by the seven-component Pi signaling system. In *Current Opinion in Microbiology* (Vol. 13, Issue 2, pp. 198–203). Elsevier Current Trends. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2010.01.014
- Hu, Y., Xia, Y., Sun, Q., Liu, K., Chen, X., Ge, T., Zhu, B., Zhu, Z., Zhang, Z., & Su, Y. (2018). Effects of longterm fertilization on phoD-harboring bacterial community in Karst soils. *Science of the Total Environment*, 628–629, 53–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.01.314
- Huson, D. H., Mitra, S., Ruscheweyh, H. J., Weber, N., & Schuster, S. C. (2011). Integrative analysis of environmental sequences using MEGAN4. *Genome Research*, 21(9), 1552–1560. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.120618.111
- Jia, M., Wang, F., Bian, Y., Stedtfeld, R. D., Liu, G., Yu, J., & Jiang, X. (2018). Sorption of sulfamethazine to biochars as affected by dissolved organic matters of different origin. *Bioresource Technology*, 248(June), 36–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.08.082
- Jiao, F., Shi, X. R., Han, F. P., & Yuan, Z. Y. (2016). Increasing aridity, temperature and soil pH induce soil C-N-P imbalance in grasslands. *Scientific Reports*, *6*(January), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep19601
- Joergensen, R. G. (1996). The fumigation-extraction method to estimate soil microbial biomass: Calibration of the kEC value. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *28*(1), 25–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(95)00102-6
- Joergensen, R. G., & Mueller, T. (1996). The fumigation-extraction method to estimate soil microbial biomass: Calibration of the kEN value. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *28*(1), 33–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(95)00101-8
- Johnston, A. E., Poulton, P. R., Fixen, P. E., & Curtin, D. (2014). Phosphorus. Its Efficient Use in Agriculture. In Advances in Agronomy (1st ed., Vol. 123). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-420225-2.00005-4

- Jones, C., Olson-Rutz, K., & Dinkins, C. P. (2011). *Nutrient Uptake Timing by Crops. Montana State University. Montana, United State of America. October.* http://landresources.montana.edu/soilfertility/documents/PDF/pub/NutUpTimeEB0191.pdf
- Kim, K. Y., McDonald, G. A., & Jordan, D. (1997). Solubilization of hydroxyapatite by Enterobacter agglomerans and cloned Escherichia coli in culture medium. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 24(4), 347-352.
- Jorquera, M., Martínez, O., Maruyama, F., Marschner, P., & De La Luz Mora, M. (2008). Current and future biotechnological applications of bacterial phytases and phytase-producing bacteria. *Microbes and Environments*, *23*(3), 182–191. https://doi.org/10.1264/jsme2.23.182
- Kageyama, H., Tripathi, K., Rai, A. K., Cha-Um, S., Waditee-Sirisattha, R., & Takabe, T. (2011). An alkaline phosphatase/phosphodiesterase, PhoD, induced by salt stress and secreted out of the cells of Aphanothece halophytica, a halotolerant cyanobacterium. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77(15), 5178–5183. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00667-11
- Kaminsky, R., Trouche, B., & Morales, S. E. (2017). Soil classification predicts differences in prokaryotic communities across a range of geographically distant soils once pH is accounted for. *Scientific Reports*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep45369
- Kanehisa, M., & Goto, S. (2000). KEGG: kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genomes. *Nucleic acids research*, *28*(1), 27-30.
- Kanehisa, M., Furumichi, M., Tanabe, M., Sato, Y., Morishima, K., Kawashima, M., Furumichi, M., Tanabe, M., Goto, S., Sato, Y., Kawashima, M., Furumichi, M., & Tanabe, M. (2016). KEGG as a reference resource for gene and protein annotation. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44(D1), D457–D462. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv1070
- Karhu, K., Mattila, T., Bergström, I., & Regina, K. (2011). Biochar addition to agricultural soil increased CH4 uptake and water holding capacity - Results from a short-term pilot field study. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 140(1–2), 309–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2010.12.005
- Kaur R, Kaur S. (2020). Variation in the Phosphate Solubilizing Bacteria from Virgin and the Agricultural Soils of Punjab. Curr Microbiol. 77(9):2118-2127. doi: 10.1007/s00284-020-02080-6. Epub 2020 Jun

11. PMID: 32529483.

- Khan, A. A., Jilani, G., Akhtar, M. S., Saqlan, S. M., & Rasheed, M. (2009). Phosphorus Solubilizing Bacteria:
   Occurrence, MMechanisms, and their Role in Crop Production. *Journal of Agriculture and Biological Sciences*, 1(1), 48–58.
- Khan, M. S., Zaidi, A., & Musarrat, J. (2014). Phosphate solubilizing microorganisms: Principles and application of microphos technology. In *Phosphate Solubilizing Microorganisms: Principles and Application of Microphos Technology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08216-5
- Kim, K. Y., McDonald, G. A., & Jordan, D. (1997). Solubilization of hydroxyapatite by Enterobacter agglomerans and cloned Escherichia coli in culture medium. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 24(4), 347– 352. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003740050256
- Kimura, S., Shiraiwa, Y., & Suzuki, I. (2009). Function of the N-terminal region of the phosphate-sensing histidine kinase, SphS, in Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803. *Microbiology*, 155(7), 2256–2264. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.028514-0
- Kirkby, C. A., Richardson, A. E., Wade, L. J., Batten, G. D., Blanchard, C., & Kirkegaard, J. A. (2013). Carbonnutrient stoichiometry to increase soil carbon sequestration. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 60, 77– 86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.01.011
- Knight, R., Jansson, J., Field, D., Fierer, N., Desai, N., Fuhrman, J. A., Hugenholtz, P., Van Der Lelie, D., Meyer, F., Stevens, R., Bailey, M. J., Gordon, J. I., Kowalchuk, G. A., & Gilbert, J. A. (2012). Unlocking the potential of metagenomics through replicated experimental design. In *Nature Biotechnology* (Vol. 30, Issue 6, pp. 513–520). https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2235
- Koide, R. T., & Kabir, Z. (2000). Extraradical hyphae of the mycorrhizal fungus Glomus intraradices can hydrolyse organic phosphate. In *RESEARCH New Phytol* (Vol. 148).
- Kong, L., Gao, Y., Zhou, Q., Zhao, X., & Sun, Z. (2018). Biochar accelerates PAHs biodegradation in petroleum-polluted soil by biostimulation strategy. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 343, 276–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2017.09.040
- Kornberg, A. (1995). Inorganic polyphosphate: Toward making a forgotten polymer unforgettable. In *Journal of Bacteriology* (Vol. 177, Issue 3, pp. 491–496). American Society for Microbiology.

https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.177.3.491-496.1995

- Kulaev, I. S., & Vagabov, V. M. (1983). Polyphosphate Metabolism in Micro-Organisms. Advances in Microbial Physiology, 24(C), 83–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2911(08)60385-9
- Kulakova, A. N., Kulakov, L. A., McGrath, J. W., & Quinn, J. P. (2009). The construction of a whole-cell biosensor for phosphonoacetate, based on the LysR-like transcriptional regulator PhnR from Pseudomonas fluorescens 23F. *Microbial Biotechnology*, 2(2 SPEC. ISS.), 234–240. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-7915.2008.00082.x
- Kumar, A., Chanderman, A., Makolomakwa, M., Perumal, K., & Singh, S. (2016). Microbial production of phytases for combating environmental phosphate pollution and other diverse applications. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 46(6), 556–591. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2015.1131562
- Lang, F., Krüger, J., Amelung, W., Willbold, S., Frossard, E., Bünemann, E. K., Chmara, I. (2017). Soil phosphorus supply controls P nutrition strategies of beech forest ecosystems in Central Europe. *Biogeochemistry*, *136*(1), 5-29.
- Lehmann, J., Kinyangi, J., & Solomon, D. (2007). Organic matter stabilization in soil microaggregates: Implications from spatial heterogeneity of organic carbon contents and carbon forms. *Biogeochemistry*, 85(1), 45–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-007-9105-3
- Leinweber, P., Hagemann, P., Kebelmann, L., Kebelmann, K., & Morshedizad, M. (2018). Bone char as a novel phosphorus fertilizer. In *Phosphorus Recovery and Recycling* (pp. 419–432). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-8031-9\_29
- Lenth, R. V., 2017. Using Ismeans. Available in: https://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/Ismeans/vignettes/using-Ismeans.pdf

Li, F., Liang, X., Niyungeko, C., Sun, T., Liu, F., & Arai, Y. (2019). Effects of biochar amendments on soil phosphorus transformation in agricultural soils. In *Advances in Agronomy* (1st ed., Vol. 158). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.agron.2019.07.002

Li, H., Bi, Q., Yang, K., bo Lasson, S., Zheng, B., Cui, L., Ding, K. (2020). High starter phosphorus fertilization facilitates soil phosphorus turnover by promoting microbial functional interaction in an arable

soil. Journal of Environmental Sciences, 94, 179-185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jes.2020.03.040

- Li, L. J., Zeng, D. H., Mao, R., & Yu, Z. Y. (2012). Nitrogen and phosphorus resorption of Artemisia scoparia, Chenopodium acuminatum, Cannabis sativa, and Phragmites communis under nitrogen and phosphorus additions in a semiarid grassland, China. *Plant, Soil and Environment*, *58*(10), 446–451. https://doi.org/10.17221/6339-pse
- Li, L., Li, S. M., Sun, J. H., Zhou, L. L., Bao, X. G., Zhang, H. G., & Zhang, F. S. (2007). Diversity enhances agricultural productivity via rhizosphere phosphorus facilitation on phosphorus-deficient soils. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(27), 11192– 11196. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0704591104
- Li, S., Tighe, S. W., Nicolet, C. M., Grove, D., Levy, S., Farmerie, W., Viale, A., Wright, C., Schweitzer, P. A., Gao, Y., Kim, D., Boland, J., Hicks, B., Kim, R., Chhangawala, S., Jafari, N., Raghavachari, N., Gandara, J., Garcia-Reyero, N., ... Mason, C. E. (2014). Multi-platform assessment of transcriptome profiling using RNA-seq in the ABRF next-generation sequencing study. *Nature Biotechnology*, *32*(9), 915–925. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2972
- Li, X., Rui, J., Xiong, J., Li, J., He, Z., Zhou, J., Yannarell, A. C., & Mackie, R. I. (2014). Functional potential of soil microbial communities in the maize rhizosphere. *PLoS ONE*, 9(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0112609
- Liang, J. L., Liu, J., Jia, P., Yang, T. tao, Zeng, Q. wei, Zhang, S. chang, Liao, B., Shu, W. sheng, & Li, J. tian.
   (2020). Novel phosphate-solubilizing bacteria enhance soil phosphorus cycling following ecological restoration of land degraded by mining. *ISME Journal*, 14(6), 1600–1613. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-020-0632-4
- Liang, R., & Li, C. (2003). Differences in cluster-root formation and carboxylate exudation in Lupinus albus
  L. under different nutrient deficiencies. *Plant and Soil*, 248(1–2), 221–227. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022367513025
- Lim, D., Golovan, S., Forsberg, C. W., & Jia, Z. (2000). Crystal structures of Escherichia coli phytase and its complex with phytate. *Nature Structural Biology*, *7*(2), 108–113. https://doi.org/10.1038/72371

Lim, P. E., (BBA)-Enzymology, M. E. T.-B. et B. A., & 1973, U. (1973). The phytases. II. Properties of phytase

fractions F1 and F2 from wheat bran and the myo-inositol phosphates produced by fraction F2. *Elsevier*. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0005274473901605

- Liu, J., Cade-Menun, B. J., Yang, J., Hu, Y., Liu, C. W., Tremblay, J., LaForge, K., Schellenberg, M., Hamel, C., & Bainard, L. D. (2018). Long-term land use affects phosphorus speciation and the composition of phosphorus cycling genes in agricultural soils. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *9*(JUL), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01643
- Liu, W., Yang, H., Ciais, P., Stamm, C., Zhao, X., Williams, J. R., Abbaspour, K. C., & Schulin, R. (2018).
   Integrative Crop-Soil-Management Modeling to Assess Global Phosphorus Losses from Major Crop
   Cultivations. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 32(7), 1074–1086.
   https://doi.org/10.1029/2017GB005849
- Lombard, N., Prestat, E., van Elsas, J. D., & Simonet, P. (2011). Soil-specific limitations for access and analysis of soil microbial communities by metagenomics. In *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* (Vol. 78, Issue 1, pp. 31–49). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2011.01140.x
- Long, X. E., Yao, H., Huang, Y., Wei, W., & Zhu, Y. G. (2018). Phosphate levels influence the utilisation of rice rhizodeposition carbon and the phosphate-solubilising microbial community in a paddy soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *118*, 103–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2017.12.014
- Lu, C., & Tian, H. (2017). Global nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizer use for agriculture production in the past half century: Shifted hot spots and nutrient imbalance. *Earth System Science Data*, 9(1), 181– 192. https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-9-181-2017
- Lueders, T., Manefield, M., & Friedrich, M. W. (2004). Enhanced sensitivity of DNA- and rRNA-based stable isotope probing by fractionation and quantitative analysis of isopycnic centrifugation gradients. *Environmental Microbiology*, *6*(1), 73–78. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1462-2920.2003.00536.x
- Lun, F., Liu, J., Ciais, P., Nesme, T., Chang, J., Wang, R., Goll, D., Sardans, J., Peñuelas, J., & Obersteiner, M. (2017). Global and regional phosphorus budgets in agricultural systems and their implications for phosphorus-use efficiency. *Earth System Science Data Discussions*, 10(1), 1–45. https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-2017-41

Luo, G., Ling, N., Nannipieri, P., Chen, H., Raza, W., Wang, M., Guo, S., & Shen, Q. (2017). Long-term

fertilisation regimes affect the composition of the alkaline phosphomonoesterase encoding microbial community of a vertisol and its derivative soil fractions. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *53*(4), 375–388. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-017-1183-3

- Luo, H. Y., Lee, S. K., & He, J. (2009). Integrated Effects of Root-Zone Temperatures and Phosphorus Levels on Aeroponically-Grown Lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.) in the Tropics. *The Open Horticulture Journal*, 2(1), 6–12. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874840600902010006
- MacDonald, G. K., Bennett, E. M., Potter, P. A., & Ramankutty, N. (2011). Agronomic phosphorus imbalances across the world's croplands. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *108*(7), 3086–3091. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1010808108
- Magota, K., Otsuji, N., Miki, T., Horiuchi, T., Tsunasawa, S., Kondo, J., Sakiyama, F., Amemura, M., Morita, T., & Shinagawa, H. (1984). Nucleotide sequence of the phoS gene, the structural gene for the phosphate-binding protein of Escherichia coli. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *157*(3), 909–917. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.157.3.909-917.1984
- Makoi, J. H. J. R., & Ndakidemi, P. A. (2008). Selected soil enzymes: Examples of their potential roles in the ecosystem. 7(3), 181–191.
- Mander, C., Wakelin, S., Young, S., Condron, L., & O'Callaghan, M. (2012). Incidence and diversity of phosphate-solubilising bacteria are linked to phosphorus status in grassland soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 44(1), 93–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.09.009
- Margalef, O., Sardans, J., Fernández-Martínez, M., Molowny-Horas, R., Janssens, I. A., Ciais, P., Goll, D., Richter, A., Obersteiner, M., Asensio, D., & Peñuelas, J. (2017). Global patterns of phosphatase activity in natural soils. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-01418-8
- Margenot, A. (2016). Positive and Negative Effects of Phosphorus Fertilizer on U.S. Agriculture and the Environment. In *Soil Phosphorus* (Issue August, pp. 35–54). https://doi.org/10.1201/9781315372327-9
- Marklein, A. R., & Houlton, B. Z. (2012). Nitrogen inputs accelerate phosphorus cycling rates across a wide variety of terrestrial ecosystems. *New Phytologist*, 193(3), 696–704. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2011.03967.x

- Marschner, H. (2015). San Diego New York Boston Sydney Tokyo Toronto, L. *Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants Second Edition ACADEMIC PRESS.*
- Martin-Laurent, F., Philippot, L., Hallet, S., Chaussod, R., Germon, J. C., Soulas, G., & Catroux, G. (2001).
   DNA Extraction from Soils: Old Bias for New Microbial Diversity Analysis Methods. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67(5), 2354–2359. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.67.5.2354-2359.2001
- McGrath, J W, Ternan, N. G., & Quinn, J. P. (1997). Utilization of organophosphonates by environmental microorganisms. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 24(1), 69–73. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1472-765X.1997.00350.x
- McGrath, John W., Chin, J. P., & Quinn, J. P. (2013). Organophosphonates revealed: New insights into the microbial metabolism of ancient molecules. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 11(6), 412–419. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3011
- McGrath, John W, Wisdom, G. B., McMullan, G., Larkin, M. J., & Quinn, J. P. (1995). The Purification and Properties of Phosphonoacetate Hydrolase, a Novel Carbon-Phosphorus Bond-Cleavage Enzyme from Pseudomonas Fluorescens 23F. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 234(1), 225–230. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-1033.1995.225 c.x
- McMullan, G., & Quinn, J. P. (1994). In Vitro Characterization of a Phosphate Starvation-Independent Carbon-Phosphorus Bond Cleavage Activity in Pseudomonas fluorescens 23F. JOURNAL OF BACTERIOLOGY, 176(2), 320–324. http://jb.asm.org/
- Miller, R. M., & Lodge, D. J. (1997). Fungal responses to disturbance: agriculture and forestry. *The mycota*, *4*, 65-84.
- Mizuno, H., Tanaka, Y., Nakai, K., & Sarai, A. (2001). ORI-GENE: gene classification based on the evolutionary tree. In *BIOINFORMATICS* (Vol. 17, Issue 2). http://www.rtc.riken.go.jp/jouhou/ORI-GENE.
- Mogollón, J. M., Beusen, A. H. W., Grinsven, H. J. M. Van, Westhoek, H., & Bouwman, A. F. (2018). Future agricultural phosphorus demand according to the shared socioeconomic pathways. *Global Environmental Change*, *50*(March), 149–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2018.03.007
- Möller, K., Oberson, A., Bünemann, E. K., Cooper, J., Friedel, J. K., Glæsner, N., Hörtenhuber, S., Løes, A.

K., Mäder, P., Meyer, G., Müller, T., Symanczik, S., Weissengruber, L., Wollmann, I., & Magid, J. (2018). Improved Phosphorus Recycling in Organic Farming: Navigating Between Constraints. *Advances in Agronomy*, *147*, 159–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.agron.2017.10.004

- Monds, R. D., Newell, P. D., Schwartzman, J. A., & O'toole, G. A. (2006). Conservation of the Pho regulon in Pseudomonas fluorescens Pf0-1. *APPLIED AND ENVIRONMENTAL MICROBIOLOGY*, *72*(3), 1910– 1924. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.72.3.1910-1924.2006
- Moorhead, D. L., & Sinsabaugh, R. L. (2006). A theoretical model of litter decay and microbial interaction. *Ecological Monographs*, 76(2), 151–174. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9615(2006)076[0151:ATMOLD]2.0.CO;2
- Mooshammer, M., Wanek, W., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., & Richter, A. (2014). Stoichiometric imbalances between terrestrial decomposer communities and their resources: Mechanisms and implications of microbial adaptations to their resources. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *5*(FEB), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00022
- Mora, M., Alfaro, M., Williams, P., Stehr, W., Plant, R. D.-J. S. S. and, & 2004, U. (2004). Effect of fertilizer input on soil acidification in relation to growth and chemical composition of a pasture and animal production.
- Morshedizad, M., & Leinweber, P. (2017). Leaching of Phosphorus and Cadmium in Soils Amended with Different Bone Chars. *Clean - Soil, Air, Water, 45*(8), 1600635. https://doi.org/10.1002/clen.201600635
- Morshedizad, M., Zimmer, D., & Leinweber, P. (2016). Effect of bone chars on phosphorus-cadmiuminteractions as evaluated by three extraction procedures. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, *179*(3), 388–398. https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.201500604
- Mukherjee, S., Huntemann, M., Ivanova, N., Kyrpides, N. C., & Pati, A. (2015). Large-scale contamination of microbial isolate genomes by illumina Phix control. *Standards in Genomic Sciences*, *10*(APRIL2015), 18. https://doi.org/10.1186/1944-3277-10-18
- Mullaney, E. J., & Ullah, A. H. J. (2003). The term phytase comprises several different classes of enzymes. *Naldc.Nal.Usda.Gov.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2003.09.176

- Nakata, A., Amemura, M., & Shinagawa, H. (1984). Regulation of the phosphate regulon in Escherichia coli
   K-12: Regulation of the negative regulatory gene phoU and identification of the gene product.
   *Journal of Bacteriology*, 159(3), 979–985. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.159.3.979-985.1984
- Nannipieri, P., Giagnoni, L., Landi, L., & Renella, G. (2011a). *Phosphorus in Action*. *26*, 215–243. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-15271-9
- Nannipieri, P., Giagnoni, L., Landi, L., & Renella, G. (2011b). *Role of Phosphatase Enzymes in Soil* (pp. 215–243). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-15271-9\_9
- Neal, A. L., Blackwell, M., Akkari, E., Guyomar, C., Clark, I., & Hirsch, P. R. (2018). *Phylogenetic distribution, bbiogeography,and the effects of land management upon bacterial non-specific Acid phosphatase Gene diversity and abundance*. 175–189. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-017-3301-2
- Nedelciu, C. E., Ragnarsdóttir, K. V., & Stjernquist, I. (2019). From waste to resource: A systems dynamics and stakeholder analysis of phosphorus recycling from municipal wastewater in Europe. *Ambio*, 48(7), 741–751. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-018-1097-9
- Nosrati, R., Owlia, P., Saderi, H., Rasooli, I., & Malboobi, M. A. (2014). Phosphate solubilization characteristics of efficient nitrogen fixing soil Azotobacter strains. *Iranian Journal of Microbiology*, *6*(4), 285–295.
- Novak, J. M., Lima, I., Xing, B., J. W. G.-A. of, & 2009, U. (2009). Characterization of designer biochar produced at different temperatures and their effects on a loamy sand. *Academia.Edu*. https://www.academia.edu/download/42103630/Characterization\_of\_Designer\_Biochar\_Pro2016 0204-30232-4m4mi3.pdf
- O'Loughlin, S. N., Graham, R. L., McMullan, G., & Ternan, N. G. (2006). A role for carbon catabolite repression in the metabolism of phosphonoacetate by Agromyces fucosus Vs2. *FEMS microbiology letters*, *261*(1), 133-140.
- Oades, J. M., Research, A. G. W.-S., & 1991, U. (1991). Aggregate hierarchy in soils. *CSIRO*. http://www.publish.csiro.au/sr/SR9910815
- Oberson, A., Besson, J. M., Maire, N., & Sticher, H. (1996). Microbiological processes in soil organic phosphorus transformations in conventional and biological cropping systems. *Biology and Fertility*

of Soils, 21(3), 138-148. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00335925

- Oehl, F., Oberson, A., Probst, M., Fliessbach, A., Roth, H. R., & Frossard, E. (2001). Kinetics of microbial phosphorus uptake in cultivated soils. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *34*(1), 31–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003740100362
- Oelkers, E. H., & Valsami-Jones, E. (2008). Phosphate mineral reactivity and global sustainability. *Elements*, 4(2), 83–87. https://doi.org/10.2113/GSELEMENTS.4.2.83
- Ohtake, H., Takahashi, K., Tsuzuki, Y., & Toda, K. (1985). Uptake and release of phosphate by a pure culture of Acinetobacter calcoaceticus. *Water Research*, *19*(12), 1587–1594. https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(85)90404-X
- Ohtake, H., Wu, H., Imazu, K., Anbe, Y., Kato, J., & Kuroda, A. (1996). Bacterial phosphonate degradation, phosphite oxidation and polyphosphate accumulation. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, *18*(1–4), 125–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-3449(96)01173-1
- Ohtonen, R., Aikio, S., & Väre, H. (1997). Ecological theories in soil biology. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *29*(11-12), 1613-1619.
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F. G., Kindt, R., & Legendre, P. (2015). Vegan: community ecology package. R package vegan, vers. 2.2-1.
- Olander, L. P., & Vitousek, P. M. (2000). Regulation of soil phosphatase and chitinase activity by N and P availability. *Biogeochemistry*, *49*(2), 175–190. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006316117817
- Olander, L. P., & Vitousek, P. M. (2004). Biological and geochemical sinks for phosphorus in soil from a wet tropical forest. *Ecosystems*, 7(4), 404–419. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-004-0264-y
- Overbeek, R., Begley, T., Butler, R. M., Choudhuri, J. V., Chuang, H. Y., Cohoon, M., de Crécy-Lagard, V., Diaz, N., Disz, T., Edwards, R., Fonstein, M., Frank, E. D., Gerdes, S., Glass, E. M., Goesmann, A., Hanson, A., Iwata-Reuyl, D., Jensen, R., Jamshidi, N., Vonstein, V. (2005). The subsystems approach to genome annotation and its use in the project to annotate 1000 genomes. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *33*(17), 5691–5702. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gki866

Panten, K., & Leinweber, P. (2020). Agronomic evaluation of bone char as phosphorus fertiliser after five

years of consecutive application. *Journal Fur Kulturpflanzen*, *72*(12), 561–576. https://doi.org/10.5073/JfK.2020.12.02

- Pathiratna, L. S. S., Waidyanatha, U. P. D. S., & Peries, O. S. (1989). The effect of apatite and elemental sulphur mixtures on growth and P content of Centrocema pubescens. *Fertilizer Research*, *21*(1), 37–43. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01054734
- Peñuelas, J., Poulter, B., Sardans, J., Ciais, P., Van Der Velde, M., Bopp, L., Boucher, O., Godderis, Y., Hinsinger, P., Llusia, J., Nardin, E., Vicca, S., Obersteiner, M., & Janssens, I. A. (2013). Human-induced nitrogen-phosphorus imbalances alter natural and managed ecosystems across the globe. *Nature Communications*, 4. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3934
- Petersen, L., & Esbensen, K. H. (2005). Representative process sampling for reliable data analysis A tutorial. *Journal of Chemometrics*, *19*(11–12), 625–647. https://doi.org/10.1002/cem.968
- Peterson, C. N., Mandel, M. J., & Silhavy, T. J. (2005). Escherichia coli starvation diets: Essential nutrients weigh in distinctly. In *Journal of Bacteriology* (Vol. 187, Issue 22, pp. 7549–7553). American Society for Microbiology Journals. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.187.22.7549-7553.2005
- Pierzynski, G. M., McDowell, R. W., & Sims, J. T. (2015). Chemistry, cycling, and potential movement of inorganic phosphorus in soils. In *Phosphorus: Agriculture and the Environment* (pp. 53–86). wiley. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronmonogr46.c3
- Pietramellara, G., Ascher-Jenull, J., Borgogni, F., & Ceccherini, M. T. (2008). Extracellular DNA in soil and sediment: Fate and ecological relevance Basic soil ecology View project GeOEVO App-A new decision support technology for authentication and geographic traceability of extra virgin olive oil View project. Article in Biology and Fertility of Soils, 45(3), 219–235. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-008-0345-8
- Pikovskaya RI (1948). Mobilization of phosphorus in soil connection with the vital activity of some microbial species. Microbiologiya 17 : 362–370.
- Piotrowska-Długosz, A., & Wilczewski, E. (2014). Soil phosphatase activity and phosphorus content as influenced by catch crops cultivated as green manure. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, *23*(1), 157–165.

- Postma, J., Nijhuis, E. H., & Someus, E. (2010). Selection of phosphorus solubilizing bacteria with biocontrol potential for growth in phosphorus rich animal bone charcoal. *Applied Soil Ecology*, *46*(3), 464–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2010.08.016
- Powers, S. M., Bruulsema, T. W., Burt, T. P., Chan, N. I., Elser, J. J., Haygarth, P. M., Howden, N. J. K., Jarvie,
  H. P., Lyu, Y., & Peterson, H. M. (2016). Long-term accumulation and transport of anthropogenic phosphorus in three river basins. 9(May). https://doi.org/10.1038/NGEO2693
- Prestat, E., David, M. M., Hultman, J., Taş, N., Lamendella, R., Dvornik, J., Mackelprang, R., Myrold, D. D., Jumpponen, A., Tringe, S. G., Holman, E., Mavromatis, K., & Jansson, J. K. (2014). FOAM (Functional Ontology Assignments for Metagenomes): A Hidden Markov Model (HMM) database with environmental focus. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42(19), e145–e145. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku702
- Prosser, J. I. (2015). Dispersing misconceptions and identifying opportunities for the use of omics' in soil microbial ecology. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, *13*(7), 439-446. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3468
- Prosser, J. I. (2017). Advances in the study of the microbiome. In *Microbiology Today* (Vol. 44, Issue 2, pp. 95–96). https://abdn.pure.elsevier.com/en/publications/advances-in-the-study-of-the-microbiome
- Puhl, A. A., Gruninger, R. J., Greiner, R., Janzen, T. W., Mosimann, S. C., & Selinger, L. B. (2007). Kinetic and structural analysis of a bacterial protein tyrosine phosphatase-like myo -inositol polyphosphatase. *Protein Science*, *16*(7), 1368–1378. https://doi.org/10.1110/ps.062738307
- Quinn, J. P., Kulakova, A. N., Cooley, N. A., & McGrath, J. W. (2007). New ways to break an old bond: The bacterial carbon-phosphorus hydrolases and their role in biogeochemical phosphorus cycling. *Environmental Microbiology*, 9(10), 2392–2400. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2007.01397.x
- Ragot, S. A., Huguenin-Elie, O., Kertesz, M. A., Frossard, E., & Bünemann, E. K. (2016). Total and active microbial communities and phoD as affected by phosphate depletion and pH in soil. *Plant and Soil*, 408(1–2), 15–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-016-2902-5
- Ragot, S. A., Kertesz, M. A., & Bünemann, E. K. (2015). phoD alkaline phosphatase gene diversity in soil. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *81*(20), 7281–7289. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01823-

- Raiesi, T., & Hosseinpur, A. R. (2017). Phosphorus Availability and Some Biological Properties in the Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris) Rhizosphere. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 48(5), 501–510. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624.2016.1253712
- Randall, K., Brennan, F., Clipson, N., Creamer, R., Griffiths, B., Storey, S., & Doyle, E. (2019). Soil bacterial community structure and functional responses across a long-term mineral phosphorus (Pi) fertilisation gradient differ in grazed and cut grasslands. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 138, 134–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2019.02.002
- Rao, N. N., & Torriani, A. (1990). Molecular aspects of phosphate transport in Escherichia coli. *Molecular microbiology*, 4(7), 1083-1090.
- Rees, D. C., Johnson, E., & Lewinson, O. (2009). ABC transporters: The power to change. In *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* (Vol. 10, Issue 3, pp. 218–227). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2646
- Rengel, Z., & Marschner, P. (2005). Nutrient availability and management in the rhizosphere: exploiting genotypic differences. *New Phytologist*, *168*(2), 305–312. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2005.01558.x
- Richardson, A. E., & Simpson, R. J. (2011). Soil microorganisms mediating phosphorus availability. *Plant Physiology*, *156*(3), 989–996. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.111.175448
- Roba, T. B. (2018). Review on: The Effect of Mixing Organic and Inorganic Fertilizer on Productivity and Soil Fertility. OALib, 05(06), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.4236/oalib.1104618
- Rodriguez-R, L. M., & Konstantinidis, K. T. (2014). Estimating coverage in metagenomic data sets and why it matters. In *ISME Journal* (Vol. 8, Issue 11, pp. 2349–2351). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2014.76
- Rodríguez, H., & Fraga, R. (1999). Phosphate solubilizing bacteria and their role in plant growth promotion. *Biotechnology Advances*, *17*(4–5), 319–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0734-9750(99)00014-2
- Römer, W., & Schilling, G. (1986). Phosphorus requirements of the wheat plant in various stages of its life cycle. *Plant and Soil*, *91*(2), 221–229. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02181789

- Ronsse, F., van Hecke, S., Dickinson, D., & Prins, W. (2013). Production and characterization of slow pyrolysis biochar: Influence of feedstock type and pyrolysis conditions. *GCB Bioenergy*, *5*(2), 104–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12018
- Rosenberg, E., DeLong, E. F., Lory, S., Stackebrandt, E., & Thompson, F. (2014). The prokaryotes: Actinobacteria. In *The Prokaryotes: Actinobacteria*. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-30138-4
- Rossolini, G. M., Schippa, S., Riccio, M. L., Berlutti, F., Macaskie, L. E., & Thaller, M. C. (1998). Bacterial nonspecific acid phosphohydrolases: Physiology, evolution and use as tools in microbial biotechnology. In *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* (Vol. 54, Issue 8, pp. 833–850). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/s000180050212
- Saha, S., Prakash, V., Kundu, S., Kumar, N., & Mina, B. L. (2008). Soil enzymatic activity as affected by long term application of farmyard manure and mineral fertilizer under a rainfed soybean-wheat system in N-W Himalaya. *European Journal of Soil Biology*, 44(3), 309–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi.2008.02.004
- Santos-Beneit, F. (2015). The Pho regulon: A huge regulatory network in bacteria. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *6*(APR), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00402
- Sattari, S. Z., Bouwman, A. F., Giller, K. E., & Van Ittersum, M. K. (2012). Residual soil phosphorus as the missing piece in the global phosphorus crisis puzzle. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *109*(16), 6348–6353. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1113675109
- Schie, B. J., Dijken, J. P., & Kuenen, J. G. (1984). Non-coordinated synthesis of glucose dehydrogenase and its prosthetic group PQQ in *Acinetobacter* and *Pseudomonas* species. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 24(1), 133–138. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1984.tb01259.x
- Scholz, R. W., Ulrich, A. E., Eilittä, M., & Roy, A. (2013). Sustainable use of phosphorus: A finite resource. *Science of the Total Environment*, 461–462, 799–803. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.05.043
- Schubert, M., Lindgreen, S., & Orlando, L. (2016). AdapterRemoval v2: Rapid adapter trimming, identification, and read merging. *BMC Research Notes*, *9*(1), 88. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-

85

- Seeling, B., & Zasoski, R. J. (1993). Microbial effects in maintaining organic and inorganic solution phosphorus concentrations in a grassland topsoil. *Plant and Soil*, *148*(2), 277–284. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00012865
- Seshachala, U., & Tallapragada, P. (2012). Solubilizadores de fosfatos desde la rizósfera de Piper nigrum L.
   en Karnataka, India. *Chilean Journal of Agricultural Research*, 72(3), 397–403.
   https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-58392012000300014
- Shade, A., & Handelsman, J. (2012). Beyond the Venn diagram: the hunt for a core microbiome. *Environmental Microbiology*, 14(1), 4–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02585.x
- Sharma, S. B., Sayyed, R. Z., Trivedi, M. H., & Gobi, T. A. (2013). Phosphate solubilizing microbes:
  Sustainable approach for managing phosphorus deficiency in agricultural soils. In *SpringerPlus* (Vol. 2, Issue 1, pp. 1–14). SpringerOpen. https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-1801-2-587
- Sharpley, A., Jarvie, H., Flaten, D., & Kleinman, P. (2018). Celebrating the 350th Anniversary of Phosphorus
   Discovery: A Conundrum of Deficiency and Excess. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 47(4), 774–777.
   https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2018.05.0170
- Shen, J., Yuan, L., Zhang, J., Li, H., Bai, Z., Chen, X., Zhang, W., & Zhang, F. (2011). Phosphorus dynamics: From soil to plant. *Plant Physiology*, *156*(3), 997–1005. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.111.175232
- Shi, L., & Hulett, F. M. (1999). The cytoplasmic kinase domain of PhoR is sufficient for the low phosphateinducible expression of Pho regulon genes in Bacillus subtilis. *Molecular Microbiology*, 31(1), 211– 222. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2958.1999.01163.x
- Siebers, N., Godlinski, F., & Leinweber, P. (2012). The phosphorus fertilizer value of bone char for potatoes, wheat and onions: first results. *Landbauforsch Volk*, *62*, 59-64.
- Siebers, N., & Leinweber, P. (2013). Bone Char: A Clean and Renewable Phosphorus Fertilizer with Cadmium Immobilization Capability. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *42*(2), 405–411. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2012.0363

Sims, J. T., Sharpley, A. N., Condron, L. M., Turner, B. L., & Cade-Menun, B. J. (2005). Chemistry and

Dynamics of Soil Organic Phosphorus. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronmonogr46.c4

- Singh, B., & Satyanarayana, T. (2011). Microbial phytases in phosphorus acquisition and plant growth promotion. In *Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants* (Vol. 17, Issue 2, pp. 93–103). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12298-011-0062-x
- Sistla, S. A., & Schimel, J. P. (2012). Stoichiometric flexibility as a regulator of carbon and nutrient cycling in terrestrial ecosystems under change. C.
- Slocombe, S. P., Zúñiga-Burgos, T., Chu, L., Wood, N. J., Camargo-Valero, M. A., & Baker, A. (2020). Fixing the broken phosphorus cycle: wastewater remediation by microalgal polyphosphates. *Frontiers in plant science*, *11*, 982.
- Smil, V. (2000). Phosphorus in the environment: natural flows and human interferences. *Annual review of energy and the environment*, *25*(1), 53-88.
- Sohrt, J., Lang, F., & Weiler, M. (2017). *Quantifying components of the phosphorus cycle in temperate* forests. https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1243
- Soong, J. L., Marañon-Jimenez, S., Cotrufo, M. F., Boeckx, P., Bodé, S., Guenet, B., Peñuelas, J., Richter, A., Stahl, C., Verbruggen, E., & Janssens, I. A. (2018). Soil microbial CNP and respiration responses to organic matter and nutrient additions: Evidence from a tropical soil incubation. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 122(April), 141–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2018.04.011
- Spohn, M., & Kuzyakov, Y. (2013). Phosphorus mineralization can be driven by microbial need for carbon. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 61, 69–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.02.013
- Stasi, R., Neves, H. I., & Spira, B. (2019). Phosphate uptake by the phosphonate transport system PhnCDE. BMC Microbiology, 19(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-019-1445-3
- Sterner, R. W., & Elser, J. J. (2002). Ecological Stoichiometry: The Biology of Elements from Molecules to the https://www.researchgate.net/publication/216814458\_Ecological\_Stoichiometry\_The\_Biology\_of \_Elements\_From\_Molecules\_to\_The\_Biosphere

Strickland, M. S., Lauber, C., Fierer, N., & Bradford, M. A. (2009). Testing the functional significance of

microbial community composition. Ecology, 90(2), 441–451. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-0296.1

- Stults, J. R., Snoeyenbos-West, O., Methe, B., Lovley, D. R., & Chandler, D. P. (2001). Application of the 5'
   Fluorogenic Exonuclease Assay (TaqMan) for Quantitative Ribosomal DNA and rRNA Analysis in
   Sediments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 67(6), 2781–2789.
   https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.67.6.2781-2789.2001
- Stutter, M. I., Shand, C. A., George, T. S., Blackwell, M. S. A., Dixon, L., Bol, R., MacKay, R. L., Richardson,
  A. E., Condron, L. M., & Haygarth, P. M. (2015). Land use and soil factors affecting accumulation of phosphorus species in temperate soils. *Geoderma*, 257–258, 29–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2015.03.020
- Syers, J. K., Johnston, A. E., & Curtin, D. (2008). Efficiency of soil and fertilizer phosphorus use. *FAO Fertilizer and plant nutrition bulletin*, *18*(108).
- Tan, H., Barret, M., Mooij, M. J., Rice, O., Morrissey, J. P., Dobson, A., Griffiths, B., & O'Gara, F. (2013). Long-term phosphorus fertilisation increased the diversity of the total bacterial community and the phoD phosphorus mineraliser group in pasture soils. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 49(6), 661–672. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-012-0755-5
- Tanuwidjaja, I., Vogel, C., Pronk, G. J., Schöler, A., Kublik, S., Vestergaard, G., Kögel-Knabner, I., Mrkonjic
   Fuka, M., Schloter, M., & Schulz, S. (2020). Microbial Key Players Involved in P Turnover Differ in
   Artificial Soil Mixtures Depending on Clay Mineral Composition. *Microbial Ecology*.
   https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-020-01635-1
- Tapia-Torres, Y., Rodríguez-Torres, M. D., Elser, J. J., Islas, A., Souza, V., García-Oliva, F., & Olmedo-Álvarez,
   G. (2016). How to live with phosphorus scarcity in soil and sediment: Lessons from bacteria. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *82*(15), 4652–4662. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00160-16
- Tarafdar, J. C., Yadav, R. S., & Meena, S. C. (2001). Comparative efficiency of acid phosphatase originated from plant and fungal sources. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 164(3), 279–282. https://doi.org/10.1002/1522-2624(200106)164:3<279::AID-JPLN279>3.0.CO;2-L
- Tatusov, R. L., Galperin, M. Y., Natale, D. A., & Koonin, E. V. (2000). The COG database: A tool for genomescale analysis of protein functions and evolution. In *Nucleic Acids Research* (Vol. 28, Issue 1, pp. 33–

36). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/28.1.33

- Tawaraya, K., Naito, M., & Wagatsuma, T. (2006). Solubilization of insoluble inorganic phosphate by hyphal exudates of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, *29*(4), 657–665. https://doi.org/10.1080/01904160600564428
- Thaller, M. C., Berlutt, F., Schippa, S., & Iori, P. (1995). Heterogeneous Patterns of Acid Phosphatases Containing Low-Molecular-Mass Polypeptides in Members of the Family Enterobacteriaceae Heterogeneous Patterns of Acid Phosphatases Containing Low-Molecular-Mass Polypeptides in Members of the Family Enterobacter. June 2014. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-45-2-255
- Thangarajan, R., Bolan, N. S., Kunhikrishnan, A., Wijesekara, H., & Xu, Y. (2018). Science of the Total Environment The potential value of biochar in the mitigation of gaseous emission of nitrogen. *Science of the Total Environment*, 612, 257–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.08.242
- Tomer, S., Suyal, D. C., & Goel, R. (2017). Biofertilizers: A timely approach for sustainable agriculture. In *Plant-Microbe Interaction: An Approach to Sustainable Agriculture* (pp. 375–395). Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-2854-0\_17
- Torriani, A. (1960). Influence of inorganic phosphate in the formation of phosphatases by Escherichia coli. *BBA - Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, *38*(C), 460–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3002(60)91281-6
- Totsche, K. U., Rennert, T., Gerzabek, M. H., Kögel-Knabner, I., Smalla, K., Spiteller, M., & Vogel, H. J. (2010). Biogeochemical interfaces in soil: The interdisciplinary challenge for soil science. In *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science* (Vol. 173, Issue 1, pp. 88–99). Wiley-VCH Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.200900105
- Touati, E., & Danchin, A. (1987). Cloning and characterization of the pH 2.5 acid phosphatase gene, appA: Cyclic AMP mediated negative regulation. *MGG Molecular & General Genetics*, *208*(3), 499–505. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00328146
- Töwe, S., Wallisch, S., Bannert, A., Fischer, D., Hai, B., Haesler, F., Kleineidam, K., & Schloter, M. (2011). Improved protocol for the simultaneous extraction and column-based separation of DNA and RNA from different soils. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, *84*(3), 406–412.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2010.12.028

- Treseder, K. K., & Vitousek, P. M. (2001). Effects of soil nutrient availability on investment in acquisition of N and P in Hawaiian rain forests. *Ecology*, *82*(4), 946–954. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2001)082[0946:EOSNAO]2.0.CO;2
- Turk Sekulić, M., Pap, S., Stojanović, Z., Bošković, N., Radonić, J., & Šolević Knudsen, T. (2018). Efficient removal of priority, hazardous ppriority, and emerging pollutants with Prunus armeniaca functionalized biochar from aqueous wastes: Experimental optimization and modeling. *Science of the Total Environment*, 613–614, 736–750. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.09.082
- Turner, Benjamin L., & Engelbrecht, B. M. J. (2011). Soil organic phosphorus in lowland tropical rain forests. *Biogeochemistry*, 103(1), 297–315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-010-9466-x
- Turner, Benjamin L., Frossard, E., & Baldwin, D. S. (2004). Organic phosphorus in the environment. In B. L.
   Turner, E. Frossard, & D. S. Baldwin (Eds.), *Organic Phosphorus in the Environment*. CABI.
   https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2005.0010br
- Turner, Benjamin L., & Haygarth, P. M. (2005). Phosphatase activity in temperate pasture soils: Potential regulation of labile organic phosphorus turnover by phosphodiesterase activity. *Science of the Total Environment*, 344(1-3 SPEC. ISS.), 27–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2005.02.003
- Turner, Benjamin L., McKelvie, I. D., & Haygarth, P. M. (2002). Characterisation of water-extractable soil organic phosphorus by phosphatase hydrolysis. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *34*(1), 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(01)00144-4
- Turner, Benjamin L. (2008). Resource partitioning for soil phosphorus: a hypothesis. *Journal of Ecology*, *96*(4), 698–702. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2008.01384.x
- Uksa, M., Schloter, M., Endesfelder, D., Kublik, S., Engel, M., Kautz, T., Köpke, U., & Fischer, D. (2015).
   Prokaryotes in Subsoil—Evidence for a Strong Spatial Separation of Different Phyla by Analysing Cooccurrence Networks. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6(NOV), 1269. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.01269
- Uroz, S., Calvaruso, C., Turpault, M. P., & Frey-Klett, P. (2009). Mineral weathering by bacteria: ecology, aactors, and mechanisms. In *Trends in Microbiology* (Vol. 17, Issue 8, pp. 378–387). Elsevier Current

Trends. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2009.05.004

- van Kleef, M. A., & Duine, J. A. (1989). Factors relevant in bacterial pyrroloquinoline quinone production. *Applied* and *Environmental Microbiology*, *55*(5), 1209–1213. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2547337
- Vance, E. D., Brookes, P. C., & Jenkinson, D. S. (1987). Microbial biomass measurements in forest soils: the use of the chloroform fumigation-incubation method in strongly acid soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *19*(6), 697-702.
- Vance, C. P., Uhde-Stone, C., & Allan, D. L. (2003). Phosphorus acquisition and use: critical adaptations by plants for securing a nonrenewable resource. *New Phytologist*, 157(3), 423–447. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.2003.00695.x
- Vestergaard, G., Schulz, S., Schöler, A., & Schloter, M. (2017). Making big data smart—how to use metagenomics to understand soil quality. In *Biology and Fertility of Soils* (Vol. 53, Issue 5, pp. 479– 484). Springer Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-017-1191-3
- Vincent, J. B., Crowder, M. W., & Averill, B. A. (1992). Hydrolysis of phosphate monoesters: a biological problem with multiple chemical solutions. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 17(3), 105–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/0968-0004(92)90246-6
- Vogeler, I., Rogasik, J., Funder, U., Panten, K., & Schnug, E. (2009). Effect of tillage systems and Pfertilization on soil physical and chemical properties, crop yield and nutrient uptake. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *103*(1), 137-143.
- Vuuren, D. P. Van, Bouwman, A. F., & Beusen, A. H. W. (2010). Phosphorus demand for the 1970 2100 period: A scenario analysis of resource depletion. *Global Environmental Change*, 20(3), 428–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2010.04.004
- Wade, S. R., Nunoura, T., & Antal, M. J. (2006). *Studies of the Flash Carbonization Process. 2. Violent Ignition Behavior of Pressurized Packed Beds of Biomass: A Factorial Study.* 3512–3519.
- Wakelin, S. A., Macdonald, L. M., Callaghan, M. O., Forrester, S. T., & Condron, L. E. O. M. (2014). Soil functional resistance and stability are linked to different ecosystem properties. 522–531. https://doi.org/10.1111/aec.12112

- Walker, T. W., & Syers, J. K. (1976). The fate of phosphorus during pedogenesis. *Geoderma*, 15(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7061(76)90066-5
- Wallenstein, M. D., & Weintraub, M. N. (2008). Emerging tools for measuring and modeling the in-situ activity of soil extracellular enzymes. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 40(9), 2098–2106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2008.01.024
- Wang, M. K., & Tzou, Y. M. (1995). Phosphate sorption by calcite, and iron-rich calcareous soils. *Geoderma*, 65(3–4), 249–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7061(95)94049-A
- Wang, Y., & Lambers, H. (2020). Root-released organic anions in response to low phosphorus availability: recent progress, cchallenges, and future perspectives. *Plant and Soil*, 447(1–2), 135–156. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-019-03972-8
- Wanner, B L. (1993). Gene regulation by phosphate in enteric bacteria. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, *51*(1), 47–54. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.240510110
- Wanner, B L. (1996). Phosphorus assimilation and control of the phosphate regulon. *Academia.Edu*. http://www.academia.edu/download/39249468/Wanner\_1996\_Ecoli\_Book\_2nd\_ed.pdf
- Wanner, B L, & Chang, B. D. (1987). The phoBR operon in Escherichia coli K-12. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *169*(12), 5569–5574. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.169.12.5569-5574.1987
- Wanner, Barry L. (1994). Molecular genetics of carbon-phosphorus bond cleavage in bacteria. *Biodegradation*, 5(3–4), 175–184. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00696458
- Warren, G. P., Robinson, J. S., & Someus, E. (2009). Dissolution of phosphorus from animal bone char in 12 soils. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, *84*(2), 167–178. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10705-008-9235-6
- Wei, X., Hu, Y., Peng, P., Zhu, Z., Atere, C. T., O'Donnell, A. G., Wu, J., & Ge, T. (2017). Effect of P stoichiometry on the abundance of nitrogen-cycle genes in phosphorus-limited paddy soil. *Biology* and Fertility of Soils, 53(7), 767–776. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-017-1221-1
- Wei, X., Hu, Y., Razavi, B. S., Zhou, J., Shen, J., Nannipieri, P., Wu, J., & Ge, T. (2019). Rare taxa of alkaline phosphomonoesterase-harboring microorganisms mediate soil phosphorus mineralization. *Soil*

Biology and Biochemistry, 131(August 2018), 62-70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2018.12.025

- Wei, X., Hu, Y., Cai, G., Yao, H., Ye, J., Sun, Q., Ge, T. (2021). Organic phosphorus availability shapes the diversity of phoD-harboring bacteria in agricultural soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *161*, 108364.
- White, A. K., & Metcalf, W. W. (2007). Microbial Metabolism of Reduced Phosphorus Compounds. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, *61*(1), 379–400. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.61.080706.093357
- Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Second Edition. Springer. In *Media* (Vol. 35, Issue July). http://www.springer.com/series/6991
- Willsky, G. R., Bennett, R. L., & Malamy, M. H. (1973). Inorganic phosphate transport in Escherichia coli: involvement of two genes which play a role in alkaline phosphatase regulation. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 113(2), 529–539. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.113.2.529-539.1973
- Willsky, G. R., & Malamy, M. H. (1980). Characterization of two genetically separable inorganic phosphate transport systems in Escherichia coli. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 144(1), 356–365. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.144.1.356-365.1980
- Winkler, H. H. (1973). Distribution of an Inducible Hexose-Phosphate Transport System Among Various Bacteria Downloaded from. In *JOURNAL OF BACTERIOLOGY*. http://jb.asm.org/
- Wooley, J. C., Godzik, A., & Friedberg, I. (2010). A primer on metagenomics. *PLoS computational biology*, *6*(2), e1000667.
- Wu, J.-R., Shien, J.-H., Shieh, H. K., Hu, C.-C., Gong, S.-R., Chen, L.-Y., & Chang, P.-C. (2007). Cloning of the gene and characterization of the enzymatic properties of the monomeric alkaline phosphatase (PhoX) from *Pasteurella multocida* strain X-73. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, *267*(1), 113–120. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2006.00542.x
- Xu, R., Qafoku, N. P., Ranst, E. Van, Li, J., & Jiang, J. (2016). Adsorption Properties of Subtropical and Tropical Variable Charge Soils: Implications from [8 TD \$ IF ] Climate Change and Biochar Amendment. In *Advances in Agronomy* (Vol. 135). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.agron.2015.09.001

Xu, X., Thornton, P. E., & Post, W. M. (2013). A global analysis of soil microbial biomass carbon, nitrogen,

and phosphorus in terrestrial ecosystems. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, *22*(6), 737–749. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12029

- Yang, K., Wang, M., & Metcalf, W. W. (2009). Uptake of glycerol-2-phosphate via the ugp-encoded transporter in Escherichia coli K-12. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 191(14), 4667–4670. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00235-09
- Yang, P., Ma, L., Chen, M., Xi, J., He, F., Duan, C., Mo, M., Fang, D., Duan, Y., & Yang, F. (2012). Phosphate Solubilizing Ability and Phylogenetic Diversity of Bacteria from P-Rich Soils Around Dianchi Lake Drainage Area of China. *Pedosphere*, 22, 707-716.
- Yuan, Z.-C., Zaheer, R., & Finan, T. M. (2006). Regulation and Properties of PstSCAB, a Transport System of Sinorhizobium meliloti. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 188(3), 1089–1102. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.188.3.1089
- Yun, S. J., & Kaeppler, S. M. (2001). Induction of maize acid phosphatase activities under phosphorus starvation. 109–115.
- Zaidi, A., Khan, M. S., Ahemad, M., & Oves, M. (2009). Plant growth promotion by phosphate solubilizing bacteria. Acta Microbiologica et Immunologica Hungarica, 56(3), 263–284. https://doi.org/10.1556/AMicr.56.2009.3.6
- Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., Keiblinger, K. M., Mooshammer, M., Peñuelas, J., Richter, A., Sardans, J., & Wanek, W. (2015). The application of ecological stoichiometry to plant-microbial-soil organic matter transformations. *Ecological Monographs*, *85*(2), 133–155. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-0777.1
- Zeng, Q., Wu, X., & Wen, X. (2016). Effects of Soluble Phosphate on Phosphate-Solubilizing Characteristics and Expression of gcd Gene in Pseudomonas frederiksbergensis JW-SD2. *Current Microbiology*, 72(2), 198–206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-015-0938-z
- Zhang, L., Ding, X., Chen, S., He, X., Zhang, F., & Feng, G. (2014). Reducing carbon: Phosphorus ratio can enhance microbial phytin mineralization and lessen competition with maize for phosphorus. *Journal* of Plant Interactions, 9(1), 850–856. https://doi.org/10.1080/17429145.2014.977831
- Zhang, Q., Zhou, W., Liang, G., Sun, J., Wang, X., & He, P. (2015). Distribution of soil nutrients, extracellular enzyme activities and microbial communities across particle-size fractions in a long-term fertilizer

experiment. Applied Soil Ecology, 94, 59-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2015.05.005

- Zhao, K., Penttinen, P., Zhang, X., Ao, X., Liu, M., Yu, X., & Chen, Q. (2014). Maize rhizosphere in Sichuan,
   China, hosts plant growth promoting Burkholderia cepacia with phosphate solubilizing and
   antifungal abilities. *Microbiological Research*, 169(1), 76–82.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2013.07.003
- Zhu, F., Qu, L., Hong, X., & Sun, X. (2011). Isolation and Characterization of a Phosphate- Solubilizing Halophilic Bacterium Kushneria sp. YCWA18 from Daqiao Saltern on the Coast of Yellow Sea of China. 2011. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/615032
- Zhu, Q., Kosoy, M., & Dittmar, K. (2014). HGTector: An automated method facilitating genome-wide discovery of putative horizontal gene transfers. *BMC Genomics*, 15(1), 717. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-15-717
- Zimmer, D., Kruse, J., Siebers, N., Panten, K., Oelschläger, C., Warkentin, M., Hu, Y., Zuin, L., & Leinweber,
   P. (2018). Bone char vs. S-enriched bone char: Multi-method characterization of bone chars and their transformation in soil. *Science of the Total Environment*, 643, 145–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.076
- Zimmer, D., Panten, K., Frank, M., Springer, A., & Leinweber, P. (2019). Sulfur-enriched bone char as alternative P fertilizer: Spectroscopic, wet chemical, and yield response evaluation. *Agriculture (Switzerland)*, *9*(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture9010021
- Zwetsloot, M. J., Lehmann, J., Bauerle, T., Vanek, S., Hestrin, R., & Nigussie, A. (2016). Phosphorus availability from bone char in a P-fixing soil influenced by root-mycorrhizae-biochar interactions. *Plant and Soil*, 408(1–2), 95–105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-016-2905-2

## List of abbreviations

μg	Microgram
μΙ	Microliter
ACP	Acid phosphatase
Al	Aluminium
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase
AMF	Arbuscular mycorrhiza
ΑΤΡ	Adenosine triphosphate
BC	Bonechar
<b>BC</b> <sup>plus</sup>	Sulfur enriched bonechar
BMBF	Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung
bp	Base pair
С	Carbon
Са	Calcium
CaCl2	Calcium chloride
cm	Centimeter
Cmic	Microbial biomass carbon
CO2	Carbon dioxide
DAP	Diammonium phosphate
DAP DM	Diammonium phosphate Dry matter
DAP DM DNA	Diammonium phosphate Dry matter Deoxyribonucleic acid
DAP DM DNA DOC	Diammonium phosphate Dry matter Deoxyribonucleic acid Dissolved organic carbon
DAP DM DNA DOC DON	Diammonium phosphate Dry matter Deoxyribonucleic acid Dissolved organic carbon Dissolved organic nitrogen
DAP DM DNA DOC DON dwt	Diammonium phosphate Dry matter Deoxyribonucleic acid Dissolved organic carbon Dissolved organic nitrogen Dry weight
DAP DM DNA DOC DON dwt EE	Diammonium phosphate Dry matter Deoxyribonucleic acid Dissolved organic carbon Dissolved organic nitrogen Dry weight Extracellular enzymes
DAP DM DNA DOC DON dwt EE Fe	Diammonium phosphate Dry matter Deoxyribonucleic acid Dissolved organic carbon Dissolved organic nitrogen Dry weight Extracellular enzymes Iron

G2P	Glycerol-2-phosphate
G3P	Glycerol-3-phosphate
GDH	Glucose dehydrogenase
H+	Hydrogen ion
H₂O	Water
H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>	Hydrogen peroxide
ha	Hectare
HAPS	Histidine acid phosphatase
HCI	Hydrochloric acid
HNO₃	Nitric acid
IP6	Inositol hexakisphosphate
iSPTC	Initial soil phosphorus test class
к	Potassium
kg	Kilogram
KEGG	Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes
кон	Potassium hydroxide
m	Meter
м	Molar
m2	Square meter
ΜΑΡ	Monoammonium phosphate
Mg	Magnesium
mg	Milligram
ml	Milliliter
mmol	Millimol
N	Nitrogen
NH4+	Ammonium
ng	Nanogram
nM	Nanomol

рМ	Picomol	
NMDS	Non-metric multidimensional scaling	
Nmic	Microbial biomass nitrogen	
NSAP	Nonspecific acid phosphatase	
ΟΤυ	Operational taxonomic unit	
Р	Phosphorus	
РСА	Principal Component Analysis	
Pcal	Polymerase chain reaction	
Pcal	Calcium acetat lactate-extractable phosphorus	
PDE	Phosphodiesterase	
Pdl	Double lactate-extractable phosphorus	
Pi	Orthophosphate	
Pit	Phosphate inorganic transporter	
Pmic	Microbial biomass phosphorus	
p-NP	para-nitrophenol	
Ро	Organic phosphorus	
PQQ	Pyrroloquinoline quinone	
PQQGDH	Quinoprotein glucose dehydrogenase	
PSM	Phosphorus solubilizing microorganisms	
Pst	Phosphate specific transporter	
Pwater	Water-extractable phosphorus	
qPCR	Quantitative real-time PCR	
S	Sulfur	
SOM	Soil organic matter	
TSP	Triple Superphosphate	
VDLUFA	Der Verband deutscher landwirtschaftlicher Untersuchungs und Forschungsanstalten e.V.	
SAP	Specific acid phosphatases	

### Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank the Federal Ministry of Education and research (BMBF) for funding the 'Innovative solutions to sustainable **Soil Phos**phorus management' (InnoSoilPhos) project (No. 031A558). In this context I would like to extend my gratitude towards Prof. Dr. Peter Leinweber as well as Frau Dr. Dana Zimmer for the excellent management of the project and tireless efforts for the success of the project. Furthermore, I would like to extend my gratitude to Prof. Dr. Michael Schloter for the opportunity to work on this interesting and challenging project.

I want to especially thank my direct supervisor Dr. Stefanie Schulz for her helpful advice and guidance over the past five years, without whom this dissertation would not have been possible. Moreover I would like to thank my cooperation partners who have aided me in the performance and analyses of experiments. I would like to also thank Prof. Dr. Sabine v. Tucher (Technische Universität München), Dr. Christel Baum and Dr. Manuela Peine (Universität Rostock) and Dr. Kerstin Panten (Julius Kühn Institut Braunschweig) for the great cooperation on the projects during my PhD. I would like to express my special appreciation for Gudrun Hufnagel for her great assistance in various laboratory analyses. I owe special thanks to Dr. Gisle Vestergaard and Susanne Kublik for their support and key insights. Finally, I would like to extend my gratitude to my former colleagues at the comparative microbiome analysis unit (COMI) that were not mentioned explicitly here for the warm and friendly atmosphere throughout my thesis.

My deepest gratitude goes towards my family members and friends that kept me in good spirits and spurred me onwards to finally finish.

Finally, huge thank you to my loving wife Vjera, without whose support finishing this thesis would have taken much longer.

# Appendix

Manuscript I

### environmental microbiology reports

Environmental Microbiology Reports (2018) 10(3), 320-327



## Bacterial potentials for uptake, solubilization and mineralization of extracellular phosphorus in agricultural soils are highly stable under different fertilization regimes

Martin Grafe,<sup>1,2</sup> Manuela Goers,<sup>3</sup> Sabine von Tucher,<sup>2</sup> Christel Baum,<sup>3</sup> Dana Zimmer,<sup>3</sup> Peter Leinweber,<sup>3</sup> Gisle Vestergaard,<sup>1</sup> Susanne Kublik,<sup>1</sup> Michael Schloter<sup>1,4</sup> and Stefanie Schulz <sup>(1)</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Research Unit Comparative Microbiome Analysis, Helmholtz Zentrum München, Ingolstädter Landstraße 1, Neuherberg 85764, Germany.

<sup>2</sup>Chair of Plant Nutrition, Technische Universität München Emil-Erlenmeyer-Forum 2, Freising 85354, Germany.

<sup>3</sup>Department of Soil Science, University of Rostock, Justus-von-Liebig-Weg 6, Rostock 18051, Germany. <sup>4</sup>Chair of Soil Science, Technische Universität München, Emil-Erlenmeyer-Forum 2, Freising 85354, Germany.

#### Summary

Phosphorus is one of the most important macronutrient for plants. In agriculture, amending fertilizer with phosphorus (P) is common practice. However, natural phosphorus sources are finite, making research for more sustainable management practices necessary. We postulated that the addition of carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) would stimulate phosphorus mobilization by bacteria because of their desire to maintain a stable intracellular C:N:P stoichiometry. Therefore, we chose a metagenomic approach to investigate two agricultural soils, which only received mineral N fertilizer or mineral N and organic fertilizer for more than 20 years. The most abundant genes involved in the acquisition of external P sources in our study were those involved in solubilization and subsequent uptake of inorganic phosphorus. Independent of site and season, the relative abundance of genes involved in P turnover was not significantly affected by the addition of fertilizers. However, the type of

Received 24 May, 2017; revised 5 April, 2018; accepted 8 April, 2018. \*For correspondence. E-mail stefanie.schulz@helmholtzmuenchen.de; Tel. (+49) 89 3187 3054; Fax (+49) 89 3187 2136.

© 2018 Society for Applied Microbiology and John Wiley & Sons Ltd

fertilization had a significant impact on the diversity pattern of bacterial families harbouring genes coding for the different P transformation processes. This gives rise to the possibility that fertilizers can substantially change phosphorus turnover efficiency by favouring different families. Additionally, none of the families involved in phosphorus turnover covered all investigated processes. Therefore, promoting bacteria which play an essential role specifically in mobilization of hardly accessible phosphorus could help to secure the phosphorus supply of plants in soils with low P input.

#### Introduction

The availability of macronutrients in soil, especially nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P), strongly influences crop yield and quality (Schachtman et al., 1998; Marschner, 2011). Unlike N, P is a finite resource and P-fertilizers mainly originate from rock sources (Walker and Syers, 1976; Chadwick et al., 1999). However, due to agricultural practices P has accumulated in soil (Stutter et al., 2015), but mostly in inaccessible forms. Thus, its remobilization and future sustainable use is of major importance. In this regard bacteria play an important role. On the one hand, they are able to catalyze the release of P through solubilization of inorganic- and mineralization of organic- P, increasing the concentration of free orthophosphate in soil (Richardson and Simpson, 2011). On the other hand, bacteria possess efficient P uptake systems, like the high-affinity phosphate-specific transporter Pst and the low-affinity phosphate inorganic transporter Pit. These allow them to efficiently compete for available P sources (Willsky et al., 1973; Wanner, 1993).

Recent publications (Mooshammer *et al.*, 2012; Spohn and Kuzyakov, 2013; Heuck *et al.*, 2015) demonstrated the importance of the C:N:P stoichiometry for many processes in soil. For example, Heuck *et al.* (2015) found that the release of P is rather a result of the bacterial need for C and N rather than the immediate need of P. We proposed, that the addition of mineral N will increase
the bacterial demands for P and thus stimulate P mineralization from soil if the amount of easily degradable organic carbon is not limiting microbial activities.

In order to test this hypothesis, we compared the effects of mineral N fertilization ( $N_{min}$ ), and mineral N fertilization combined with organic fertilization (Nminorganic) in two long-term field trials, located in Freising, Bavaria and Rostock, Mecklenburg Western-Pommerania, Germany. Here, none of the plots received any mineral P fertilizer. The samples were taken in spring and autumn to analyze how the presence and absence of crops influences P turnover. We used a metagenomics approach specifically targeting genes involved in P transformation as described for forest soils by Bergkemper et al. (2016) to (i) assess the relative abundance of genes catalyzing key processes in P turnover and (ii) to identify major bacterial families carrying the genes of interest. We focused on the bacterial potential to take up, solubilize and mineralize extracellular P and compared this to the actual incorporation of C, N and P in the microbial biomass.

#### Results and discussion

#### Microbial C, N and P pools

As several authors proposed stable  $C_{mic}$ : $N_{mic}$ : $P_{mic}$  ratios in the soil microbial biomass in the past (e.g., Cleveland and Liptzin, 2007), we investigated the role of different fertilizers as modulators of the stoichiometry of C:N:P on the microbiome (Table 1). Our data indicates both a high stability of  $C_{mic}$ .  $N_{mic}$  and  $P_{mic}$  even between treatments, where different fertilizers had been applied, and, in line with this observation, almost constant  $C_{mic}$ : $N_{mic}$ : $P_{mic}$ ratios in the microbial biomass. The mean ratios across

#### Phosphorous turnover in agricultural soils 321

all treatments were 36:1.2:1 for Rostock and 25:1.2:1 for Freising. Although the observed ratios were constant, they were lower as compared to the global values (60:7:1) described by Cleveland and Liptzin (2007). However, Cleveland and Liptzin (2007) only considered unfertilized forest and grassland sites, whilst here we investigated agricultural sites. Thus, a narrow Cmic:Nmic: Pmic ratio is not surprising. The same fertilization effect was observed by Heuck et al. (2015), where especially  $N_{\text{mic}}{:}P_{\text{mic}}$  were in the same range after fertilizer addition irrespective whether P or N fertilizers were added. In the frame of their study they could prove that this was due to a change in microbial community structure. Furthermore, in our study the microbial Cmic:Nmic:Pmic ratio nicely reflects the total C:N:P ratio of the soils, which is 20:2:1. This underlines the adaptation period of the microbial communities as a consequence of the long term experimental settings.

#### Functional profiles of microbes triggering P transformation

P-turnover was analyzed by comparing the relative abundances of 40 bacterial genes encoding proteins which are linked to regulation, mineralization, solubilization and uptake of extracellular P sources; genes that are involved in intracellular P turnover were excluded from further analysis (Supporting Information Table S2; Bergkemper *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, the filtered reads obtained by metagenomics sequencing were mapped against sequences of the KEGG database [using BLAST (Altschul *et al.*, 1990)] for gene annotation (for details see Supporting Information materials and methods) (Table S1). After subsequent filtering, we obtained 52,654,918 reads with an average read length of 296 bp

**Table 1.** Mean values of microbial biomass of two agricultural soils located in Freising and Rostock in 2015. Samples were taken with a soil auger of 3 cm diameter to a depth of 10 cm. Three cores were collected for each plot, pooled and subsequently homogenized on a 5mm sieve. For the assessment of  $C_{mic}$  and  $N_{mic}$  the chloroform- fumigation-extraction method was used. Average values and standard deviations (±) are calculated based on triplicates (n = 3). Underlined are parameters which were significantly influenced by season (single line), fertilizer (double lines) or interaction of both (dotted lines).

Season Treatment	Spring		Autumn		
	N <sub>min</sub>	N <sub>min</sub> -organic	N <sub>min</sub>	N <sub>min</sub> -organic	
Freising					
$C_{mic}$ (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	409.6 ± 27.3	371.9 ± 21.8	439.3 ± 16.2	433.9 ± 36.1	
$N_{mic}$ ( $\mu g g^{-1}$ )	22.1 ± 2.8	$18.7 \pm 1.7$	$16.9 \pm 12.5$	8.7 ± 2.8	
$P_{mic}$ ( $\mu g g^{-1}$ )	$15.1 \pm 12.1$	$11.8 \pm 4.3$	$27.5 \pm 6.9$	145.4 ± 79.4	
Rostock					
C <sub>mic</sub> :P <sub>mic</sub>	$43.3 \pm 33.9$	34.1 ± 11.5	$16.5 \pm 3.5$	$4.0 \pm 2.8$	
N <sub>mic</sub> :P <sub>mic</sub>	$2.3 \pm 1.7$	$1.7 \pm 0.5$	$0.6 \pm 0.3$	$0.1 \pm 0.03$	
$\overline{C_{mic}}$ ( $\mu g g^{-1}$ )	$304.2 \pm 34.8$	$331.5 \pm 37.5$	304.1 ± 34.8	322.3 ± 23.2	
$N_{mic}$ (µg g <sup>-1</sup> )	$10.1 \pm 2.1$	$14.9 \pm 3.3$	$7.7 \pm 1.7$	$13.8 \pm 4.2$	
$P_{mic}$ ( $\mu g g^{-1}$ )	$10.7 \pm 9.7$	$25.7 \pm 4.8$	$7.4 \pm 5.8$	17.6 ± 16.9	
C <sub>mic</sub> :P <sub>mic</sub>	$20.7 \pm 4.9^{a}$	$13.4 \pm 3.5$	$73.7 \pm 67.5$	37.8 ± 35.3	
N <sub>mic</sub> :P <sub>mic</sub>	$0.7\pm0.1^{a}$	$0.6 \pm 0.2$	$2.0 \pm 2.2$	$1.4 \pm 1.1$	

<sup>a</sup>The mean of the C:P and N:P ratios is based on two field replicates only, as the Pmic value was below the detection limit for the third plot.

#### 322 M. Grafe et al.

after trimming (Table S1). Of these, genes linked to P turnover made up approximately 0.34% at both sites. Rarefaction analysis (Supporting Information Fig. S2) revealed sufficient coverage in all samples. For further analysis, 27 genes were processed. The analysis of the relative abundances of the targeted genes indicated a strong similarity of the two sites in Rostock and Freising. Further the data indicated, that neither season nor the fertilization treatment had a significant effect on the relative abundance of the analyzed genes.

Bergkemper *et al.* (2016) proposed that solubilization processes are the main drivers for microbial P turnover in soils which are rich in mineral P. Therefore, not surprisingly, the most abundant gene of the 27 genes analyzed in this study was encoding for a glucose dehydrogenase (*gcd*). Gcd is a membrane bound enzyme which can oxidize aldose sugars (i.e., glucose to gluconic acid). Gluconic acid further solubilize inorganically bound fractions of P. Here a co-factor, namely pyrroloquinone (PQQ), is required to form the active enzyme. Together both genes form the PQQGDH holoenzyme (Goldstein, 1995). In our study, genes linked to the PQQ cofactor were lower in abundance than the genes coding for the glucose dehydrogenase. This suggests at least a partly PQQ independent activation of the GDH enzyme, which has also been described by Goldstein *et al.* (2003). However, it is important to mention that also other organic acids might be important for the solubilization of inorganic P such as malic-, lactic-, citric- and oxalic acids, being the most prominent (Sharma *et al.*, 2013). The aforementioned organic acids are also part of intracellular metabolic processes such as the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle and fermentation, making the distinction between intracellular and extracellular usage impossible on the gene level.

In agreement with the high abundance of genes encoding for enzymes involved in catalyzing P solubilization, those encoding for proteins involved in the uptake of inorganic P (Fig. 1), such as the multimeric ABCtype phosphorus specific transporter (*pst*) and the inorganic phosphorus transporter (*pit*), were the second most abundant genes in our datasets. Of the two, Pit is a constitutively expressed low affinity transporter, which is able to transport metallic cations complexed with phosphate (Willsky *et al.*, 1973; Wanner, 1993). The Pst transporter is induced under P starvation through tight regulation and is additionally involved in regulation and P-signaling. It has been reported to transport inorganic P and likely phosphonates (Yuan *et al.*, 2006). Genes involved in the mineralization of organic P sources were



Fig. 1. Barplot showing relative abundances of genes for proteins, which are involved in P turnover in Freising and Rostock. Metagenomic data presented is of both test sites, over the change of the season, as well as two treatments. The quality filtered reads were blasted against the KEGG database and assigned with a K0 number by means of MEGAN. Significant differences in the number of annotated reads among both were calculated by two-way ANOVA (n = 3, P < 0.05). Error bars represent standard deviations. Significant influence is symbolized for season (+), organic fertilizer (#) or interaction (\*) respectively.

also found in our datasets; however, they were far less abundant. Their low abundance could be surprising, considering that organic fertilizers contain large amounts of organically bound P.

It has to be taken into account that the addition of organic fertilizer had been performed two years before sampling. However, our focus was on the long-term effects of a triennial application of organic matter rather than short term fertilizer effects. The low abundances of genes encoding for mineralizing enzymes could therefore be the result of the depletion of the organically bound P in the organic fertilizer over time. Interestingly the amount SOM did not differ between the different treatments at both sides. However, most likely the quality of SOM is affected by the different fertilizer quality. Differences in SOM quality might be the reason for shifts in the major bacterial families triggering the investigated processes related to P transformation. Constant SOM contents in contrast might explain that no differences in the overall abundance of genes coding for a particular transformation step were found.

The third most abundant genes in our dataset were the alkaline phosphatase genes (ALP) *phoA*, *phoD* and a class C acid phosphatase *olpA*. The OlpA acid phosphatase belongs to a group classified as nonspecific acid phosphohydrolases (NSAPs). These enzymes hydrolyze a broad array of structurally unrelated substrates. They are known to exhibit optimal catalytic activity at acidic to neutral pH values (Rossolini *et al.*, 1998). Nannipieri *et al.* (2011) described ALPs as being typical for neutral to alkaline environments, which is in agreement with our findings considering the pH of the soil at the two sites.

In contrast, the abundance of enzymes that specifically target substrates, which are more difficult to access or lower in concentration, such as phosphonate or phytate respectively, were rare in our study. This underlines the fact that P pools in arable soils are dominated by inorganic orthophosphate (Stutter et al., 2015) despite the organic fertilization two years before the sampling for this study. The majority of the aforementioned genes are tightly regulated by means of a two-component system, namely phoR, phoB, phoU. These are involved of several phosphate starvation inducible genes (PSI) of the phosphate (Pho) regulon, specifically detecting P starvation (Hsieh and Wanner, 2010). The relatively high abundance of P signaling genes in our datasets emphasized the importance of effective PSI gene regulation for microbial communities, to efficiently use alternative phosphorus sources in times of P starvation. Taken into account the high conservation of gene abundances across seasons and sites, which was also confirmed by by two-factorial ANOVA, a regulation on transcription

#### Phosphorous turnover in agricultural soils 323

level seems to be the mode of action rather than a shift in community composition.

This is consistent with the theory about functional redundancy and underlines the importance of these genes in agricultural ecosystems (Allison and Martiny, 2008). These findings are based on the relative abundances of genes. However, at our sites microbial biomass (as indicated by  $C_{\rm mic}$  values) was not significantly affected by any of the analyzed factors. Therefore, absolute abundance pattern between the sites might not be differing compared to the relative abundance values described in this study.

# Structure of bacterial communities triggering P transformation

Both sites showed a strong similarity in the functional profiles of P turnover. These findings are in line with the findings described by Allison and Martiny (2008). They argued that important ecosystem functions are preserved even if the microbial community structure changes. For this reason, we compared microbial communities involved in P transformation at both sites and linked our data to total bacterial community structure, which was comparable between both sites at the family level as indicated by NMDS analysis (Supporting Information Fig. S1A). Therefore the extracted sequences of genes involved in P turnover were blasted against the NCBI-nr database (http:// ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/blast/db/FASTA/nr.gz) and the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) database (June 2011) (Kanehisa and Goto, 2000) using DIAMOND (0.5.2.32) on sensitive settings (Buchfink et al., 2015). Subsequently taxonomic and functional assignment was performed by using MEGAN5 v 5.10.6 (Huson et al., 2011). For further details, we refer to Supporting Information materials and methods.

Overall, 295 bacterial families were identified, of which 292 families were present at both sites. The most abundant families were Acidobacteriaceae, Bradyrhizobiaceae, Verrucomicrobia subd. 3, Planctomycetaceae and Chitinophagaceae. This is not surprising because they are known to be widely spread throughout terrestrial ecosystems (Rosenberg, 2014). The effect of season was much stronger than that of the fertilizer addition as indicated by means of a two-way blocked ANOVA. Of the 295 families, 36 were influenced by season, 14 by fertilizer and 18 by the interaction of both (Supporting Information Table S3).

Of the 295 total families, 258 harboured genes encoding for proteins involved in extracellular P turnover. Of these, 85 families comprised a core microbiome (as defined by Shade and Handelsman, 2012), which was present at both sites, independent from seasons and treatments. 91% of all filtered reads could be assigned to these families (Supporting Information Fig. S3).

#### 324 M. Grafe et al.

Interestingly, NMDS analysis on the distribution of genes involved in P turnover amongst bacterial families (Supporting Information Fig. S1B) indicated a stronger influence of the fertilizer addition as compared to the total bacterial community structure (Supporting Information Fig. S1A). Moreover, the effect of season was strongly connected to the fertilizer effect. Subsequent ANOVA analysis revealed that 7 of the families involved in P turnover were influenced by season, 38 by fertilizer and 37 by the interaction of season and fertilizer (Supporting Information Table S3).

To summarize, the similarity of total bacterial communities at both sites concurs with observations that the diversity and richness of bacterial communities are shaped primarily by ecosystem type rather than location (Fierer and Jackson, 2006; Cao et al., 2016). According to Fierer and Jackson (2006) and Fierer (2017), the major determining factor for the community structure is pH, which was similar at both sites. In contrast, fertilizer application has a minor role in shaping the total soil microbiome in the above mentioned study. In our experimental setting fertilizer had a strong influence on how the genes are distributed amongst the families. This again, coincides with the theory of functional redundancy as suggested by Allison and Martiny (2008). However, metagenomics only gives information on microbial potential, and not their actual activity. The fact that genes necessary for P turnover were harboured by different families gives rise to the possibility that these could perform the same function with a different efficiency. Indeed, it has been shown by Ragot *et al.* (2016) that for some taxa there are significant differences between the presence and expression of genes involved in P turnover. Therefore, the observed influence of fertilizer on the gene distribution pattern in different bacterial families could cause substantial changes in activity pattern. This hypothesis could be strengthened by the high abundance of regulatory genes that could influence the efficiency of P turnover.

Our analysis revealed that none of the families covered all processes. Therefore, we pooled genes involved in P turnover based on their functions into regulation (3 genes), mineralization (23 genes), solubilization (1 gene), organic P uptake (7 genes) and inorganic P uptake (6 genes), and assigned their taxonomic affiliation for a more detailed analysis of the distribution of functional traits (Fig. 2). In fact, certain families exhibited a more 'universal' spectrum of functions, while others were considered as specialists for single processes. The 'universal' group included Verrucomicrobia subdivision 3, Sphingomonadaceae, Anaerolinaceae, Planctomycetaceae, Chitinophagaceae, Acidobacteriaceae and Bradyrhizobiaceae harboring genes coding for enzymes of four of the five investigated processes.

The 'specific' group included families which harboured genes only for one of the investigated process. Some of them appeared to be involved only in organic and inorganic P uptake, pursuing a rather copiotrophic lifestyle by favouring the use of easily available nutrients instead of investing energy into P solubilization, mineralization or



Fig. 2. Visualization of mean relative abundances of genes harboured by different families in Freising and Rostock independent of season and fertilizer, by means of a heatmap. Genes involved in P turnover were selected by their K0 numbers and grouped depending on their function. These were then assigned to taxa by means of MEGAN.

regulation. These entail Rhodocyclaceae, Chlorobiaceae, Geobacteraceae. Flavobacteriaceae and Opitutaceae. Others, such as Verrucomicrobiaceae and Solibacteraceae, exhibited preferences either for mineralization or solubilization of P. Intriguingly, we did not detect genes necessary for P uptake from organic or inorganic sources in these families. Thus it is possible that these genes were present only in a very few taxa and relative abundance was too low to be detected in the analyzed metagenomes. A further explanation could be the existence of so far unknown alternative uptake mechanisms, which makes the detection in the metagenomes impossible, especially because a slightly divergent organic phosphate transporter might show strong similarities to sulfate transporters, or even carboxylate transporters, depending on the organic backbone. Nevertheless, it is possible that these microbes release P as a byproduct during C turnover, which coincides with the theory proposed by Heuck et al. (2015).

In conclusion, although no mineral P fertilizer was added to the investigated fields, Cmic:Nmic:Pmic ratios were narrow and the most abundant gene triggering P transformation was affiliated to the solubilization of inorganic P, both indicate that sufficient amounts of P are stored in the analyzed soils and that the addition of mineral N fertilizer and organic fertilizer stimulated P acquisition. While gene abundance patterns were not affected by season, fertilization or site, the bacterial families involved in the different processes differed. The consequences might be that (i) shifts in microbial community structure strongly influence the potential to use extracellular P sources and (ii) the regulation of P acquisition rather takes place on the expression level. Accordingly, future work should address the conditions under which the different P acquiring strategies are prevalent and under which conditions the genetic potential for P transformation is activated by implementing metatranscriptomic analysis.

Overall our study focused on bacteria and their role in P transformation processes in soil, although it is well accepted that fungi also play an important role in plant P nutrition, including the transport of P by mycorrhizal fungi. However most of the public data bases so far lack of sequences belonging to fungi. Thus most reads linked to fungal sequences are considered as unknowns and excluded from further analysis. Therefore current meta-genomics approach do not allow a sound analysis of functional traits of fungi, which hopefully changes when the data from the analysis of 1000 genomes has been finalized (https://genome.jgi.doe.gov/programs/fungi/1000fungalgenomes.jsf).

#### Experimental procedures

Samples were taken from two long term field trials in Germany. The first site is located in Freising, Bavaria

#### Phosphorous turnover in agricultural soils 325

(48°24′13.38″ N, 11°41′32.93″ E), having a split plot design where two treatments were analyzed in the frame of this study: (i) N fertilization (2015) 150 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, no additional organic fertilization (N<sub>min</sub>); (ii) N fertilization (2015) 150 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, organic fertilization with straw and catch crops as green manure (N<sub>min</sub>-organic). The second site is located in Rostock, Mecklenburg Western-Pomerania (54°03′42.44″ N, 12°05′07.32″ E) and has a split plot design with four replicates, where two treatments were analyzed in the frame of this study: (i) N fertilization (N<sub>min</sub>); (ii) N fertilization 120 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, organic fertilization (N<sub>min</sub>); (ii) N fertilization 120 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, organic fertilization with biowaste compost (30 t ha<sup>-1</sup>) (N<sub>min</sub>-organic).

Samples were taken from both sites in April and September of 2015 using a soil auger of 3 cm diameter to a depth of 10 cm. As suggested by Vestergaard *et al.* (2017), three cores were collected for each plot, pooled and subsequently homogenized on a 5 mm sieve. A total of twenty-four (24) samples were taken (6 per site, in three replicates, per season). Despite the different fer-tilization regimes, no significant differences in SOM contents were found at the time of sampling and only differences between the two different sites were found. For Freising, TOC ranged between 11.61 and 12.30 g kg<sup>-1</sup>, TN between 1.36 and 1.42 g kg<sup>-1</sup> and TP between 0.61 und 0.69 g kg<sup>-1</sup>; for Rostock overall values were lower (TOC 7.15 – 10.40 g kg<sup>-1</sup>, TN 0.82 – 1.05 g kg<sup>-1</sup>; TP 0.54 – 0.62 g kg<sup>-1</sup>)

For the assessment of  $C_{\text{mic}}$  and  $N_{\text{mic}},$  the chloroformfumigation-extraction method as described by Vance et al. (1987) was used. Analysis of microbial P (Pmic) was performed also using the chloroform-fumigationextraction method but as described by Brookes et al. (1982). For nucleic acid extraction and subsequent sequencing, a phenol-chloroform based protocol modified according to Lueders et al. (2004) and Towe et al. (2011) was used to extract total genomic DNA, which was then prepared for sequencing using NEBNextR Ultra<sup>™</sup> DNA Library Prep Kit (New England Biolabs®, Inc.). Sequencing was performed on an Illumina<sup>®</sup> Miseq<sup>®</sup> (Illumina<sup>®</sup>, USA) sequencing machine and using the MiSeq<sup>®</sup> Reagent Kit v3 (600 cycles) (Illumina<sup>®</sup>) for paired end sequencing. The raw sequencing data is available at the sequencing read archive (SRA) under the BioProject ID PRJNA385596 (SAMN06894543-SAMN06894566). Taxonomic and functional annotations of the sequences were accomplished by blasting against the NCBI-nr database (http://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/blast/ db/FASTA/nr.gz) and the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) database (June 2011) (Kanehisa and Goto, 2000) using DIAMOND (0.5.2.32). Taxonomic and functional assignment was performed by using MEGAN5 (5.10.6). Statistical analyses and visualization was performed using Rstudio [Rstudio Team (2015)],

#### 326 M. Grafe et al.

based upon the relative abundance of reads. A two-way blocked analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to analyze the effects of season, fertilizer and interaction of both, on taxonomic as well as the functional profiles of the samples. For more detailed descriptions, please refer to the Supporting Information (Text S1: Materials and Methods).

#### Acknowledgements

We thank Gudrun Hufnagel for the measurements of carbon and nitrogen fractions and Barbara Cania for proofreading. Martin Grafe was supported by the Federal Ministry of Education and research (BMBF), funding the BonaRes project 'Innovative solutions to sustainable Soil Phosphorus management' (InnoSoilPhos) (No. 031A558).

#### References

- Allison, S.D, and Martiny, J.B. (2008) Resistance, resilience, and redundancy in microbial communities. *Proc Natl* Acad Sci U S A 105: 11512–11519.
- Altschul, S.F., Gish, W., Miller, W., Myers, E.W, and Lipman, D.J. (1990) Basic Local Alignment Search Tool. *J Mol Biol* **215**: 403–410.
- Bergkemper, F., Schöler, A., Engel, M., Lang, F., Krüger, J., Schloter, M, and Schulz, S. (2016) Phosphorus depletion in forest soils shapes bacterial communities towards phosphorus recycling systems. *Environ Microbiol.*
- Brookes, P., Powison, D, and Jenkinson, D. (1982) Measurement of microbial biomass phosphorus in soil. *Soil Biol Biochem* 14: 319–329.
- Buchfink, B., Xie, C, and Huson, D.H. (2015) Fast and sensitive protein alignment using DIAMOND. *Nat Methods* 12: 59–60.
- Cao, H., Chen, R., Wang, L., Jiang, L., Yang, F., Zheng, S. et al. (2016) Soil pH, total phosphorus, climate and distance are the major factors influencing microbial activity at a regional spatial scale. Sci Rep-UK 6: 25815.
- Chadwick, O.A., Derry, L.A., Vitousek, P.M., Huebert, B.J, and Hedin, L.O. (1999) Changing sources of nutrients during four million years of ecosystem development. *Nature* 397: 491–497.
- Cleveland, C.C, and Liptzin, D. (2007) C: N: P stoichiometry in soil: is there a "Redfield ratio" for the microbial biomass? *Biogeochemistry* 85: 235–252.
- Fierer, N. (2017) Embracing the unknown: disentangling the complexities of the soil microbiome. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 15: 579–590.
- Fierer, N, and Jackson, R.B. (2006) The diversity and biogeography of soil bacterial communities. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**: 626–631.
- Goldstein, A., Lester, T, and Brown, J. (2003) Research on the metabolic engineering of the direct oxidation pathway for extraction of phosphate from ore has generated preliminary evidence for PQQ biosynthesis in Escherichia coli as well as a possible role for the highly conserved region of quinoprotein dehydrogenases. *BBA-Proteins Proteom* 1647: 266–271.

- Goldstein, A.H. (1995) Recent progress in understanding the molecular genetics and biochemistry of calcium phosphate solubilization by gram negative bacteria. *Biol Agric Hortic* 12: 185–193.
- Heuck, C., Weig, A, and Spohn, M. (2015) Soil microbial biomass C: N: P stoichiometry and microbial use of organic phosphorus. *Soil. Biol Biochem* 85: 119–129.
- Hsieh, Y.-J, and Wanner, B.L. (2010) Global regulation by the seven-component P i signaling system. *Curr Opin Microbiol* 13: 198–203.
- Huson, D.H., Mitra, S., Ruscheweyh, H.-J., Weber, N, and Schuster, S.C. (2011) Integrative analysis of environmental sequences using MEGAN4. *Genome Res* 21: 1552–1560.
- Kanehisa, M, and Goto, S. (2000) KEGG: Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes. *Nucleic Acids Res* 28: 27–30.
- Lueders, T., Manefield, M, and Friedrich, M.W. (2004) Enhanced sensitivity of DNA-and rRNA-based stable isotope probing by fractionation and quantitative analysis of isopycnic centrifugation gradients. *Environ Microbiol* 6: 73–78.
- Marschner, H. (2011) Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants. Cambridge, MA: Academic Press.
- Mooshammer, M., Wanek, W., Schnecker, J., Wild, B., Leitner, S., Hofhansl, F. *et al.* (2012) Stoichiometric controls of nitrogen and phosphorus cycling in decomposing beech leaf litter. *Ecology* **93**: 770–782.
- Nannipieri, P., Giagnoni, L., Landi, L., Renella, G. (2011) Role of phosphatase enzymes in soil. In *Phosphorus in Action. Soil Biology.* Bünemann, E., Oberson, A., Frossard, E. (eds), Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, pp.215–243.
- Ragot, S.A., Huguenin-Elie, O., Kertesz, M.A., Frossard, E, and Bünemann, E.K. (2016) Total and active microbial communities and phoD as affected by phosphate depletion and pH in soil. *Plant Soil* **408**: 15–30.
- Richardson, A.E, and Simpson, R.J. (2011) Soil microorganisms mediating phosphorus availability update on microbial phosphorus. *Plant Physiol* **156**: 989–996.
- Rosenberg, E. (2014) *The Prokaryotes*. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer.
- Rossolini, G., Schippa, S., Riccio, M., Berlutti, F., Macaskie, L, and Thaller, M. (1998) Bacterial nonspecific acid phosphohydrolases: physiology, evolution and use as tools in microbial biotechnology. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 54: 833–850.
- Rstudio Team (2015). *RStudio: Integrated Development for R.* RStudio, Inc., Boston, MA. URL http://www.rstudio. com/.
- Schachtman, D.P., Reid, R.J, and Ayling, S.M. (1998) Phosphorus uptake by plants: from soil to cell. *Plant Physiol* 116: 447–453.
- Shade, A, and Handelsman, J. (2012) Beyond the Venn diagram: the hunt for a core microbiome. *Environ Microbiol* **14**: 4–12.
- Sharma, S.B., Sayyed, R.Z., Trivedi, M.H, and Gobi, T.A. (2013) Phosphate solubilizing microbes: sustainable approach for managing phosphorus deficiency in agricultural soils. *SpringerPlus* 2: 587.
- Spohn, M, and Kuzyakov, Y. (2013) Phosphorus mineralization can be driven by microbial need for carbon. *Soil Biol Biochem* **61**: 69–75.
- Stutter, M.I., Shand, C.A., George, T.S., Blackwell, M.S.A., Dixon, L., Bol, R. et al. (2015) Land use and soil factors

affecting accumulation of phosphorus species in temperate soils. *Geoderma* **257–258**: 29–39.

- Töwe, S., Wallisch, S., Bannert, A., Fischer, D., Hai, B., Haesler, F. *et al.* (2011) Improved protocol for the simultaneous extraction and column-based separation of DNA and RNA from different soils. *J Microbiol Method* 84: 406–412.
- Vance, E., Brookes, P, and Jenkinson, D. (1987) An extraction method for measuring soil microbial biomass C. Soil Biol Biochem 19: 703–707.
- Vestergaard, G., Schulz, S., Schöler, A, and Schloter, M. (2017) Making big data smart—how to use metagenomics to understand soil quality. *Biol Fert Soils* 53: 479–484.
- Walker, T.W, and Syers, J.K. (1976) The fate of phosphorus during pedogenesis. *Geoderma* **15**: 1–19.
- Wanner, B. (1993) Gene regulation by phosphate in enteric bacteria. J Cell Biochem 51: 47–54.
- Willsky, G.R., Bennett, R.L, and Malamy, M.H. (1973) Inorganic phosphate transport in *Escherichia coli*: involvement of two genes which play a role in alkaline phosphatase regulation. *J Bacteriol* **113**: 529–539.
- Yuan, Z.-C., Zaheer, R, and Finan, T.M. (2006) Regulation and properties of PstSCAB, a high-affinity, high-velocity phosphate transport system of Sinorhizobium meliloti. *J Bacteriol* **188**: 1089–1102.

#### Supporting Information

Additional Supporting Information may be found in the online version of this article at the publisher's web-site:

#### Text S1. Materials and Methods

Table S1. Detailed information of sequencing run. Summarized are the number of reads and average length of reads for metagenomics datasets obtained from Freising and Rostock, before and after quality filtering. Samples were taken from plots under different fertilization regimes, in spring and autumn. Table S2. All investigated enzymes related to the microbial turnover of soil P with KO numbers corresponding genes and references.

Table S3. Bacterial families whose relative abundances and involvement in P turnover were significantly affected by season, fertilizer or interaction of both factors. Significant differences between the treatments were determined by a two-way ANOVA (n = 3, p < 0.05)

Table S4. R packages used for data visualization.

**Fig. S1.** NMDS ordination plots depicting taxonomic profiles on the family level for bacteria found at both sites. Shown in (A) is the overall community, and depicted in (B) distribution of genes involved in P turnover among bacterial families (n = 24). 95% confidence level is depicted as ellipses for each of the triplicates. Taxonomic assignment was performed against the National Center for Biotechnology Information Non-Redundant (NCBI-NR) protein sequences database. Functional genes were derived from the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) Orthology database.

Fig. S2. Rarefaction curves of metagenomic datasets from samples taken in spring and autumn from Freising and Rostock. Depicted are the numbers of assigned genes involved in P turnover as a function of sequencing depth. Genes were assigned using the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) Orthology database. 'S' and 'A' at the beginning of the sample names stand for 'spring' and 'autumn'. The following '-' and '+' stand for 'N<sub>min</sub>' and 'N<sub>min</sub>-organic'. The numbers represent the replicate number, 1–3 respectively.

Fig. S3. Core microbiome for the comparison of the two fertilization treatments  $N_{\text{min}}$  fertilizer and  $N_{\text{min}}$ -organic fertilizer by means of stacked barplots. Depicted are all genes involved in P turnover. Percentages describe the total relative abundance of reads assigned to P turnover.

Supplemental Information Manuscript I

Bacterial potentials for uptake, solubilization and mineralization of extracellular phosphorus in agricultural soils is highly stable under carbon and nitrogen amendment

Martin Grafe<sup>a,c</sup>, Manuela Goers<sup>d</sup>, Sabine v. Tucher<sup>c</sup>, Christel Baum<sup>d</sup>, Dana Zimmer<sup>d</sup>, Peter Leinweber<sup>d</sup>, Gisle Vestergaard<sup>a</sup>, Susanne Kublik<sup>a</sup>, Michael Schloter<sup>a, b</sup>, Stefanie Schulz<sup>a\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Research Unit Comparative Microbiome Analysis, Helmholtz Zentrum München, Ingolstädter Landstraße 1, 85764 Neuherberg, Germany
<sup>b</sup>Technische Universität München, TUM Chair of Soil Science, Emil-Erlenmeyer-Forum 2, 85354 Freising, Germany
<sup>c</sup>Technische Universität München, TUM Chair of Plant Nutrition, Emil-Erlenmeyer-Forum 2, 85354 Freising, Germany
<sup>d</sup>Department of Soil Science, University of Rostock, Justus-von-Liebig-Weg 6, 18051 Rostock, Germany
\*Corresponding author

110

## **Text S1: Materials and Methods**

### Site description and sampling

The long-term field trial (established in 1979) in southern Germany is situated north of Munich in Freising/Dürnast, Bavaria (FS) (48°24'13.38" N, 11°41'32.93" E). The test site is 470m above sea level with a mean annual precipitation and temperature of 791mm and 8.4°C, respectively. The soil type was classified as Cambisol, the soil texture silty loam and the pH was 6.35. The test site has a split plot design where two treatments were analyzed in the frame of this study: 1) mineral N fertilization (2015) 150 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, no additional organic fertilization (Nmin); 2) mineral N fertilization (2015) 150 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, and organic fertilization with straw and catch crops as green manure (Nmin-organic). In treatment 1 (Nmin) the straw as harvest residue of cereals was removed whereas it remained at the plots in treatment 2 (Nmin-organic). In treatment 2, green manure was applied by the sowing of catch crops (turnip rape, rape, mustard, or phacelia) after the harvest of winter or summer barley prior to the cropping of potatoes or summer cereals. The plots used in this study had received no mineral P fertilizer since 1979. Each plot had a size of 32m<sup>2</sup>. Each treatment was three times replicated. In the long-term crop rotation potato, winter or summer wheat followed by winter or summer barley were grown. However, winter barley in 2013 was followed by maize in 2014 and 2015. The mineral N fertilizer was applied at May 28, 2015 as calcium ammonium nitrate. The most recent application green manure occurred in autumn 2010 (phacelia) and that of straw (winter barley) in 2013. As tillage treatment ploughing up to 25 cm was performed. The obtained yield of the N fertilized plots in 2015 was 206 dt dry matter ha<sup>-1</sup> (standard deviation 28 dt ha<sup>-1</sup>) and of the N and organic fertilized plots was 197 dt dry matter ha<sup>-1</sup> (standard deviation 32 dt ha<sup>-1</sup>).

The long-term field trial (established in 1998) in northern Germany is located in Rostock (HRO), Mecklenburg Western Pommerania, (54°03'42.44" N, 12°05'07.32" E). The test site is 46 m above sea level, characterized by annual means of 600 mm precipitation and 8.1°C temperature. The soil texture is loamy sand, and the dominating soil type is a Stagnic Cambisol according to the World Reference Base of Soil Resources. The soil has a pH<sub>CaCl2</sub> of 6.3. The site was arranged as a split plot design with four replicates, where two treatments were analysed in the frame of this study: 1) N fertilization 120 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, no additional organic fertilization (Nmin); 2) N fertilization 120 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, organic fertilization with organic fertilizer (30 t ha<sup>-1</sup>) (Nmin-organic). Nmin plots, had 10.8 g TOC kg<sup>-1</sup>, 1.0 g TN kg<sup>-1</sup>, 547 TP mg kg<sup>-1</sup> on average. Nmin-organic plots had 12.1 g TOC kg<sup>-1</sup>, 1.2 g TN kg<sup>-1</sup> and 603 mg TP kg<sup>-1</sup> on average. The organic fertilizer was applied every three years (last application in September 2013) and mineral N fertilizers are applied every year in May (80 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) and June (40 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>). Each plot has a size of 30 m<sup>2</sup>. Each treatment has three replicates. Plots selected for this study were cultivated with maize from 2013 – 2015, except for one sample, where a mix of bean and maize was grown. This sample belonged to the biowaste treatment (Sample Rostock S+2 in Table S1). For tillage soil was ploughed 25 cm deep in autumn after the harvest and soil sampling. The obtained yield in 2015 was 12.1 t DM ha<sup>-1</sup> in the N fertilized plots and 12.0 t DM ha<sup>-1</sup> in the N and organic fertilized plots without significant differences between the treatments.

Samples were taken in April and September of 2015 using a soil auger of 3 cm diameter to a depth of 10 cm. As suggested by Vestergaard et al. (2017) three cores were collected for each plot, pooled, and subsequently homogenized on a 5mm sieve. A total of twenty-four (24) samples were taken (two sites, two sampling time points, three replicates, two treatments). Spring samples were taken before seeding and the initial N - fertilization; the autumn samples were taken with the maize still being present. The samples for the determination of soil microbial biomass were stored at 4°C and analyzed within one week. The samples for nucleic acid extraction were collected and immediately frozen on the field using dry ice.

# **Determination of soil microbial biomass**

For the assessment of Cmic and Nmic the chloroform- fumigation-extraction method as described by (Vance et al., 1987) was used, Correction factors were  $K_{EC}$ =0.45 for Cmic and  $K_{EN}$ =0.54 for Nmic according to Joergensen (1996) and Joergensen and Mueller (1996) respectively. Microbial P (Pmic) was also analyzed using the chloroform-fumigation-extraction method as described by Brookes et al. (1982) and calculated using  $K_{EP}$ =0.4.

# Nucleic acid Extraction and Sequencing

DNA was directly extracted from 0.5g of frozen soil (-80°C) using Precellys 24 (Bertin Technologies, France) using a phenol-chloroform based protocol modified according to Lueders

et al. (2004) and Töwe et al. (2011). Total genomic DNA quality was quantified photometrically (Nanodrop ND-1000; Thermo Fischer Scientific, USA); the quality of the DNA was assessed using the QuantiT PicoGreen kit (Life Technologies, USA). DNA content of all samples was in the range of 14-22 ng/µl. Extracted samples were then stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C before further processing.

Prior to library preparation 1µg of DNA was shared on a COVARIS<sup>®</sup> E220 (Covaris<sup>®</sup>) according to the protocol provided by the manufacturer. (Conditions: Peak incident Factor: 175W; Duty Factor: 5%; Cycles per burst: 200; Treatment time: 35 seconds; Temperature: 7°C; Water level: 6; Intensifier: Yes). Of the 100-200 ng of the shared DNA were used for the Library preparation with NEBNext<sup>®</sup> Ultra<sup>™</sup> DNA Library Prep Kit (New England Biolabs<sup>®</sup> Inc.). All steps were carried out according to the NEBNext<sup>®</sup> Ultra<sup>™</sup> manual (New England Biolabs<sup>®</sup> Inc.). As described in the manual, the adapters for the ligation were diluted 1:10 to prevent the occurrence of primer dimers. Size selection of fragments was performed with Agencourt® AMPure® XP (Beckman Coulter, USA) to obtain a total library size of 500-600bp. Furthermore, an additional cleaning up step (after the PCR) was necessary to eliminate residual primer dimers. Therefore, a bead to DNA ratio of 0.6:1 was used. Libraries were pooled equimolar (4nM). 10 pM of the mixture was spiked with 30 % PhiX, used as a quality and calibration control (Mukherjee et al., 2015). Sequencing was performed on an Illumina<sup>®</sup> Miseq<sup>®</sup> (Illumina<sup>®</sup>) sequencing machine and using the MiSeq<sup>®</sup> Reagent Kit v3 (600 cycles) (Illumina<sup>®</sup>) for paired end sequencing. The raw sequencing data are available at the sequencing read archive (SRA) under the BioProject ID PRJNA385596 (SAMN06894543-SAMN06894566).

# Analysis of sequencing data

MiSeq fastq files were processed by first removing the remnant adaptor sequences and subsequently trimming the reads via AdapterRemoval (Schubert et al., 2016) by applying the following settings: 5'/3'- terminal minimum Phred quality = 15, minimum read length = 50. Furthermore, PhiX contamination was used as a quality and calibration control during the sequencing run (Mukherjee et al., 2015). PhiX was removed using DeconSeq (Schmieder and Edwards, 2011).

For taxonomic and functional annotation, the sequences were blasted against the NCBI-nr database (ftp://ftp.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/blast/db/FASTA/nr.gz) and the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes

and Genomes (KEGG) database (June 2011) (Kanehisa & Goto, 2000) using DIAMOND (0.5.2.32) on sensitive settings (Buchfink et al., 2014). Taxonomic and functional assignment was performed by using MEGAN5 v 5.10.6 (Huson et al., 2011). This was performed based on the top 25 blast results (i.e., hits with the lowest e- value). Following parameters were applied during MEGAN analysis: MinScore = 50.0, MaxExpected = 0.01, TopPercent = 10.0, MinSupport = 1, MinComplexity = 0. Hits with organism names containing words "environmental samples", "unclassified" and "unidentified" were excluded from further analysis. This was done to avoid confusion during visualization (Mizuno et al., 2001; Zhu et al., 2014).

Statistical analyses and visualization were performed using Rstudio (Team, 2015), based upon the relative abundance of reads. Relative abundances were obtained by dividing the number of reads by the total number of filtered reads per sample and multiplication by 100. Using two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), the effects of season, fertilizer, and interaction of both, on taxonomic as well as the functional profiles of the samples were detected. Pairwise differences were identified using the Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) method. Prior to testing for differences, normality of the data was ascertained with Q-Q plots and Shapiro-Wilk tests. Differences were considered significant when the p-value was below 5 % (P < 0.05). Only taxa with a relative abundance of 0.01% and above in one of the samples were included in the statistical analysis of taxonomic profiles. This cut-off was not applied to functional data due to the low number of attained reads. To assess the level of dissimilarity between the samples, nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) ordination plots were created. These are based on the Bray-Curtis distance metrics, which uses the metaMDS function in the R vegan package (Oksanen et al., 2015). All R packages used for this study can be found in Table S6. Visualization of VENN diagrams was performed using InteractiVENN (Heberle et al., 2015). To create these diagrams a family was regarded as present if it occurred in at least two out of three samples.

			Freising					Rostock					
			Nmin Nmin-organic				Nmin Nmin-organic					C	
	Samples	S-1	S2	S3	S+1	S+2	S#3	S-1	S-2	S3	S+1	S+2	SH3
0	Number of reads	1519414	1793634	2014728	3482732	1618966	2477132	2173652	1684256	2227964	2432242	2538612	2368702
- Ę	Average length of reads	301	301	301	301	301	301	301	301	301	301	301	301
, щ	Quality filtered data												
	Number of reads	1519109	1793260	2014479	3481603	1618357	2476260	2172948	1683857	2227777	2431901	2538107	2368511
	Average length of reads	296.90	296.00	297.24	296.74	296.58	295.83	295.99	295.92	296.88	296.16	296.67	295.69
	Pfiltered reads	5324	6319	6275	11554	5629	8008	7366	5528	7054	8423	6468	7568
	Raw data	A-1	A-2	A-3	A+1	A+2	A+3	A-1	A-2	A-3	A+1	A+2	A+3
	Number of reads	1962416	2064692	2444034	2417380	1793994	1740534	1809582	2389842	1914436	2680464	2418498	2700418
<b>E</b>	Average length of reads	301	301	301	301	301	301	301	301	301	301	301	301
mn	Number of reads	2697782	2064385	2443893	2416960	1793125	1739821	1809142	2389425	1913974	2679936	2418081	2697782
Ā	Total length of reads	792376348	613099923	726876595	712436432	531094135	515919695	536941092	708253978	567169242	794836574	715819266	792376348
	Average length of reads	293.71	296.99	297.43	294.77	296.18	296.54	296.79	296.41	296.33	296.59	296.03	293.71
	Pfiltered reads	6566	5747	7694	7466	5526	4953	7221	7150	5525	8737	5672	7747

**Table S1:** Detailed information of sequencing run. Summarized are the number of reads and average length of reads for metagenomic datasets obtained from Freising and Rostock, before and after quality filtering. Samples were taken from plots under different fertilization regimes, in spring and autumn.

Enzyme Name	KO Number	Gene	Reference
Phosphate Regulon Response Regulator	K07657	phoB	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
Phosphate Regulon Sensor Histidine Kinase	K07636	phoR	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
PhoR/PhoB Inhibitor Protein	K02039	phoU	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
Glycerol-3-Phosphate Transporter Subunit	K05813	ugpB	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
Glycerol-3-Phosphate Transporter Subunit	K05814	ugpA	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
Glycerol–3–Phosphate Transporter Subunit	K05815	ugpE	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
Glycerol-3-Phosphate Transporter Subunit	K05816	ugpC	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
Phosphonate Transporter Subunit	K02044	phnD	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
Phosphonate Transporter Subunit	K02042	phnE	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
Phosphonate Transporter Subunit	K02041	phnC	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
Phosphate-Specific Transport System	K02040	pstS	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
Phosphate-Specific Transport System	K02037	pstC	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
Phosphate-Specific Transport System	K02038	pstA	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
Phosphate-Specific Transport System	K02036	pstB	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
Phosphate Inorganic Transporter	K03306	pit	Elvin et al., 1986
Outer Membrane Pore Protein E	K11929	phoE	Hsieh & Wanner, 2010
PQQGDH (Quinoprotein Glucose Dehydrogenase)	K00117	gcd	Cleton-Jansen et al., 1990
C–P Lyase Subunit	K02043	phnF	McGrath et al., 2013
C–P Lyase Subunit	K05774	phnN	McGrath et al., 2013
C–P Lyase Subunit	K05780	phnL	McGrath et al., 2013
C–P Lyase Subunit	K05781	phnK	McGrath et al., 2013
C–P Lyase Subunit	K06162	phnM	McGrath et al., 2013
C-P Lyase Subunit	K06163	phnJ	McGrath et al., 2013
C–P Lyase Subunit	K06164	phnI	McGrath et al., 2013
C–P Lyase Subunit	K06165	phnH	McGrath et al., 2013
C–P Lyase Subunit	K06166	phnG	McGrath et al., 2013
C-P Lyase Subunit	K06167	phnP	McGrath et al., 2013
C–P Lyase Subunit	K09994	phnO	McGrath et al., 2013
Phosphonatase	K05306	phnX	McGrath et al., 2013
3- Phytase	K01083	E3.1.3.8	Golovan et al., 2000
4- Phytase	K01093	appA	Golovan et al., 2000
Phosphotriesterase	K07048	opd	McDaniel et al ., 1988
Glycerophosphoryl Diester Phosphodiesterase	K01126	ugpQ	Brzoska & Boos, 1988
Alkaline Phosphatase	K01113	phoD	Eder et al., 1996
Alkaline Phosphatase	K01077	phoA	Torriani, 1960
Acid Phosphatase (Class A)	K09474	phoN	Rossolini et al ., 1998
Acid Phosphatase (Class B)	K03788	aphA	Rossolini et al ., 1998
Acid Phosphatase (Class C)	K01078	olpA	Rossolini et al ., 1998
Phosphonoacetate Hydrolase	K06193	phnA	McGrath et al., 2013
2-Aminoethylphosphonate (AEP) - Pyruvate Transaminase	K03430	phnW	McGrath et al., 2013

**Table S2:** All investigated enzymes related to the microbial turnover of soil P with KO numberscorresponding genes and references.

Factor	Families general	Families P filtered			
Season	Cryomorphaceae, Lentisphaeraceae,	Fibrobacteraceae,	Dictyoglomaceae, Bacillaceae, Streptococcaceae,		
	Heliobacteriaceae, Methylophilaceae,	Neisseriaceae,	Flammeovirgaceae, Chrysiogenaceae,		
	Desulfuromonadaceae, Polyangiaceae,	Sandaracinaceae,	Elusimicrobiaceae, Desulfovibrionaceae		
	Syntrophorhabdaceae, Campylobacteracea	e,Aeromonadaceae,			
	Ferrimonadaceae, Moritellaceae,	Shewanellaceae,			
	Methylococcaceae, Alcanivoracaceae,	Hahellaceae,			
	Pseudomonadaceae, Acidothermaceae,	Chlamydiaceae,			
	Chloroflexaceae, Oscillochloridaceae,	Roseiflexaceae,			
	Deinococcaceae, Chitinivibrionaceae, Sp	orolactobacillaceae,			
	Kiloniellaceae, Rhodobacteraceae,	Sulfuricellaceae,			
	Enterobacteriaceae, Competibacteraceae, N	Methanospirillaceae,			
	Tuberaceae, Tricholomataceae, Siphoviridae				

Fertilizer	Bacteriovoracaceae,	Alcanivoracaceae,			
	Saprospiraceae,	Bacillaceae,			
	Thermoactinomycetace	eae,			
	Chrysochromulinaceae	, Tuberaceae,			
	Tremellaceae, Charadriidae, Daphniidae				

Cryomorphaceae,	Acidimicrobiaceae,	Acidothermaceae,
Planococcaceae,	Geodermatophilaceae,	Cyclobacteriaceae,
Desulfurococcaceae,	Chlorobiaceae, Opitutad	ceae, Anaerolineaceae,
Tricholomataceae,	Nostocaceae,	Prochlorococcaceae,
	Deinococcaceae, Therma	aceae, Dictyoglomaceae,
	Acidobacteriaceae, Bacilla	aceae, Enterococcaceae,
	Streptococcaceae,	Clostridiaceae,
	Gemmatimonadaceae,	Nitrospiraceae,
	Rhizobiaceae,	Sphingomonadaceae,
	Burkholderiaceae,	Methylophilaceae,
	Pelobacteraceae, A	Anaeromyxobacteraceae,
	Pseudomonadaceae,	Mariprofundaceae,
	Leptospiraceae,	Spirochaetaceae,
	Rhodothermaceae,	Rikenellaceae,
	Ardenticatenaceae,	Chrysiogenaceae,
	Elusimicrobiaceae,	Paenibacillaceae,
	Hyphomonadaceae,	Nannocystaceae,
	Enterobacteriaceae	

Interaction	Actinopolysporacea	ie,		۵	Dehalococcoid	daceae,	Nakamurellaceae,	,	Micrococo	caceae,
	Thermoanaerobact	erales	Family	IV.	Incertae	Sedis,	Propionibacteriac	æae,	Solirubrobacterace	
	Nitrospiraceae,	Kordii	imonadace	eae,	Francisellaceae,		Rhodothermaceae,		Porphyromonadaceae,	
	Coriobacteriaceae, Lactobacillaceae,		ae,	Peptoniphi	laceae,	Cytophagaceae,		Flavobacteriaceae,		
	Acetobacteraceae,	Ferrovac	eae, Desul	furella	ceae, Morite	llaceae,	Chitinophagaceae	2,	Sphingobacter	iaceae,
	Halobacteriaceae, Methanomicrobiaceae,		ceae,	Thermococ	caceae,	Verrucomicrobiac	ceae,	Solibacte	raceae,	
	Clavicipitaceae, Pyr	onemata	ceae				Planctomycetacea	ae,	Caulobacte	raceae,
							Bradyrhizobiaceae	e <i>,</i>	Hyphomicrob	iaceae,
							Rhodospirillaceae	<u>,</u>	Comamonad	laceae,
							Chromobacteriace	eae,	Neisser	iaceae,
							Nitrosomonadace	eae,	Rhodocyc	laceae,
							Bdellovibrionacea	ae,	Cystobacte	raceae,
							Myxococcaceae,		Polyang	iaceae,
							Methylococcacea	е,	Salinisphae	raceae,
							Xanthomonadace	ae,	Catenulispo	raceae,
							Cryomorphaceae,	, Clostri	diales Family	XVII.
							Incertae Sedis, The	ermoanae	erobacterales Fa	mily III.
							Incertae S	Sedis,	Acetobacte	raceae,
							Desulfomicrobiac	eae,	Alteromonad	laceae,
							Moraxellaceae			

**Table S3:** Bacterial families whose relative abundances and involvement in P turnover were significantly affected by season, fertilizer, or interaction of both factors. Significant differences between the treatments were determined by a two-way ANOVA (n = 3, p < 0.05)

Package	Reference
agricolae	De Mendiburu (2015)
asbio	Aho (2015)
binhf	Nunes (2014)
ggplot2	Wickham (2016)
gmodels	Warnes et al. (2015a)
gplots	Warnes et al. (2015b)
gridExtra	Auguie (2015)
GUniFrac	Chen and Orphaned (2012)
knitr	Yihui (2015)
lattice	Sarkar (2008)
lmPerm	Wheeler (2010)
made4	Culhane et al. (2005)
MASS	Venables and Ripley (2002)
nlme	Pinheiro et al. (2016)
pamr	Hastie et al. (2014)
plyr	Wickham (2011)
RColorBrewer	Neuwirth (2014)
reshape2	Wickham (2007)
sciplot	Morales (2012)
sfsmisc	Maechler (2015)
shape	Soetaert (2014)
vegan	Oksanen et al. (2015)
xlsx	Dragulescu (2014)

\_

**Table S4:** R packages used for data visualization.



**Figure S1**: NMDS ordination plots depicting taxonomic profiles on the family level for bacteria found at both sites. Shown in A) is the overall community, and depicted in B) distribution of genes involved in P turnover among bacterial families (n=24). 95% confidence level is depicted as ellipses for each of the triplicates. Taxonomic assignment was performed against the National Center for Biotechnology Information Non-Redundant (NCBI-NR) protein sequences database. Functional genes were derived from the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) Orthology database.



**Figure S2:** Rarefaction curves of metagenomic datasets from samples taken in spring and autumn from Freising and Rostock. Depicted are the numbers of assigned genes involved in P turnover as a function of sequencing depth. Genes were assigned using the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) Orthology database. "S" and "A" at the beginning of the sample names stand for "spring" and "autumn". The following "-" and "+" stand for "Nmin" and "Nmin-organic". The numbers represent the replicate number, 1-3, respectively.



**Figure S3:** Core microbiome for the comparison of the two fertilization treatments Nmin and Nmin-organic by means of stacked barplots. Depicted are all genes involved in P turnover. Percentages describe the total relative abundance of reads assigned to P turnover.

## References

Aho, K. (2015) asbio: A collection of statistical tools for biologists. R package version: 1.1-5.

Auguie, B. (2015) gridExtra: Miscellaneous functions for "Grid" graphics.(R package version 2.0. 0). In.

Brookes, P., Powlson, D., and Jenkinson, D. (1982) Measurement of microbial biomass phosphorus in soil. *Soil Biol Biochem* 14: 319-329.

Buchfink, B., Xie, C., and Huson, D.H. (2015) Fast and sensitive protein alignment using DIAMOND. *Nat Methods* 12: 59-60.

Chen, J., and Orphaned, M. (2012) Package 'GUniFrac'.

Culhane, A.C., Thioulouse, J., Perrière, G., and Higgins, D.G. (2005) MADE4: an R package for multivariate analysis of gene expression data. *Bioinformatics* 21: 2789-2790.

De Mendiburu, F. (2015) Agricolae: statistical procedures for agricultural research. *R package version 12-*2 1.

Dragulescu, A. (2014) xlsx: Read, write, format Excel 2007 and Excel 97/2000/XP/2003 files. R package version 0.5.7. In. version, R.p. (ed).

Hastie, T., Tibshirani, R., Narasimhan, B., and Chu, G. (2014) pamr: Pam: prediction analysis for microarrays. R package version 1.55. *R package*.

Huson, D.H., Mitra, S., Ruscheweyh, H.-J., Weber, N., and Schuster, S.C. (2011) Integrative analysis of environmental sequences using MEGAN4. *Genome Res* 21: 1552-1560.

Joergensen, R.G. (1996) The fumigation-extraction method to estimate soil microbial biomass: calibration of the k EC value. *Soil Biol Biochem* 28: 25-31.

Joergensen, R.G., and Mueller, T. (1996) The fumigation-extraction method to estimate soil microbial biomass: calibration of the k EN value. *Soil Biol Biochem* 28: 33-37.

Kanehisa, M., and Goto, S. (2000) KEGG: Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes. *Nucleic Acids Res* 28: 27-30.

Lueders, T., Manefield, M., and Friedrich, M.W. (2004) Enhanced sensitivity of DNA-and rRNA-based stable isotope probing by fractionation and quantitative analysis of isopycnic centrifugation gradients. *Environ Microbiol* 6: 73-78.

Maechler, M. (2015) sfsmisc: utilities from seminar fuer Statistik ETH Zurich. *R package version 10-28*: 1.0-24.

Mizuno, H., Tanaka, Y., Nakai, K., and Sarai, A. (2001) ORI-GENE: gene classification based on the evolutionary tree. *Bioinformatics* 17: 167-173.

125

Morales, M. (2012) Sciplot: scientific graphing functions for factorial designs. R package version 1.1-0. *R* package version 1: 0-9.

Mukherjee, S., Huntemann, M., Ivanova, N., Kyrpides, N.C., and Pati, A. (2015) Large-scale contamination of microbial isolate genomes by Illumina PhiX control. *Stand Genomic Sci* 10: 18.

Neuwirth, E. (2014) RColorBrewer: ColorBrewer palettes. R package version 1.1-2. *R package version* 1. Nunes, M., and Nunes, M.M. (2014) Package 'binhf'.

Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, P., O'Hara, R. et al. (2015) Vegan: community ecology package. R package vegan, vers. 2.2-1. In.

Pinheiro, J., Bates, D., DebRoy, S., Sarkar, D., and Team, R.C. (2016) nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. R package version 3.1-125. *R package version*.

Sarkar, D. (2008) Lattice: multivariate data visualization with R: Springer Science & Business Media.

Schmieder, R., and Edwards, R. (2011) Fast Identification and Removal of Sequence Contamination from Genomic and Metagenomic Datasets. *PLoS ONE* 6: e17288.

Schubert, M., Lindgreen, S., and Orlando, L. (2016) AdapterRemoval v2: rapid adapter trimming, identification, and read merging. *BMC Res Notes* 9: 88.

Soetaert, K. (2014) shape: Functions for plotting graphical shapes, colors. R package version 1.

Töwe, S., Wallisch, S., Bannert, A., Fischer, D., Hai, B., Haesler, F. et al. (2011) Improved protocol for the simultaneous extraction and column-based separation of DNA and RNA from different soils. *J Microbiol Meth* 84: 406-412.

Vance, E., Brookes, P., and Jenkinson, D. (1987) An extraction method for measuring soil microbial biomass C. *Soil Biol Biochem* 19: 703-707.

Venables, W.N., and Ripley, B.D. (2002) *Modern applied statistics with S*: Springer Science & Business Media.

Vestergaard, G., Schulz, S., Schöler, A., and Schloter, M. (2017) Making big data smart—how to use metagenomics to understand soil quality. *Biol Fert Soils*: 1-6.

Warnes, G.R., Bolker, B., Lumley, T., and Johnson, R.C. (2015a) gmodels: Various R Programming Tools for Model Fitting. R package version 2.16.2. 2.

Warnes, G.R., Bolker, B., Bonebakker, L., Gentleman, R., Huber, W., Liaw, A. et al. (2015b) gplots: Various R Programming Tools for Plotting Data. R package version 2.17.0. *R package version* 2.

Wheeler, R.E. (2010) Permutation tests for linear models in R. *The Comprehensive R Archive Network* 1: 1-2.

Wickham, H. (2007) Reshaping data with the reshape package. J Stat Softw 21: 1-20.

Wickham, H. (2011) The split-apply-combine strategy for data analysis. J Stat Softw 40: 1-29.

Wickham, H. (2016) ggplot2: elegant graphics for data analysis: Springer.

Yihui, X. (2015) knitr: A General-Purpose Package for Dynamic Report Generation in R. R package version 1.11. *R package version*.

Zhu, Q., Kosoy, M., and Dittmar, K. (2014) HGTector: an automated method facilitating genome-wide discovery of putative horizontal gene transfers. *BMC genomics* 15: 717.

Manuscript II

#### DOI: 10.1002/jpln.201800499

# Effect of triple superphosphate and biowaste compost on mycorrhizal colonization and enzymatic P mobilization under maize in a long-term field experiment

Manuela Peine<sup>1</sup>, Nora Vitow<sup>1</sup>, Martin Grafe<sup>2</sup>, Christel Baum<sup>1\*</sup>, Theresa Zicker<sup>3</sup>, Bettina Eichler-Löbermann<sup>3</sup>, Stefanie Schulz<sup>4</sup>, Michael Schloter<sup>4</sup>, and Peter Leinweber<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Soil Science, University of Rostock, Justus-von-Liebig-Weg 6, 18059 Rostock, Germany

<sup>2</sup> Chair of Plant Nutrition, Technische Universität München, Emil-Erlenmeyer-Forum 2, 85354 Freising, Germany

<sup>3</sup> Agronomy and Crop Science, University of Rostock, Justus-von-Liebig-Weg 6, 18059 Rostock, Germany

<sup>4</sup> Research Unit Comparative Microbiome Analysis, Helmholtz Zentrum München, Deutsches Forschungszentrum für Gesundheit und Umwelt (GmbH), Ingolstädter Landstr. 1, 85764 Neuherberg, Germany

#### Abstract

Phosphorus (P) fertilizers and mycorrhiza formation can both significantly improve the P supply of plants, but P fertilizers might inhibit mycorrhiza formation and change the microbial P cycling. To test the dimension and consequences of P fertilizer impacts under maize (Zea mays L.), three fertilizer treatments (1) triple superphosphate (TSP, 21-30 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> annually), biowaste compost (ORG, 30 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> wet weight every third year) and a combination of both (OMI) were compared to a non-P-fertilized control (C) in 2015 and 2016. The test site was a long-term field experiment on a Stagnic Cambisol in Rostock (NE Germany). Soil microbial biomass P (Pmin) and soil enzyme activities involved in P mobilization (phosphatases and ß-glucosidase), plantavailable P content (double lactate-extract; P<sub>DL</sub>), mycorrhizal colonization, shoot biomass, and shoot P concentrations were determined. P deficiency led to decreased P immobilization in microbial biomass, but the maize growth was not affected. TSP application alone promoted the P uptake by the microbial biomass but reduced the mycorrhizal colonization of maize compared to the control by more than one third. Biowaste compost increased soil enzyme activities in the P cycling, increased  $\mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{mic}}$  and slightly decreased the mycorrhizal colonization of maize. Addition of TSP to biowaste compost increased the content of  $P_{DL}$  in soil to the level of optimal plant supply. Single TSP supply decreased the ratio of  $P_{DL}$ :  $P_{mic}$  to 1:1 from about 4:1 in the control. Decreased plant-benefits from mycorrhizal symbiosis were assumed from decreased mycorrhizal colonization of maize with TSP supply. The undesirable side effects of TSP supply on the microbial P cycling can be alleviated by the use of compost. Thus, it can be concluded that the plant-availability of P from soil amendments is controlled by the amendment-specific microbial P cycling and, likely, P transfer to plants.

Key words: compost / microbial biomass / mycorrhiza / P fertilization / phosphatases

Accepted December 02, 2018

#### 1 Introduction

Phosphorus (P) is beside nitrogen (N) one of the most important nutrient elements limiting plant growth. However, economically mineable P deposits are finite and often contaminated with cadmium and uranium (*Mar* and *Okazaki*, 2012; *Kratz* et al., 2016). Thus, an adequate P supply to crops combined with minimal nutrient losses into ground and surface water are important for a sustainable agriculture. In general, supply of organic amendments, such as compost, straw or manure, have become increasingly popular strategies in agriculture (*Eichler-Löbermann* et al., 2007; *Nelson* and *Janke*, 2007; *Ohm* et al., 2017), as they combine an improved nutrient availability for plants with other soil ecological benefits, like carbon sequestration and biocontrol of plant pathogens (*Baum* et al., 2015). However, the needed amount of organic fertilizer to ensure an optimal supply of plants with P is often difficult to calculate compared to mineral P fertilizers. This originates from large variations in the composition of organic fertilizers affecting the amounts of organic and inorganic P (*Traoré* et al., 1999) and the manifold transformations of organic compounds and nutrient releases depending on many abiotic and biotic factors, including microbial activities. Microbes catalyze key processes in soil P cycle, such as P mineralization or immobilization, e.g., by the release of hydrolytic enzymes into soil (*Bergkemper* et al., 2016). Consequently, the soil microbial biomas has been considered as temporal sink and source of P (*Oberson* and *Joner*, 2005). Lack of P leads to a higher P use efficiency of microbes (*Bünemann* et al., 2004; *Olander* and *Vitousek*, 2004). There-

© 2018 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim



<sup>\*</sup> Correspondence: C. Baum; e-mail: christel.baum@uni-rostock.de

#### 2 Peine, Vitow, Grafe, Baum et al.

fore, favorable fertilization strategies have to consider the soil microbial resources, which are insufficiently understood and applied in agronomic practice so far (Bargaz et al., 2018). Recently, high stability of bacterial potentials for uptake, solubilization and mineralization of extracellular P in agricultural soils under different fertilization regimes was demonstrated (Grafe et al., 2018). Beside bacteria, fungi control the microbial P cycling and transfer to the plants (Bargaz et al., 2018). Fungi were revealed to receive maize-derived C to a greater extent than the total soil microbial biomass (Kramer et al., 2012), and any P supply, e.g., by fertilizers might affect P plant-availability through the stoichiometric regulation of C cycling by the P availability (Hartman et al., 2017). For this reason, we investigated the microbial response on defined mineral and organic fertilization treatments to propose favorable fertilization strategies. We evaluated the impact of inorganic, organic and combined inorganic / organic fertilization on the microbial P transformation and the supply of crops with supply based on a long-term field experiment with maize (Zea mays L.). This crop was selected because of its high P demand and high economic significance (Muhammad et al., 2007) and because it can have a strong mycorrhizal dependency (Ortas and Akpinar, 2011). The present study tested the following hypotheses: (1) plant-availability of P from soil amendments is controlled by the amendment-specific microbial P turnover. (2) Different forms of P fertilizer will selectively trigger changes in microbial P transformations and regulate the retention of P in soil or its transfer to the plants.

#### 2 Material and methods

#### 2.1 Study area and sampling

The study was conducted in 2015 and 2016 at a long-term field experimental test site in Northern Germany  $(54^{\circ}3'41.47''N; 12^{\circ}5'5.59''E)$  with consistent fertilization management since 1998. The mean of temperature is  $8.1^{\circ}C$  and that of annual precipitation 600 mm. The test years differed mainly in their water supply by precipitation with considerably lower precipitation in the sampling periods in 2016 than in 2015 (Fig. 1). The predominant soil unit is a Stagnic Cambisol according to the World References Base for Soil Resources. The soil texture of the topsoil was characterized as loamy sand.

J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2018, 000, 1-8



Figure 1: Temperature (line, monthly mean) and precipitation (bars, monthly sum) at the experimental test site in Rostock; arrows indicate spring and autumn samplings in 2015 and 2016.

The crop rotation was dominated by maize which had been grown also in the test years 2015 and 2016. The experiment was designed as randomized split plot in four replicates. The plots of interest for this study comprised three fertilizer treatments: triple superphosphate (MIN), biowaste compost (ORG), biowaste compost + triple superphosphate (OMI), and a control (C) without additional P fertilization. Triple superphosphate (TSP) was applied annually at rates of about  $21.8\,kg\,P\,ha^{-1}$  until 2013, and at rates of  $30\,kg\,P\,ha^{-1}$  from 2014. Biowaste compost was applied at rates of 30 tha-1 in autumn every third year since 1998 (latest application before the test period in 2013). Since establishment of the test site in 1998 until the beginning of this study in spring 2015, the treatments with mineral and organic fertilizers received approx. 400 kg P ha-1, combined treatments with TSP and biowaste compost approx. 800 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup>, and the control has not received any P since 1998. The initial concentration of double lacatate P (Pdl) was 42.2 mg P kg<sup>-1</sup>, indicating a suboptimal P supply according to the German soil phosphorus classification (Eichler-Löbermann et al., 2007). For further details on organic and inorganic P forms in the present experiment see Requejo and Eichler-Löbermann (2014). Maize was fertilized annually with 120 kg N ha-1 as calcium ammonium nitrate and 125 kg ha-1 potassium during the whole duration of the field experiment. Within the period of investigation, it was applied after the spring samplings. Soil management included annual tillage up to a depth of 20 cm after the autumn sampling.

Soil samples were taken in spring before sowing and in autumn before harvesting in 2015 and 2016, respectively.

**Table 1**: Soil properties of the different fertilization treatments at the beginning of the experiment at the test site Rostock in 2015.  $C_{org}$ : organic C content; N; total N content; P; total P content. n = 6; mean values  $\pm$  standard deviation; post hoc test Tukey HSD p < 0.05; abc = differences between treatments.

Fertilization treatment	pH <sub>CaCl<sub>2</sub></sub>	C <sub>org</sub> (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	N <sub>t</sub> (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	P <sub>t</sub> (mg kg <sup>−1</sup> )
Control (C)	$5.98\pm0.32a$	$7.15\pm0.32a$	$0.82\pm0.03a$	$544\pm60a$
MIN (+TSP <sup>a</sup> )	$6.09\pm0.21a$	$8.00 \pm 1.24 a$	$0.82\pm0.09a$	$550\pm43a$
Biowaste compost (ORG)	$5.95\pm0.28a$	$10.40\pm0.31b$	$1.05\pm0.04\text{b}$	$622\pm107ab$
Biowaste compost +TSP (OMI)	$6.13\pm0.17a$	$9.78\pm0.53\text{b}$	$1.06\pm0.08\text{b}$	$609\pm31b$

<sup>a</sup>TSP: triplesuperphosphate.

© 2018 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim

#### J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2018, 000, 1-8

Sampling was conducted in three of the four replicate plots for each fertilization treatment. Five soil cores per plot were taken with a corer (3 cm diameter) from the upper topsoil (0 to 10 cm soil depth), bulked and subsamples were stored at  $4^{\circ}$ C for microbial and dried at  $60^{\circ}$ C for chemical analyses, respectively.

The total shoot biomass was harvested in both years in autumn when fully ripe (BBCH 89) by cutting the shoots 5 cm above the ground. Biomass samples were dried at 60°C and milled (Retsch GmbH, Haan, Germany) for elemental analyses.

#### 2.2 Analyses of soil properties and plant traits

The soil pH was measured in a  $0.01 \text{ MCaCl}_2$  solution (w/v 1/2.5). Total concentrations of carbon, nitrogen, and sulfur in soil were determined by a CNS Analyzer (Vario EL Fa. Foss Heraeus, Hanau, Germany) using air dried soil.

Double lactate-extractable P (P<sub>dl</sub>), considered to be the plantavailable P fraction (e.g., *Kerschberger* et al., 1997), was determined by extracting P from 12 g soil with 150 mL lactate solution (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>10</sub>CaO<sub>6</sub> · H<sub>2</sub>O + 10N HCl) according to Hoffmann (*Hoffmann*, 1991; *VDLUFA*, 1991). Phosphate concentrations in the soil extract were determined by using the vanadate molybdate method with a spectral photometer (Specord 40, Analytik Jena, Germany). P<sub>dl</sub> represent the plant-available P in soils (*Beyme*, 1980).

For the analysis of the P content, 0.1 g of the ground plant material were digested with 5 mL HNO<sub>3</sub> and 3 mL H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in a microwave (Mars Xpress, CEM, Kamp-Lintfort, Germany) and diluted with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>dest</sub> to a volume of 25 mL. Concentrations of P were determined with inductively coupled plasma-optical emission spectroscopy (ICP-OES, Optima 8300, Perkin Elmer, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA) at wave lengths of 214.914 nm.

Mycorrhizal colonization density of fine roots in the soil was determined in autumn 2015 and autumn 2016. Fine roots were rinsed and cut into 10-mm segments. The segments were cleared with 10% (w/v) KOH (*Phillips* and *Hayman*, 1970) at room temperature for 24 h and stained with 0.05% (w/v) chlorazol black E (*Brundrett* et al., 1983). The arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization was quantified microscopically using the intersection method of *McGonigle* et al. (1990).

#### 2.3 Analyses of soil microbial biomass and soil enzyme activities

Soil microbial biomass phosphorus (P<sub>mic</sub>) was assessed by chloroform-fumigation extraction using a  $k_{\rm EP}$  factor of 0.4 to convert extracted P into P<sub>mic</sub>, assuming that 40% of the biomass P are extractable as inorganic P (P<sub>i</sub>) (*Brookes* et al., 1982).

P concentrations in the extracts were measured by ICP-OES (Optima 8300, Perkin Elmer, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA) at a wave length of 214.94 nm.

© 2018 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim

#### Fertilizer effects on microbial P cycling under maize 3

Measurements of potential enzyme activity were conducted for acid and alkaline phosphomonoesterases (ACP and ALP; *Tabatabai* and *Bremner*, 1969), phosphodiesterases (PDE; *Browman* and *Tabatabai*, 1977; *Tabatabai*, 1982). The enzyme activities were measured in µmol *p*-nitrophenol as phenol released from a pre-given substrate solution in 1 g field moisfucation was the refrain from adding toluene as suggested by *Nannipieri* et al. (1978) for this short incubation period.

#### 2.4 Statistical analyses

Analyses were performed with R studio and R packages hmisc (https://www.r-project.org; version 4.0-2) as well as agricolae (https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/agricolae/ index.html; version 1.2-4). Soil properties, parameters of microbial activity and mycorrhizal colonization were analysed using the Kruskal test. Significance was considered at p < 0.05 and significant differences between treatments were indicated by using different letters. The treatment specific changes in the activities of hydrolytic enzymes were tested with principal component analysis (PCA) using the software package PAST (*Hammer* et al., 2001).

#### **3 Results**

# 3.1 Plant-available P, mycorrhizal colonization and P in microbial and plant biomass

The application of inorganic and organic fertilizers increased the content of plant-available P in soil and of microbial P but had no significant impact on the biomass production of maize (Tab. 2). The combined organic and inorganic fertilizer (OMI) resulted in the highest concentrations of plant-available P (P<sub>dl</sub>) in soil that were larger by factor 1.3 to 1.8 than in the control (spring 2016).

The ratio of microbial biomass P on the total P in the soil was significantly increased after fertilization [in the control (C): 1.9% vs. fertilized treatments with 8.4% in MIN, 3.7% in ORG and 6.0% in OMI; calculated from Tabs. 1 and 2].

The mycorrhizal colonization in 2015 was constantly higher than in 2016 (Fig. 2). The MIN treatment had the lowest mycorrhizal colonization, 31% of the root length in 2015, and 17% in 2016. Also the combined treatment OMI showed a significant reduction of mycorrhizal colonization from 2015 to 2016. Within 2016, the mineral and the combined amendments differed significantly to the control.

The nutritional status of the maize was in the optimal range in all treatments (according to reference data of *Kerschberger* et al., 1997). The P uptake by maize ranged from  $17-21 \text{ kg P ha}^{-1}$  in autumn 2015 and 20–28 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> in autumn 2016, without significant differences between the treatments.

#### 4 Peine, Vitow, Grafe, Baum et al.

**Table 2**: Double lactate-extractable P ( $P_{dl}$ ), microbial P, shoot biomass and shoot P ( $P_{phytomass}$ ) of maize as affected by different P fertilizer treatments at the test site Rostock (C: control; MIN: triple superphosphate; ORG: compost; OMI: compost + triple superphosphate); n = 9; mean values  $\pm$  standard deviation; post hoc test Tukey HSD p < 0.05; abc = differences between treatments within the sampling date.

Year	Spring				Autumn			
2015	с	MIN	ORG	ОМІ	С	MIN	ORG	OMI
P <sub>dl</sub> (mg P kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$43.3\pm3.7a$	47.1 ± 18.2ab	$55.8 \pm 0.6 \text{b}$	$58.9 \pm 1.6 \text{b}$	$30.2\pm1.7a$	$\textbf{36.7} \pm \textbf{3.2b}$	$42.1\pm5.3 \text{bc}$	$48.6\pm1.9\text{c}$
Microbial P (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> ) DM)	$10.7\pm4.1a$	$46.4\pm7.5c$	$22.9\pm3.1\text{b}$	$36.3\pm5.1\text{c}$	$7.4\pm3.9a$	$17.0\pm5.9\text{b}$	$20.1\pm6.7b$	$\textbf{4.8} \pm \textbf{1.5a}$
Shoot biomass (t DM ha <sup>-1</sup> )					$12.1\pm0.3a$	$10.5\pm1.1a$	$10.9\pm0.8a$	$12.0\pm0.7a$
P <sub>phytomass</sub> (g kg <sup>-1</sup> DM)					$1.6\pm0.2a$	$1.7\pm0.1a$	$1.7\pm0.2a$	$1.9\pm0.4a$
2016	С	MIN	ORG	OMI	С	MIN	ORG	OMI
P <sub>dl</sub> (mg P kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$26.5\pm2.5a$	$\textbf{34.0} \pm \textbf{5.8bc}$	$\textbf{35.5} \pm \textbf{1.3b}$	$48.6\pm2.9\text{c}$	$\textbf{33.1} \pm \textbf{3.9a}$	$\textbf{36.0} \pm \textbf{9.3a}$	$44.5\pm0.8a$	$\textbf{46.1} \pm \textbf{13.7a}$
Microbial P (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> )	$\textbf{8.8} \pm \textbf{1.6a}$	$31.4\pm2.8c$	$16.2\pm6.7b$	$19.0\pm4.7\text{b}$	2.1 ± 1.5a	$11.7\pm9.2\text{b}$	$7.2\pm1.6b$	$14.0\pm7.2b$
Shoot biomass (t DM ha <sup>-1</sup> )					$18.6\pm3.5a$	$17.8\pm3.3a$	$19.8\pm0.9a$	$18.8\pm2.2a$
P <sub>phytomass</sub> (g kg <sup>-1</sup> DM)					1.2 ± 0.9a	1.1 ± 0.4a	$1.3\pm0.3a$	1.3±0.1a



Figure 2: Mycorrhizal colonization of fine roots of maize (Zea mays) as affected by fertilization treatments (C: control; MIN: triple superphosphate; ORG: compost; OMI: compost + triple superphosphate) at the field experiment in Rostock in 2015 and 2016; mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 9), post hoc test Kruskal–Wallis p < 0.05; abc = differences between treatments within a sampling date; ABC = differences between samplings within a treatment.

#### 3.2 Soil enzyme activities

Supply of organic fertilizer (ORG, OMI) resulted in significantly increased potential activities of ACP, ALP, PDE, and GLA compared to treatments with inorganic (MIN) or without P fertilization (C) (Fig. 3). There were no significant differences between the C and MIN treatments or ORG and OMI, respectively. Increases of the activities of ALP and PDE in response to the fertilizer application were larger by factor of 1.5 for ORG / OMI compared to MIN. In general, fertilization treatment-specific differences were mainly stronger in spring without the influence of the vegetation, with exception of PDE in autumn 2016. ALP and PDE were not affected by ferti-

© 2018 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim

lization in autumn 2016. Further, enzyme activities varied within a year. Activities for ACP (except 2015), ALP, PDE, and GLA were higher in spring than in autumn at the two samplings.

There was a clear splitting of the joint soil enzyme activities involved in the P cycling between treatments without (C, MIN) and with organic amendments (ORG, OMI; see Fig. 4).

#### 4 Discussion

In response to long-term P-deficiency, low microbial biomass P (2.1 to 10.7 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) was revealed in the control (C) of the present experiment. This impact of P-deficiency was also observed in long-term field experiments at Alfisols in China (Luo et al., 2015). The range of biomass P in the control of the present study was at a same level as determined in a sandy Haplic Cambisol by Heinze et al. (2010). Fertilizer supply significantly increased the microbial P contents in the topsoil of the present experiment, especially in the treatments with inorganic P application in form of TSP (Tab. 2). This indicates a fast use of P from TSP by the soil microorganisms. Significantly lower microbial biomass P in 2015 than in 2016 can be explained by the dryness in the sampling months in 2016 (see Fig. 1). This also decreased the hydrolytic soil enzyme activities (see Fig. 3) due to their general strong correlation with the soil moisture (Chen et al., 2003; Nannipieri et al., 2011).

Although the portion of microbial biomass P on total P of cropped soil is usually low (mainly < 3%; *Oberson* and *Joner*, 2005) as confirmed in the present experiment, it was significantly increased after TSP supply to up to 8% on the total P

J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2018, 000, 1-8

Fertilizer effects on microbial P cycling under maize 5



Figure 3: Potential soil enzyme activities in spring and autumn 2015 and 2016 as affected by fertilization treatments (C: control; MIN: triple superphosphate; ORG: compost; OMI: compost + triple superphosphate) at the field experiment in Rostock; mean  $\pm$  SD (n = 9), post hoc test Kruskal–Wallis p < 0.05; abc = differences between treatments within a sampling date; ABC = differences between samplings within a treatment.

(calculated from Tabs. 1 and 2). Therefore, a rising significance of the microbial biomass P pool for the plant supply in this treatment can be derived from this result.



Figure 4: Principal component analysis (PCA) of enzyme activities in soils in spring 2015 and 2016 as affected by fertilization treatments (C: control; MIN: triple superphosphate; ORG: compost; OMI: compost + triple superphosphate) at the field experiment in Rostock.

© 2018 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim

Oppositely to the microbial biomass P, soil enzyme activities were stronger affected by organic amendments than by TSP supply (see Tab. 2, Fig. 3). This can be explained by the substrate supply and improved soil chemical and

physical properties (Jones and Oburger, 2011). Increased microbial activity and P uptake in response to organic amendments were described previously also by *Oberson* et al. (2001) from a legume rotation. However, an initial promotion of the P mobilization after organic amendments even can be followed by a decreased mobilization in the long-term (*Martens* et al., 1992). In the present experiment, no decreased mobilization by hydrolytic enzymes was indicated so far.

Microbial immobilization of P is affected by the C:P ratio in the soil mass (Bünemann et al., 2004; Achat et al., 2009). This was confirmed by a smaller ratio of  $\mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{DL}}:\mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{mic}}$  in MIN with TSP, but no organic C addition (1:1) than in the control (4:1). This might indicate a stronger plant-microbial competition for P in this treatment, which is supported by a decreased P uptake of maize (biomass × P concentration in the shoots; calculated from Tab. 2). The P uptake of maize was even lower with TSP than in the control (2015: control 19.6 vs. +TSP 17.6 kg P per hectare and 2016: control 22.3 vs. 19.6 kg P per hectare). In this context, Zhang et al. (2014) revealed in a pot experiment that reducing the C:P ratio by addition of inorganic P to the soil can lessen the competition for P of the soil microorganisms with maize as test plant. This was supported by jointly higher plant-available and micro-

#### 6 Peine, Vitow, Grafe, Baum et al.

bial biomass P contents after TSP addition in combination with biowaste compost in comparison to single biowaste compost addition (see Tab. 2).

The impact of the substrate supply by organic amendments caused a clear differentiation of the treatments with (ORG and OMI) from those without organic amendments (C and MIN) in the activities of soil enzymes involved in the hydrolytic P mobilization (see Fig. 4). Increased soil enzyme activities in response to organic amendments with compost and municipal wastewater sludge were described previously also by *Leifeld* et al. (2002) and *Dindar* et al. (2015).

In the present experiment, contents of  $P_{dl}$  in the control (C) were always suboptimal (26.5–43.3 mg P kg<sup>-1</sup>) and only in the treatment with biowaste compost + TSP (46.1–48.6 mg P kg<sup>-1</sup>) always in the optimal range (45–90 mg P kg<sup>-1</sup>) according to German fertilization recommendations (*Kerschberger* et al., 1997). According to these a slight growth promotion after P fertilization was expected, however, no significant impact on the shoot biomass was observed in both test years (see Tab. 2), but only slightly increased total P uptake in the shoot biomass in the treatments with organic amendments (calculated from shoot weight × P concentration; Tab. 2).

As the early growth of maize is the most important period for the yield-relevant P uptake of the crop (*Oberson* et al., 1993), the microbial P cycling in spring should be especially important, whereas increased activities in the autumn might increase the risk of P losses. Thereby, higher phosphatase activities in the soil must not necessarily result in an increased plant P uptake (*De Freitas* et al., 1997). In the present study, increased phosphatase activities were not related with increased shoot biomass of maize. Similar observations were reported from experiments of *Gransee* and *Merbach* (2000) and *Bünemann* et al. (2004).

Since maize usually receives up to 60% of its total P requirements through mycorrhizal symbiosis (Nurlaeny et al., 1996), it can be supposed that an inhibited or disturbed mycorrhizal association can be one of the main reasons for P deficiency. In the present experiment, the mycorrhizal colonization of maize in 2015 was with up to 50% of the root length (Fig. 2) within and in 2016 below the level of typical mycorrhizal colonization of maize (Rakshit and Bhadoria, 2010). Significantly higher mycorrhizal colonization in the control than after TSP application in 2016 (Fig. 2) might have enhanced the drought tolerance of maize in the control, since this impact of mycorrhizal symbiosis in maize was described in advance by Quiroga et al. (2017) for drought-sensitive cultivars. Decreased mycorrhizal colonization was particularly observed after TSP application without organic amendments (see Fig. 2) and was linked with the lowest average yield and P uptake of maize (see Tab. 2). This confirms the significance of mycorrhizal formation for maize growth in drought stress. Similarly, a decreased mycorrhizal colonization after application of fertilizer P was already reported for soybean and wheat (Manna et al., 2007). It can be suggested, that the impact of TSP on mycorrhizal fungi varies significantly and might partly even include their promotion, e.g., in relation to the presence of organic matter. This was observed in a pot experiment by

© 2018 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim

*Prasad* et al. (2012). However, usually mycorrhizal significance for the P supply of host plants increase under P deficiency (*Smith* et al., 2011), as assumed for control treatment in the present study. Thus, in summary, the present study indicated a general fertilization impact on enzymatic P mobilization, microbial immobilization, and potential P transfer to host plants by mycorrhizal fungi.

#### **5** Conclusions

P deficiency leads to a decreased P immobilization in the microbial biomass and to an increased potential for mycorrhizal P transfer of from soil to the host plant.

Inorganic P supply in P deficiency might favor microbial use instead of plant uptake.

Plant growth promotion by inorganic P might be enhanced by joint C supply by organic amendments, caused by the coupling of C and P cycling and through increased mycorrhizal colonization.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the kind providing of weather data by Prof. K. Miegel (Hydrology and applied Meteorology, University of Rostock) and valuable technical assistance of Ms. B. Balz and Ms. E. Heilmann (Soil Science, University of Rostock). The authors gratefully acknowledge the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) for funding the BonaRes project InnoSoilPhos (No. 031A558). This research was performed within the scope of the Leibniz ScienceCampus Phosphorus Research Rostock.

#### References

- Achat, D. L., Bakker, M. R., Morel, C. (2009): Process based assessment of phosphorus availability in a low phosphorus sorbing forest soil using isotopic dilution methods. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 73, 2131–2142.
- Baum, C., Eichler-Löbermann, B., Hrynkiewicz, K. (2015): Impact of Organic Amendments on the Suppression of Fusarium Wilt, in Meghvansi, M. K., Varma, A. (eds.): Organic Amendments and Soil Suppressiveness in Plant Disease Management. Springer, New York, NY, USA, pp. 353–362.
- Bargaz, A., Lyamlouli, K., Chtouki, M., Zeroual, Y., Dhiba, D. (2018): Soil microbial resources for improving fertilizers efficiency in an integrated plant nutrient management system. *Front. Microbiol.* 9. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01606.
- Bergkemper, F., Bünemann, E. K., Hauenstein, S., Heuck, C., Kandeler, E., Krüger, J., Marhan, S., Mészáros, É., Nassal, D., Nassal, P., Oelmann, Y., Pistocchi, C., Schloter, M., Spohn, M., Talkner, U., Zederer, D. P., Schulz, S. (2016): An inter-laboratory comparison of gaseous and liquid fumigation based methods for measuring microbial phosphorus (P<sub>mic</sub>) in forest soils with differing P stocks. J. Microbiol. Meth. 128, 66–68.
- Brookes, P. C., Powlson, D. S., Jenkinson, D. S. (1982): Measurement of microbial biomass phosphorus in soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 14, 319–329.
- Browman, M. G., Tabatabai, M. A. (1978): Phosphodiesterase activity of soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 42, 284–290.

#### J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 2018, 000, 1-8

- Brundrett, M. C., Piché, Y., Peterson, R. .L. (1983): A new method for observing the morphology of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae. *Can. J. Bot.* 62, 2128–2134.
- Bünemann, E. K., Bossio, D. A., Smithson, P. C., Frossard, E., Oberson, A. (2004): Microbial community composition and substrate use in a highly weathered soil as affected by crop rotation and P fertilization. Soil Biol. Biochem. 36, 889–901.
- Chen, C. R., Condron, L. M., Davis, M. R., Sherlock, R. R. (2003): Seasonal changes in soil phosphorus and associated microbial properties under adjacent grassland and forest in New Zealand. Forest Ecol. Manag. 117, 539–557.
- De Freitas, J. R., Banerjee, M. R., Germida, J. J. (1997): Phosphate solubilizing rhizobacteria enhance the growth and yield but not phosphorus uptake of canola (*Brassica napus* L.). *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 24, 358–364.
- Dindar, E., Şağban, F. O., Başkaya, H. S. (2015): Evaluation-of soil enzyme activities as soil quality indicators in sludge-amended soils. J. Environ. Biol. 36, 919–926.
- Eichler-Löbermann, B., Köhne, S., Kowalski, B., Schnug, E. (2007): Effect of catch cropping on phosphorus bioavailability in comparison to organic and inorganic fertilization. J. Plant Nutr. 31, 659–676.
- Eivazi, F., Tabatabai, M. A. (1977): Phosphatases in soils. Soil Biol. Biochem. 9, 167–172.
- Grafe, M., Goers, M., von Tucher, S., Baum, C., Zimmer, D., Leinweber, P., Vestergaard, G., Kublik, S., Schloter, M., Schulz, S. (2018): Bacterial potentials for uptake, solubilization and mineralization of extracellular phosphorus in agricultural soils are highly stable under different fertilization regimes. *Environ. Microbiol. Rep.* 10, 320–327.
- Gransee, A., Merbach, W. (2000): Phosphorus dynamics in a longterm P fertilization trial on Luvic Phaeozem at Halle. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 163, 353–357.
- Hammer, Ø., Harper, D. A. T., Ryan, P. D. (2001): PAST: Paleontological statistics software package for education and data analysis. *Palaeontol. Electron.* 4. Available at: http://palaeo-electronica.org/ 2001\_1/past/issue1\_01.htm
- Hartman, W. H., Ye, R., Horwath, W. R., Tringe, S. G. (2017): A genomic perspective on stoichiometric regulation of soil carbon cycling. ISME J. 11, 2652–2655.
- Heinze, S., Raupp, J., Joergensen, R. G. (2010): Effects of fertilizer and spatial heterogeneity in soil pH on microbial biomass indices in a long-term field trial of organic agriculture. *Plant Soil* 328, 203–215.
- Hoffmann, G. (1991): Die Untersuchung von Böden. VDLUFA-Methodenbuch, 4. Auflage, Bd. 1, VDLUFA-Verlag, Darmstadt, Germany.
- Jones, D. L., Oburger, E. (2011): Solubilization of Phosphorus by Soil Microorganism, in Bünemann, E. K., Oberson, A., Frossard, E. (eds.): Phosphorus in Action. Springer, Heidelberg, Germany, pp. 169–198.
- Kerschberger, M., Hege, L., Jungk, A. (1997): Phosphordüngung nach Bodenuntersuchung und Pflanzenbedarf. VDLUFA Standpunkt, VDLUFA Verlag, Darmstadt, Germany.
- Kramer, S., Marhan, S., Ruess, L., Armbruster, W., Butenschoen, O., Haslwimmer, H., Kuzyakov, Y., Pausch, J., Scheunemann, N., Schoene, J., Schmalwasser, A., Totsche, K. U., Walker, F., Scheu, S., Kandeler, E., Schmalwasser, A. (2012): Carbon flow into microbial and fungal biomass as a basis for the belowground food web of agroecosystems. *Pedobiologia* 55, 111–119.
- Kratz, S., Schick, J., Schnug, E. (2016): Trace elements in rock phosphates and P containing mineral and organo-mineral fertilizers sold in Germany. Sci. Total Environ. 542, 1013–1019.

#### Fertilizer effects on microbial P cycling under maize 7

- Leifeld, J., Siebert, S., Kögel-Knabner, I. (2002): Biological activity and organic matter mineralization of soils amended with biowaste composts. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 165, 151–159.
- Luo, P., Han, X., Wang, Y., Han, M., Shi, H., Liu, N., Bai, H. (2015): Influence of long-term fertilization on soil microbial biomass, dehydrogenase activity, and bacterial and fungal community structure in a brown soil of northeast China. Ann. Microbiol. 65, 533–542.
- Manna, M. C., Rao, A. S., Ganguly, T. K. (2007): Effect of fertilizer P and manure on bioavailable P as influenced by rhizosphere microbial activities in soybean-wheat rotation. J. Sustain. Agric. 29, 149–166.
- Mar, S. S., Okazaki, M. (2012): Investigation of Cd contents in several phosphate rocks used for the production of fertilizer. *Microchem. J.* 104, 17–21.
- Martens, D. A., Johanson, J. B., Frankenberger, W. T. (1992): Production and persistence of soil enzyme with repeated addition of organic residues. Soil Sci. 153, 53–61.
- McGonigle, T. P., Miller, M. H., Evans, D. G., Fairchild, G. L., Swan, J. A. (1990): A new method which gives an objective measure of colonization of roots by vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytol. 115, 495–501.
- Muhammad, S., Müller, T., Joergensen, R. G. (2007): Compost and P amendments for stimulating microorganisms and maize growth in a saline soil from Pakistan in comparison with a nonsaline soil from Germany. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 170, 745–751.
- Nannipieri, P., Giagnoni, L., Landi, L., Renella, G. (2011): Role of Phosphatase Enzymes in Soil, in Bünemann, E., Oberson, A., Frossard, E. (eds.): Phosphorus in Action. Springer, Heidelberg, Germany, pp. 251–244.
- Nannipieri, P., Johnson, P. L., Paul, E. A. (1978): Criteria for measurement of microbial growth and activity in soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 10, 223–229.
- Nelson, N. O., Janke, R. R. (2007): Phosphorus source and management in organic production systems. *HortTechnol.* 17, 442–454.
- Nurlaeny, N., Marschner, H., George, E. (1996): Effects of liming and mycorrhizal colonization on soil phosphate depletion and phosphate uptake by maize (Zea mays L.) and soybean (Glycine max L.) grown in two tropical acid soils. Plant Soil 181, 275–285.
- Oberson, A., Joner, E. J. (2005): Microbial Turnover of Phosphorus in Soil, in Turner, B. L., Frossard, E., Baldwin, D. S. (eds.): Organic Phosphorus in the Environment. CABI, Wallingford, UK, pp. 133–164.
- Oberson, A., Fardeau, J. C., Besson, J. M., Sticher, H. (1993): Soil phosphorus dynamics in cropping systems managed according to conventional and biological agricultural methods. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 16, 111–117.
- Oberson, A., Friesen, D. K., Rao, I. M., Bühler, S., Frossard, E. (2001): Phosphorus transformations in an Oxisol under contrasting land-use systems: The role of the microbial biomass. *Plant Soil* 237, 197–210.
- Ohm, M., Paulsen, H., Moos, J., Eichler-Löbermann, B. (2017): Long-term negative phosphorus budgets in organic crop rotations deplete plant-available phosphorus from soil. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 37. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-017-0425-y.
- Olander, L. P., Vitousek, P. M. (2004): Biological and geochemical sinks for phosphorus in soils from a wet tropical forest. *Ecosystems* 7, 404–419.
- Ortas, I., Akpinar, Ç. (2011): Response of maize genotypes to several mycorrhizal inoculums in terms of plant growth, nutrient uptake and spore production. J. Plant Nutr. 34, 970–987.

#### 8 Peine, Vitow, Grafe, Baum et al.

- Phillips, J. M., Hayman, D. S. (1970): Improved procedures for clearing and staining parasitic and vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi for rapid assessment of infection. *Transact. British* Mycol. Soc. 55, 158–161.
- Prasad, K., Aggarwal, A., Yadav, K., Tanwar, A. (2012): Impact of different levels of superphosphate using arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and Pseudomonas fluorescens on Chrysanthemum indicum L. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 12, 451–462.
- Quiroga, G., Erice, G., Aroca, R., Chaumont, F., Ruiz-Lozano, J. M. (2017): Enhanced drought stress tolerance by the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis in a drought-sensitive maize cultivar is related to a broader and differential regulation of host plant aquaporins than in a drought-tolerant cultivar. Front. Plant Sci. 8. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01056.
- Rakshit, A., Bhadoria, P. S. (2010): Role of VAM on growth and phosphorus nutrition on maize with low soluble phosphate fertilization. *Acta Agron.* 59, 111–118.
- Requejo, M. I., Eichler-Löbermann, B. (2014): Organic and inorganic phosphorus forms in soil as affected by long-term application of organic amendments. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosys. 100, 245–255.
- Smith, S., Jakobsen, I., Grønlund, M., Smith, F. A. (2011): Roles of arbuscular mycorrhizas in plant phosphorus nutrition: Interactions

between pathways of phosphorus uptake in arbuscular mycorrhizal roots have important implications for understanding and manipulating plant phosphorus acquisition. *Plant Physiol.* 156, 1050–1057.

- Tabatabai, M. A. (1982): Soil Enzymes, in Page, A. L., Miller, R. H., Keeney, D. R. (eds.): Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 2. ASA, Madison, WI, USA, pp. 903–948.
- Tabatabai, M. A., Bremner, J. M. (1969): Use of p-nitrophenyl phosphate for assay of soil phosphatase activity. Soil Biol. Biochem. 1, 301–307.
- Traoré, O., Sinaj, S., Frossard, E., van de Kerkhove, J. M. (1999): Effect of composting time on phosphate exchangeability. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosys. 55, 123–131.
- VDLUFA (1991): Methode A 6.2.1.2—Bestimmung von Phosphor und Kalium im Doppellactat (DL)-Auszug, in Verband Deutscher Landwirtschaftlicher Untersuchungs- und Forschungsanstalten (ed.): VDLUFA-Methodenbuch, Band I, Die Untersuchung von Boden, 4<sup>th</sup> Ed. VDLUFA-Verlag, Darmstadt, Germany.
- Zhang, L., Ding, X., Chen, S., He, X., Zhang, F., Feng, G. (2014): Reducing carbon: phosphorus ratio can enhance microbial phytate-P mineralization and lessen competition with maize for phosphorus. J. Plant Interact. 9, 850–856.

© 2018 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim

# Manuscript III
#### Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 314 (2021) 107419



## Effects of different innovative bone char based P fertilizers on bacteria catalyzing P turnover in agricultural soils

Martin Grafe<sup>a,b,1,2</sup>, Julia Katharina Kurth<sup>a,c,1</sup>, Kerstin Panten<sup>d</sup>, Abilash Durai Raj<sup>a</sup>, Christel Baum<sup>e</sup>, Dana Zimmer<sup>e,3</sup>, Peter Leinweber<sup>e</sup>, Michael Schloter<sup>a,c</sup>, Stefanie Schulz<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Helmholtz Zentrum München, Research Unit Comparative Microbiome Analysis, Ingolstädter Landstraße 1, 85764 Neuherberg, Germany

Technische Universität München, TUM School of Life Sciences, Chair of Plant Nurition, Emil-Ramann-Straße 2, 85354 Freising, Germany Technische Universität München, TUM School of Life Sciences, Chair of Soil Science, Emil-Ramann-Straße 2, 85354 Freising, Germany

<sup>d</sup> Julius K\"uhn Institute (JKI), Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants, Institute for Crop and Soil Science, Bundesallee 69, 38116 Braunschweig, Germany <sup>e</sup> University of Rostock, Chair of Soil Science, Justus-von-Liebig-Weg 6, 18051 Rostock, Germany

#### ARTICLEINFO

#### Keywords: Bone char Bacterial phosphorus turnover gcd pitA pstS phoD phnX Wheat

#### ABSTRACT

Phosphorous (P) is one of the most critical macronutrient elements for plant growth, yield and quality. However, natural P sources are finite and an improved P recycling is necessary. Therefore, we investigated the effect of bone char (BC) and bone char plus (BC<sup>plus</sup>) as recycling products and alternative P fertilizers, on the abundance of microorganisms, which catalyze major steps in P turnover in a field experiment in Central Germany. The effects were compared to conventional triple super phosphate (TSP) and no P fertilization. Samples were analyzed from soils with three different initial soil P concentrations (very low, low, optimal) and three times during winter wheat cultivation (stem elongation, heading, ripening) to reveal interactions of fertilizers and soil properties. Abundances of microorganisms involved in P uptake, solubilization and mineralization were assessed by quantitative real time PCR (qPCR). Additionally, potential acidic- and alkaline phosphatase activity, water extractable P and plant available P were measured. Bacterial strategies to maintain P pools differed among the treatments. While the addition of BC<sup>plus</sup> increased the solubilization potential, the low P concentration in control plots and slow release of P from BC favor P recycling from biomass and P inducible uptake systems, which is displayed by either high abundance bacteria harboring the phoD or pstS gene, respectively. All effects were most pronounced at the time of heading and in soils with optimal initial P concentration. It can be assumed that sulfurization of bone char (BCP<sup>lus</sup>) influences bacterial P turnover by promoting solubilization of the fertilizer thereby increasing P availability for plants. Additionally, plant development stage and initial soil P concentrations hamper the effect of BC and BC<sup>plus</sup> on bacterial P turnover.

#### 1. Introduction

The availability of phosphorus (P) in soils strongly influences crop vield and quality (Schachtman et al., 1998; Elser and Bennett, 2011). Due to the decreasing sources of high-grade phosphorous rock materials (Chadwick et al., 1999; Cordell et al., 2009; Gilbert, 2009; Kauwenbergh et al., 2013), alternative ways for P fertilization are important to ensure sustainable agriculture in the long-term. This includes the mobilization of labile legacy P from soil (Rowe et al., 2015) or the application of P fertilizers obtained from recycling products.

One example of these recycling products, which has been successfully used as an alternative P fertilizer, is bone char (BC). BC is produced by defatting, degelatinizing and subsequently pyrolyzing animal bone chips at 600–800 °C (LeGeros, 2017). The typical elemental concentrations of BC are 152 g P kg<sup>-1</sup>, 280 g Ca kg<sup>-1</sup>, and 6.5 g Mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (Siebers and Leinweber, 2013). Carbon concentration is often lower than 100 g kg-1 (Zimmer et al., 2018; Zimmer et al., 2019). The solubility of BC in soil has been reported to be intermediate between rock phosphates and

Available online 31 March 2021

<sup>\*</sup> Correspondence to: Ingolstädter Landstraße 1, DE-85764 Neuherberg, Germany.

E-mail address: stefanie.schulz@helmholtz-muenchen.de (S. Schulz).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Those authors contributed equally to this work.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Present address: Technische Universität München, TUM School of Life Sciences, Crop Physiology, Emil-Ramann-Straße 2, 85354 Freising, Germany <sup>3</sup> Present address: Leibniz-Institute for Baltic Sea Research Warnemuende, Seestraße 15, 18119 Rostock, Germany

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2021.107419

Received 10 July 2020; Received in revised form 2 February 2021; Accepted 16 March 2021

<sup>0167-8809/© 2021</sup> The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

triple super phosphate (TSP) and depends on soil characteristics such as pH and the P sorption capacity of the soil (Warren et al., 2009). To increase the P solubility of BC, a surface modified version enriched with sulfur (S) has been developed (BC<sup>plus</sup>). First incubation studies and pot experiments confirmed the improved solubility (Morshedizad et al., 2016; Zimmer et al., 2018; Zimmer et al., 2019) and a recent field study proved the potential of BC<sup>plus</sup> to increase available P concentrations in soils with low initial P concentration (Panten and Leinweber, 2020). However, if this was caused by a response of the soil microbiome towards the application of BC and BC<sup>plus</sup> is still unclear and is thus a major aim of this study.

Generally, the soil microbiome plays an important role for the mobilization of P in soil by catalyzing P solubilization and mineralization (van Loon, 2007; Richardson and Simpson, 2011), However, microorganisms also compete for P resources with plants, as they possess effective and inducible P uptake systems. It was reported previously that both the initial soil P content and the P fertilizer regime including the type of P fertilizer influence the bacterial P turnover. Regarding the initial soil P content it was demonstrated that in P-rich soils, first the inorganic P (Pi) pool is depleted, and the pool of organic P (Po) becomes more important under Pi limitation (Blake et al., 2003; Gallet et al., 2003; Bergkemper et al., 2016b). This is also in line with a long-term fertilization study from Fraser et al. (2015), who demonstrated that the abundance of P mineralizing bacteria carrying the phoD gene, which codes for the alkaline phosphatase and the potential alkaline phosphatase activity were highest in plots with lowest bioavailable P concentrations. With respect to P fertilizer type it was demonstrated, that the application of slow release P-fertilizers like rock phosphate (Margenot et al. 2017) or biochar (Jin et al. 2016) increases potential phosphatase activities and promotes P solubilizing bacteria compared to non-fertilized soils (Anderson et al., 2011). In contrast, long-term fertilization of highly soluble mineral P reduced the abundance and diversity of P solubilizing bacteria in managed grassland soils (Mander et al. 2012). Thus, it can be assumed that the bacterial potential to utilize the applied P in agricultural soils is determined by both, the nature of the fertilizer and the initial soil P concentration, but so far comprehensive studies investigating this link and its consequences for the bacterial potential for uptake, solubilization and mineralization of P are missing.

To address these open questions, we analyzed bulk soil samples from a field experiment in the third experimental year during one growing season of winter wheat. The field experiment included different P fertilization treatments (control, TSP, BC, BC<sup>plus</sup>) and soils from three different initial soil P test classes, which reflect very low, low and optimal plant available P concentrations (P<sub>CAL</sub>). In those samples, we compared population sizes of bacteria, which take up (based on the marker genes *pitA*, *pstS*), solubilize (*gcl*) and mineralize P (*phoD*, *phnX*, *phoN*, *appA*) using quantitative real time PCR, with potential activities of phosphatases and P concentrations.

We hypothesized that, (i) long-term P depletion increases the abundance of P mineralizing and solubilizing bacteria as well as bacteria able to induce P uptake on demand. Therefore, the addition of slow release fertilizers like BC and BCP<sup>lus</sup> will promote P mobilizing bacteria, while the addition of easily available P like from TSP will promote bacteria able to take up P directly and suppresses the abundance of P mobilizing bacteria. (ii) Fertilizer induced differences of bacterial P turnover will become less obvious with increasing initial soil P concentrations. (iii) Besides the bacterial need for P, wheat has to cover its demand for P as well, which is highest during the period of major biomass in soil increases with higher root exudation and reaches its maximum during the flowering period, where consequently bacterial demand for P will be highest. Thus, we postulated that the bacterial mobilization of P increases during the vegetation period.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Experimental set up and sampling

The study was performed at a field trial close to Braunschweig in Lower Saxony, Germany (52°18'N 10°27'E). This site is located 81 m above sea level with a mean annual precipitation of 620 mm and a mean temperature of 9 °C. The dominating soil units are Dystric Cambisol and Orthic Luvisol (according to IUSS Working Group WRB, 2015), which developed in silty-loamy sand with an average pH of 5.2 in topsoil. Two consecutive long-term P field experiments were carried out between 1985 and 2008 on this site (Vogeler et al., 2009). Briefly, five different mineral P fertilization regimes were applied including (T1) no P fertilization, (T2) 21.8 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> once a year (spring), (T3) 21.8 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup> twice a year (spring and autumn), (T4) addition of P uptake of previous crop and (T5) 1.5-times addition of the P uptake of the previous crop. In 1998, the experiment was split in two blocks to compare conventional and conservational tillage regimes. The fertilization treatments included (T1) no P fertilization, (T2) organic P fertilization (farmyard manure, ~ every third year, last applied 2004; 20–40 kg P ha<sup>-1</sup>) and (T3) farmyard manure like T2 and annual mineral fertilizer application (30-45 kg P ha-1). Because of this previous experiments, significant differences in concentrations of plant available P were present in the plots. According to the guidelines of the Association of German Agricultural Analytic and Research Institutes (VDLUFA) (Wiesler et al., 2018), the plots were assigned to different classes of P<sub>CAL</sub> in soil, namely initial soil P test class A (very low, < 15 mg P<sub>CAL</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup>), B (low, 15–30 mg P<sub>CAL</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup>), and C (optimal, 31–60 mg P<sub>CAL</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup>). Thus, throughout the manuscript we will use the terms very low P, low P and optimal P to describe the different initial soil P test classes determined in 2013. Table S1 provides an overview about initial P, N and C concentrations as well as pH before the start of the experiment as described by Panten and Leinweber (2020). The differences in P availability were maintained until 2013 by cultivation of an extensively managed grassland. In 2013, the experiment was ploughed to a depth of 25 cm and oat was sown.

After the harvest of oat in 2013, a new experiment was established using the old plots to test the potential of BC and BC<sup>plus</sup> as fertilizer in soils with different initial levels of plant available P (Panten and Leinweber, 2020). The plots with very low initial P concentrations correspond to the P0 treatment of the previous experiment, the plots with low P concentrations to the organically fertilized plots and the plots with optimal P concentrations to the mineral and organically fertilized plots, respectively. The experiment was set up as a completely randomized block design with three replicates, plot sizes of 5.75 m \* 17.50 m, and a 5-year crop rotation of winter barley, winter oilseed rape, winter wheat, lupin and winter rye. A combination of chisel ploughing and conventional ploughing to a depth of 25 cm was used to incorporate remaining straw and stubble before sowing. In addition to a control without P fertilization, three different types of P fertilizer were applied to an equivalent of 45 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> P once a year shortly before seeding since autumn 2013, namely, bone char (BC), surface-modified bone char (BC<sup>plus</sup>) with sulfur compounds from biogas streams (patent DE102011010525), and highly water soluble triple super phosphate (TSP). The proportion of P of the different fertilizer was 14.81% for BC, 10.72% for BCplus and 20.04% for TSP. Besides P, BC and BCplus contained high amounts of Zn and Ca, but were depleted in As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Ni, and U compared to TSP. The detailed elemental composition of the fertilizers was described previously (Panten and Leinweber, 2020, Zimmer et al. 2019). A detailed description of the experiment including all agronomic measures, and the P uptake by crops, crop yield and the fertilizer efficiencies are published by Panten and Leinweber (2020).

In frame of this study, we investigated the third year of the newly established field trial during the vegetation period in 2015/2016. In 2015 winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L. cv. JB Asano) was sown after ploughing to a depth of 25 cm. Fertilization with nitrogen (130 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>), potassium (100 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>), magnesium (11 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>), and sulfur (12 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>)

<sup>1</sup>), as well as plant protection was uniform in all treatments. The trial was irrigated once with 30 l m<sup>2</sup> on the 10th of May 2016 and harvested on the 28th of July 2016. Crop yields ranged from 5.7 (control) to 6.0 t dry matter (DM) ha<sup>-1</sup> (TSP) in the plots with optimal P concentrations, from 5.4 (BC) to 6.0 DM ha<sup>-1</sup> (BC<sup>plus</sup>) in plots with low P concentrations and from 5.4 (control) to 5.9 DM ha<sup>-1</sup> (TSP) in the plots with very low P concentrations (Panten und Leinweber, 2020). Bulk soil samples were collected three times during the vegetation period (April/BBCH 33/34 stem elongation, May/BBCH 53 - heading, June/BBCH 73-75 ripening). From this point forward, the terms stem elongation, heading and ripening are used to improve the readability of the manuscript. Per plot, three soil cores (up to 10 cm soil depth) were collected, pooled and subsequently homogenized using a 5 mm sieve. In total, 108 samples were taken (three samplings, three soil P classes, four fertilization treatments, and three replicates). The samples for the determination of potential acidic and alkaline phosphatase activities were stored at 4 °C and analyzed within one week. The samples for nucleic acid extraction were collected and immediately frozen on the field using dry ice. Samples for pH, water soluble P (Pwater) and plant available P (PCAL) analyses were air-dried and sieved < 2 mm.

#### 2.2. Physico-chemical analyses of soil samples

Soil pH values were measured in 0.01 M CaCl<sub>2</sub> (10 g soil in 25 ml CaCl<sub>2</sub>); P<sub>water</sub> was extracted according to van der Paauw (1971) and analyzed colorimetrically at a wavelength of 882 nm (Specord 50, Analytik Jena, Germany). P<sub>CAL</sub> was extracted with calcium acetate lactate (soil P<sub>CAL</sub>) (Schüller, 1969) and measured with an ICP-OES (icap 6000, Thermo Fisher, United Kingdom) at a wavelength of 213.6 nm. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) were extracted with 0.01 M CaCl<sub>2</sub> (4 g soil in 20 ml CaCl<sub>2</sub>). Microbial biomass C (C<sub>mic</sub>) was measured with the chloroform-fumigation-extraction method (Vance et al., 1987) using 0.01 M CaCl<sub>2</sub> (Joergensen, 1996). DOC and DON concentrations were measured with a DIMA-TOC 100 (Dima Tec, Langenhagen, Germany).

### 2.3. Acidic and alkaline phosphatases

Potential acidic and alkaline phosphatase activity was determined according to Schinner et al. (1991), based on the method developed by Tabatabai and Bremner (1969) and Eivazi and Tabatabai (1977). Colorimetric analysis was carried out at 400 nm (Specord 50, Analytik Jena, Germany).

#### 2.4. DNA extraction

DNA was directly extracted from 0.5 g of frozen soil (-80 °C) using Precellys 24 (Bertin Technologies, France) based on a phenolchloroform based protocol modified according to Lueders et al. (2004) and Töwe et al. (2011). Total genomic DNA quality was determined photometrically (Nanodrop ND-1000; Thermo Fischer Scientific, MA, USA). The quantity of the DNA was assessed using the QuantiT Pico-Green kit (Thermo Fischer Scientific, MA, USA). Extracted samples were stored at -20 °C before further processing by qPCR.

#### 2.5. Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction measurements (qPCR)

Real-time quantitative PCR was performed on a 7300 Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Germany) using Sybr Green as fluorescent dye to quantify marker genes for different processes of P turnover including gcd, phoD, phoN, phnX, appA, pstS, and pitA. The reaction mix contained 12.5 µl of SYBR Green® (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA), forward (F) and reverse (R) primers (Metabion, Germany), 0.5 µl BSA (3%, Sigma, Germany) and DEPC-treated water and was set to 25 µl. The source of the standard, primer sequences and reaction mixture Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 314 (2021) 107419

components are summarized in Table 1 (Bergkemper et al., 2016a). The thermal profile consisted of a touchdown of 5 cycles starting with a denaturation at 95 °C for 15'' followed by primer annealing at 65 °C for 30" and finished by elongation at 72 °C for 45". After the touchdown with a reduction of the annealing temperature of 1 °C per qPCR cycle, 40 qPCR cycles followed with an annealing temperature of 60 °C. Serial plasmid dilutions  $(10^1 \text{ to } 10^7 \text{ gene copies } \mu l^{-1})$  were used for standard curve calculations. In a pre-experiment, performed to avoid reaction inhibition effects, the optimal sample dilution was determined as 1:16 (data not shown). Additionally, a melting curve analysis was performed by adding a dissociation stage after each run in order to prove the specificity of the amplified qPCR products. To confirm the correct size of the amplified fragments further, gel electrophoresis for randomly selected samples was conducted on a 1% agarose gel. Efficiencies of qPCRs were calculated as  $E = (10^{(-1/slope)}-1) \times 100$  and were as follows: 81.9% for phoD, 73.5% for pstS, 89.3% for pitA, 90.3% phnX and 85.0% for gcd.  $R^2$  was determined to be above 0.99 for each qPCR assay. The abundance of appA and phoN was below detection limit in all samples (less than 10 copies µl<sup>-1</sup>).

#### 2.6. Statistical analysis

Data analysis was performed with R version 3.6.1 (R Core Team, 2019). The crossbar plots were created using ggplot2 package (Wickham, 2009). Linear models on log-transformed data were applied and an ANOVA was performed to evaluate variances caused by sampling time point, initial soil P class, and fertilizer treatment on the total sample set. Further, samples were analyzed separately by sampling date to detect different reactions caused by initial soil P concentration or fertilizer treatment. The Tukey Post hoc test was performed to test for significant differences (p < 0.05) between the investigated factors (R package Ismeans) (Lenth, 2016).

To visualize how gene abundances differ between control and fertilized plots, average gene abundances were calculated for each treatment (control, TSP, BC and BC<sup>plus</sup>) and subsequently normalized to the control. In case the values of treatments were higher than control values, this was calculated as r = treatment/control, else as r = - control/treatments. r > 1 indicate higher abundances in the fertilization treatment, while r < -1 indicate higher values in the control treatment.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Soil chemical properties

The concentrations of  $P_{CAL}$  and  $P_{water}$  are summarized in Fig. 1. Both were significantly influenced by the initial soil P class, fertilizer treatment, and  $P_{water}$  additionally by sampling date (Table 2, Table S3).  $P_{CAL}$  concentrations ranged between 13.4 (stem elongation: control treatment on, very low and low initial P) and 57.1 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dry weight (dwt) (ripening: TSP treatment on optimal initial P).  $P_{CAL}$  concentrations of the controls, the TSP and the BC fertilized plots were significantly higher in plots with optimal initial P concentrations throughout the growing season of wheat. Significant differences between fertilizer treatments were only observed in soils with low initial P during wheat heading. There, the fertilization with TSP resulted in significantly higher values compared to the BC treatment and peaked in 41.8 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>  $P_{CAL}$  dvt.

The  $P_{water}$  concentrations were four to five times lower than  $P_{CAL}$  concentrations and ranged between 2.3 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dwt (stem elongation: BC treatment on very low initial P) and 13.4 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dwt (ripening: TSP on optimal initial P). Similar to  $P_{CAL}$ , a significant increase from soil with very low initial P to optimal initial P was observed, but only in the TSP and BC fertilized plots during stem elongation and heading of wheat. Differences of the fertilization regimes were most pronounced during wheat heading. This includes significantly higher values in the TSP treatment and lowest values in the BC treatment in plots with very low and low initial P, resulting in  $P_{water}$  concentrations of 5.0 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dwt

#### Table 1

gPCR reaction conditions, standard sources and primer sequences used for gPCR of target gene

Target gene	Source of standard	Mean expected amplicon length	Primer sequence	Primer (10 µM)				
phoD	Bradyrhizobium japonicum	208	phoD-FW-TGTTCCACCTGGGCGAYWMIATHTAYG phoD-RW-CGTTCGCGACCTCGTGRTCRTCCCA	1.0	<u>12 1</u>			
phoN	Salmonella enterica DSM 10062	159	phoN-FW-GGAAGAACGGCTCCTACCCIWSNGGNCA phoN-RW-CACGTCGGACTGCCAGTGIDMIYYRCA	1.0	0.2			
appA	Escherichia coli DSM 30083	375	appA-FW-AGAGGGTGGTGATCGTGATGMGICAYGGNRT appA-RW-GCCTCGATGGGGTTGAAIADNGGRTC	0.75	0.1			
phnX	Salmonella enterica DSM 17058	147	phnX-FW-CGTGATCTTCGACtGGGCNGGNAC phnX-RW-GTGGTCCCACTTCCCCADICCCATNGG	0.2	-			
gcd	Salmonella enterica DSM 17058	330	ged-FW-CGGCGTCATCCGGGSITIYRAYRT ged RW-GGGCATGTCCATGTCCCAIADRTCRTG	0.75	0.1			
pitA	Pseudomonas fluorescens	270	pitA-FW-GGTCTTCGAGTTCATGAACGGNTTYCAYGA pitA-RW-CCAGGTGACCAGGTTCCAIRNDAT	0.5	0.2			
pstS	Bradyrhizobium japonicum	221	pstS-FW-TCTACCTGGGGAAGATCACAAARTGGRAYGA pstS-RW-TGCCGACGGGCCAITYNWC	1.0	0.1			



Fig. 1. Concentrations of  $P_{CAL}$  and  $P_{water}$  (n = 3) as box plots. Samples were taken from experimental fields that were classified into initial soil P test classes with very low, low and optimal  $P_{CAL}$  concentrations and sampled at three different growth stages of winter wheat (stem elongation, heading, ripening) and four fertilizer treatments (control, TSP, BC, BC<sup>plus</sup>).

4

and 8.3 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dwt for TSP and 2.6 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dwt and 4.0 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dwt for BC, respectively. Only in soils with low initial P, this significant difference was also detectable at wheat ripening.

In addition to the P concentrations in soil, we included pH, dissolved

organic carbon (DOC) and dissolved organic nitrogen (DON) as well as  $C_{mic}$  measurements in the analysis. These data are summarized in Table S2. The  $C_{mic}$  concentrations and pH values did not differ significantly among the samples and revealed mean values of 246 µg g<sup>-1</sup> dwt

#### Table 2

p values of ANOVA analysis on Linear Models of the factors sampling date, initial soil P test class and treatment for potential enzyme activities and plant-available P concentrations in soil. Significant values (p < 0.05) are shown in italics.

	Availabl	e P	Potential enzyme activity			
Total	Pwater	PCAL	ACP	ALP		
Sampling	0,02	0,71	< 0,01	0,02		
Soil class	< 0,01	< 0,01	0,43	0,7		
Treatment	< 0,01	< 0,01	0,14	0,69		
Sampling x Soil class	0,67	0,74	0,97	0,46		
Sampling x Treatment	0,99	0,99	0,99	0,95		
Soil class x Treatment	0,02	0,22	0,69	0,37		
Sampling x Soil class x Treatment	0,98	0,99	0,89	0,76		
Stem elongation						
Soil class	< 0,01	< 0,01	0,97	0,68		
Treatment	< 0,01	< 0,01	0,32	0,57		
Soil class x Treatment	0,57	0,57	0,39	0,56		
Heading						
Soil class	< 0,01	< 0,01	0,66	0,42		
Treatment	< 0,01	< 0,01	0,76	0,9		
Soil class x Treatment	0,14	0,31	0,95	0,91		
Ripening						
Soil class	< 0,01	< 0,01	0,57	0,37		
Treatment	< 0,01	< 0,01	0,6	1		
Soil class x Treatment	0,47	0,83	0,83	0,1		

and 5.2, respectively. DOC concentrations were highest during stem elongation in the BC<sup>plus</sup> treatment revealing 91.6, 237.8 and 92.5  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dwt in soil with very low, low and optimal initial P, respectively. In most other samples, values were up to 4-times lower. DON concentration was highest in soils with very low initial P during stem elongation and ranged from 10.5  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dwt in the TSP treatment to 24.5  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dwt in the control treatment. Afterwards, the DON concentration dropped below 10  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dwt in all other samples, except the control treatment in soils with very low initial P during heading where still a DON concentration fraction of 12.6  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dwt was measured.

#### 3.2. Potential enzyme activities

Potential enzyme activities are summarized in Table S2. Initial soil P class and fertilizer treatment had no significant influence on potential enzyme activities, but potential alkaline (ALP) and acid phosphatase activity (ACP) weresignificantly influenced by the sampling date (Table 2). In general, potential enzyme activities were lowest during stem elongation. Regarding ACP, the values ranged from 248 to 301  $\mu$ g p-NP g<sup>-1</sup> dwt h<sup>-1</sup> during stem elongation, while ALP was much lower and did not exceed 73  $\mu$ g p-NP g<sup>-1</sup> dwt h<sup>-1</sup>. At later sampling dates, no significant changes were observed and the mean potential ALP activity across all initial soil P classes and fertilization treatments was 74.3  $\mu$ g p-NP g<sup>-1</sup> dwt h<sup>-1</sup> ( $\pm$  16.6) and for ACP 313  $\mu$ g p-NP g<sup>-1</sup> dwt h<sup>-1</sup> ( $\pm$  14.5).

#### 3.3. Abundance of bacteria catalyzing different steps in P turnover

As the microbial biomass C did not differ significantly among the samples the gene copy numbers were related to gram dry weight. The results are depicted in Fig. 2.

For P uptake, the abundance of *pitA* was always 10–100-times higher than the abundance of *pitS* in our samples. Gene copy numbers of both genes were significantly influenced by initial soil P class and sampling date. Highest values were detected in soils with optimal initial P at all sampling dates. During stem elongation and ripening, the BC treatment revealed the highest gene abundances of  $6.9 \times 10^5$  and  $5.9 \times 10^5$  gene copies g<sup>-1</sup> dwt for *pitA*. Fertilizer effects and sampling date significantly interacted. Thus fertilizer effects were only obvious during heading (Table 3, Table S3) and resulted in significantly higher *pstS* gene copy numbers in the control  $(8.4 \times 10^5$  gene copies g<sup>-1</sup> dwt) compared to the TSP

#### Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 314 (2021) 107419

treatment (3.7 ×10<sup>5</sup> gene copies g<sup>-1</sup> dwt) in soils with optimal initial P. Regarding the mineralization of P, the abundance of the genes *phoD* and *phnX* was significantly influenced by the sampling date. This effect was visible for *phnX* during ripening in the TSP treatment in soils with very low initial P where the highest gene copy numbers were observed (2.2 ×10<sup>6</sup> gene copies g<sup>-1</sup> dwt). For all other samples, copy numbers between 2.6 × 10<sup>5</sup> and 1 × 10<sup>6</sup> gene copies g<sup>-1</sup> dwt were measured. Regarding the abundance of the *phoD* gene the fertilizer effects strongly interacted with initial soil P class were most pronounced during heading. In soils with low initial P significantly higher values were detected in the TSP treatment compared to BC<sup>plus</sup> reaching up to 1 × 10<sup>6</sup> gene copies g<sup>-1</sup> dwt, while in soils with optimal initial P highest gene abundances of 1 × 10<sup>6</sup> gene copies g<sup>-1</sup> dwt were detected in the BC treatment.

For the gcd gene, which drives the solubilization of P, initial soil P class and fertilizer treatment had a significant effect on its abundance. This was especially apparent during heading where the use of  $BC^{plus}$  as fertilizer caused a significant increase of the gcd gene abundance in soils with low and optimal initial P, which peaked in  $1.2 \times 10^7$  and  $1.9 \times 10^7$  gene copies g<sup>1</sup> dwt, respectively. Interestingly, the BC treatment revealed lowest gcd gene copy numbers during heading accounting for  $3.2 \times 10^6$  in soil with low initial P and  $4.1 \times 10^6$  in soils with optimal initial P, respectively. This is in contrast to the stem elongation period where the gcd gene abundance in soils with optimal initial P under BC and BC<sup>plus</sup> fertilization revealed similar mean abundances of 7.5 and 7.2  $\times 10^6$  gene copies g<sup>1</sup> dwt.

To better visualize the fertilization effects in the soils with different initial P, we calculated ratios between the gene copy numbers in the different fertilization treatments and the control treatments. Ratios are depicted in Fig. 3. This analysis demonstrated that during heading in 35 out of 45 cases (3 soil P classes, 3 fertilization treatments, 5 genes) the abundance of bacteria harboring P turnover genes was higher in the control compared to the fertilization treatments, as indicated by ratios r < -1. Interestingly, *gcd* was an exception. Here the gene abundance was 2.6 and 3 times higher in the BCplus treatment compared to the control in soils with low and optimal initial P, respectively. During stem elongation, an opposite pattern for soils with very low and optimal initial P was observed, as gene abundances were higher in the fertilization treatment as indicated by ratios r > 1. This was especially pronounced for the BC treatment in soils with optimal initial P for all genes except phnX. In soils with low initial P, only phoD ratios remained consistently higher in all fertilization treatments. At the ripening stage, the ratio r > 1 indicated higher abundances in the fertilization treatments for the majority of genes.

#### 4. Discussion

In this study, we compared the response of the soil microbiome towards the application of the recycling P fertilizers BC and BC<sup>plus</sup> with no P or TSP fertilization in soils with different initial P concentrations during one growing season of winter wheat.

Our data indicate that the bacterial potential to solubilize P is increased in the  $BC^{plus}$  treatment as revealed by higher *gcd* gene abundances. The *gcd* gene codes for the quinoprotein glucose dehydrogenase, which catalyzes the solubilization of inorganically bound P fractions by oxidizing glucose and other aldose sugars to gluconic acid (Goldstein, 1995), which results in a small-scale reduction of the pH. This is in line with Postma et al. (2010), who demonstrated that the addition of P solubilizing bacteria to animal bone charcoal particles improved the dissolution of P. In general, P solubilizing bacteria are discussed as an option to improve the sustainability of P fertilization in agriculture (Alori et al., 2017, Ditta et al., 2018). Our data imply that under specific circumstances like specific plant growth stages (heading) or different initial soil P concentrations (low, optimal) the soil inherent P solubilizing bacteria are stimulated (Table 3, Fig. 2+3). In BC<sup>plus</sup> fertilized



Fig. 2. Gene copy numbers of five genes involved in P turnover (*pstS*, *pitA*, *phoD*, *phnX*, *gcd*). Gene copy numbers were calculated per gram dry weight and are plotted on a linear scale as box plots (n = 3). Samples were taken at three plant development stages (stem elongation, heading, ripening), from three initial soil P test classes with very low, low and optimal P<sub>CAL</sub> concentrations and four fertilizer treatments (control, TSP, BC, BCP<sup>lus</sup>).

soils with low initial P, this was accompanied by slightly higher crop yields (Panten and Leinweber, 2020).

The fertilization with BC favored the mineralization of  $P_{\alpha}$  as demonstrated by significantly more bacteria carrying phoD throughout the whole season. Interestingly, this pattern was mostly observed in soils with optimal initial P. This was unexpected because phoD is under the control of the phoRB two component system, which specifically detects P starvation and controls several phosphate starvation inducible genes (Hsieh and Wanner, 2010). Moreover, it was reported previously that the abundance of phoD-carrying bacteria and the potential alkaline phosphatase activity was highest in plots with lowest bioavailable P concentrations in a long-term fertilization study (Fraser et al., 2015). Therefore, it would have been expected to detect highest phoD abundances in soils with low initial P, where also crop yields were lower compared to soils with optimal initial P (Panten and Leinweber, 2020). However, it can be assumed that the bacterial community in soils with very low initial P is well adapted to low amounts of available P, and that a slow rate of P release from BC (Leinweber et al., 2019) might promote the inherent bacterial community. In contrast, the long-term application of high amounts of P in soils of optimal initial P might have suppressed the bacterial potential to solubilize P as demonstrated by Mander et al. (2012). Moreover, the long-term input of P caused a shift in nutrient stoichiometry, which is confirmed by lower C:P and N:P ratios in soils with optimal initial P (Table S1). Thus, it is likely that also nutrients other than P need to be released from organic pools as it was demonstrated previously (Spohn and Kuzyakov, 2013). Interestingly, the higher abundance of phoD carrying bacteria in the BC fertilization treatment in soils with optimal initial P was accompanied by an increase of pitA carrying bacteria. The Pit transporter is a low-affinity Pi transporter, which takes up cation-phosphate complexes at sufficient P concentrations (Willsky et al., 1973; Wanner, 1993). Thus, the higher concentrations of  $P_{CAL}$  and  $P_{water}$  (Fig. 1) and the additional input of cations like Ca and Mg from the BC (Siebers and Leinweber, 2013; Zimmer et al., 2019) might display favorable conditions and promotes a closed P cycle. Surprisingly, the observed higher gene abundance of phoD in the BC fertilized plots with optimal initial P was not confirmed by the potential enzyme activity measurements, which did not increase (Table S2). This might be attributed to (i) the acidic pH, which is not optimal for the alkaline phosphatase. The pH was optimal for the acidic phosphatase, which was generally much higher, but rather originated from plants because of the absence of phoN carrying bacteria. (ii) Or the survival of extracellular enzymes attached to soil particles, which

#### Table 3

p values of ANOVA analysis on Linear Models of the factors sampling date, initial soil P test class and treatment for gene abundances in soil. Significant values (p < 0.05) are shown in italics.

	Gene a	abundan	ce		
Total	pstS	pitA	phoD	gcd	phnX
Sampling	0.03	0.03	0.01	0.52	< 0.01
Soil class	0.04	0.04	0.3	0.03	0.07
Treatment	0.97	0.64	0.16	0.01	0.36
Sampling x Soil class	0.97	0.97	0.95	0.18	0.5
Sampling x Treatment	0.02	0.25	0.02	0.02	0.09
Soil class x Treatment	0.44	0.18	0.01	0.99	0.2
Sampling x Soil class x Treatment	0.09	0.78	0.92	0.25	0.84
Stem elongation					
Soil class	0.26	0.22	0.83	0.25	0.13
Treatment	0.32	0.22	0.43	0.42	0.69
Soil class x Treatment	0.21	0.44	0.73	0.66	0.69
Heading					
Soil class	0.2	0.25	0.64	0.01	0.14
Treatment	0.03	0.34	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.19
Soil class x Treatment	0.11	0.68	0.02	0.22	0.68
Ripening					
Soil class	0.5	0.52	0.2	1	0.99
Treatment	0.78	0.64	0.21	0.87	0.04
Soil class x Treatment	0.5	0.39	0.27	0.82	0.26

accumulate and overlay treatment effects (Nannipieri et al., 2003).

Although the same amount of P was applied in the BC and  $BC^{\mbox{\rm plus}}$ fertilized plots as for the TSP plots, no increase of  $P_{water}\ or\ P_{CAL}\ con$ centrations was observed for the alternative fertilizers compared to the control. This might have three reasons, (i) no additional P was released from the alternative fertilizers, (ii) released P was bound at the bone char surfaces, or (iii) it was directly taken up by the plants or microbes. The first case is very unlikely as it has been demonstrated previously that the P-release from BC<sup>plus</sup> is higher than from BC (Zimmer et al., 2018; Zimmer et al., 2019). This was mostly attributed to the internal activation by S, which is oxidized by microorganisms and caused a reduction of the pH, which in turn favors the dissolution of P from hydroxyapatite, the major component of BC<sup>plus</sup> (Zimmer et al., 2019). Based on recent literature, it is even possible that the oxidation of S and dissolution of P is performed by the same bacteria, as for example members of the Verrucomicrobiaceae and Solibacteraceae were described as abundant groups for both processes in soil (Grafe et al., 2018; Hausmann et al., 2018). However, a verification of this hypothesis is only possible by additional sequencing approaches. Binding of released

phosphate ions by the bone chars is unlikely as well, because BC had a point of zero charge of 4.5 and BC<sup>plus</sup> of 2.7 (Leinweber, unpublished data). That means that at a soil pH of 5.0-5.3 (Table S2) the BC surfaces are net-charged negatively, indicating repellence of anions rather than adsorption. Thus, a tight coupling of P solubilization and uptake is more likely, which for example is corroborated by higher abundances of bacteria carrying gcd, pitA and pstS gene abundances in the BC<sup>plu</sup> treatment of soils with very low initial P. The efficient recycling of P from rock phosphate resulted in increased organic P mineralization and the immediate immobilization of P in the microbial biomass, while the fertilization with easily available TSP caused an increase of mineral bound P (Margenot et al. 2017). Similarly, it could be assumed for the control plots that the available P pools are constantly depleted by the uptake of P by plants and bacteria. Therefore, an equilibrium between P uptake, P turnover of the bacterial biomass and P solubilization from the soil is needed to meet the P-demands of the crop and the bacteria by avoiding a loss of P for example by leaching. Thus, it is not surprising, that in the control treatment the gene abundance pattern did not differ significantly no matter which initial soil class was analyzed (Fig. 2, Table S3). Similar observations were made in forest sites with low P concentrations, which promoted an efficient recycling of P (Bergkemper et al. 2016, Lang et al. 2017). In contrast to the P depleted control plots, the addition of TSP to soils with optimal initial P maintained the Pwater and PCAL concentrations measured at the beginning of the experiment of 9.4 and 47.2 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (Table S1 and Fig. 1). As this did not result in higher yields, it seems that these P sources remain unused and are at risk for being lost by leaching to the groundwater, especially via preferential flow (Djodjic et al., 2004).

Beside many differences among the treatments, all samples taken during heading had in common that the abundance of P transforming bacteria was higher in the control treatment compared to the P fertilized treatments (Fig. 3). Winter wheat met most of its own P demands during highest biomass growth (Römer and Schilling, 1986). The high P demand during plant growth might be compensated by the presence of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in the roots of wheat (Römer and Schilling, 1986; Pellegrino et al., 2015), while bacteria replenish the depleted P pools afterwards. In the control treatment, this was achieved by generally higher abundances of many P transforming bacteria. Especially the abundance of bacteria harboring the pstS gene was significantly higher compared to the other sampling dates (p = 0.03). This gene codes for a subunit of the highly specific P transporter, which can take up P against a steep concentration gradient under the turnover of ATP (Jansson, 1988). Thus, highest expression levels can be expected under P limitation, when a sufficient amount of bioavailable C and N is available. This



**Fig. 3.** Ratio between gene copy numbers in the control and treatment in form of a heatmap. Average gene abundances were calculated for each treatment (control, TSP, BC and BC<sup>Phus</sup>) and subsequently normalized to the control. In case the values of treatments were higher than control values, this was calculated as r = treatment/control, else as r = -control/treatment. r > 1 indicate higher abundances in the fertilization treatment and are displayed in blue, while r < -1 indicate higher values in the control treatment and are color coded in red scale. Only values above 1.25 or below -1.25 are additionally depicted as numbers. The initial soil P test classes are characterized by very low, low and optimal P<sub>CAL</sub> concentrations.

assumption is corroborated by lower Pwater concentrations in the control plots during heading compared to the other treatments. At the same time, DOC and DON did not change or even slightly increased (Table S2). This change in nutrient stoichiometry might cause an imbalance of the bacterial C, N and P supply and further favors sufficient P uptake mechanisms (Spohn and Kuzyakov, 2013; Heuck et al., 2015), as it was presumed that bacteria aim for a stable C:N:P ratio (Cleveland and Liptzin, 2007). In soils with optimal initial P and BC fertilization, the abundance of phoD increased significantly during heading in comparison to stem elongation, which was underlined by significantly higher potential phosphatase activities (Table 2, Table S2). This corroborates our hypothesis that the importance of the mineralization of Po increased during the season. Regarding the BC<sup>plus</sup> treatment, the observed impact on P solubilizing bacteria was even higher during heading. In addition, the BC<sup>plus</sup> fertilizer might also improve the release of P from legacy P pools as postulated by Rowe et al. (2015), espsecially as the highest abundances were observed in soils with optimal initial P.

#### 5. Conclusions

Our data demonstrate that the effects of alternative P fertilizer on bacterial P turnover are strongly interlinked with the initial soil P concentration as well as the plant growth stage. In general, as hypothesized the addition of  $BC^{plus}$  and BC increased the abundance of specific Pmobilizing bacteria. However, the difference in P dissolution from BC<sup>plus</sup> and BC favored different bacterial groups. While BCplus promotes P solubilizing bacteria, the low P concentration in control plots and slow release of P from BC favors P recycling from biomass and inducible uptake systems, which is displayed by either high abundance of phoD carrying bacteria in BC fertilized plots or of pstS carrying bacteria in control plots, respectively. Surprisingly and contrary to our assumption, many fertilizer effects were more pronounced in soils with optimal initial P concentration. This, might point to the fact that bacterial nutrient turnover is not restricted to the availability of a single nutrient, but relies on a balanced delivery of all macronutrients, leading to unfavorable C:P and N:P ratios under long-term P fertilization causes. Additionally, it became obvious that plant growth stage interferes with fertilizer effects as well. We hypothesized, that bacterial P turnover is increased in P depleted soils. This was only obvious during heading, after wheat had met most of its demand. As assumed, bacteria of the control plots replenished the missing P by mineralizing organic P, but in BC<sup>plus</sup> fertilized plots this was accomplished by an increased potential for solubilization, which might have been related to a continuous release of P from BC<sup>plus</sup>. Our study underlines the importance of studying complex experiments to become aware of those interactions and to study them further in follow up experiments. However, based on our results we cannot predict long-term responses of bacteria towards the fertilization regime, as the sampling took place during one year of the first crop rotation. Thus, different plant properties for example caused by symbiosis with nitrogen fixing bacteria or different climatic conditions during the growing season might significantly alter bacterial responses to fertilizer applications by modulating nutrient stoichiometry, water availability and soil temperature. Moreover, our study was restricted to the bacterial potential, but we do not know to which extent this was recalled during the sampled growing season. Thus, future studies need to investigate transcription rates of the different genes involved in P turnover processes and how they differ during a crop rotation. However, as transcripts have a short half-life time many and fast samplings several times a day might be needed to reach statistical significance especially in field studies.

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Acknowledgements

This project was funded in the frame of the "National Research Strategy BioEconomy 2030" of the Federal Ministry for Education and Research, Germany (BMBF; call: BonaRes; project InnoSoilPhos: No 031B0509B, 031A558G). This research was performed within the scope of the Leibniz Science-Campus Phosphorus Research Rostock.

#### Appendix A. Supporting information

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version at doi:10.1016/j.agee.2021.107419.

#### References

- Alori, E.T., Glick, B.R., Babalola, O.O., 2017. Microbial phosphorus solubilization and its potential for use in sustainable agriculture. Front. Microbiol. 8, 971. https://d b 2017 00971 0 3389
- Anderson, C.R., Condron, L.M., Clough, T.J., Fiers, M., Stewart, A., Hill, R.A., Sherlock, R.R., 2011. Biochar induced soil microbial community change: Implications for biogeochemical cycling of carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus
- Impractions for object terminar cycling of carbon, introgen and prosphorus. Pedobiologia 54, 309–320, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedobi.2011.07.005. gkemper, F., Kublik, S., Lang, F., Krüger, J., Vestergaard, G., Schloter, M., Schulz, S., 2016a. Novel oligonucleotide primers reveal a high diversity of microbes which drive phosphorous turnover in soil. J. Microbiol. Methods. 125, 91–97.
- Grive phosphorodis utmover in soin. J. ancronon. Methods. 125, 91–97.
  Ggemper, F., Schöler, A., Fogel, M., Lang, F., Krüger, J., Schloter, M., Schulz, S., 2016b. Phosphorus depletion in forest soils shapes bacterial communities towar phosphorus recycling systems. Environ. Microbiol. 18, 1988–2000.
  ke, L., Johnston, A.E., Poulton, P.R., Goulding, K.W.T., 2003. Changes in soil
- phosphorus fractions following positive and negative phosphorus balances for long periods Plant Soil 254 245-261.
- dwick, O.A., Derry, L.A., Vitousek, P.M., Huebert, B.J., Hedin, L.O., 1999. Changing ts during four million years of ecosystem develo sources of nutrie 397 491-497
- Cleveland, C.C., Liptzin, D.J.B., 2007. C:N:P stoichiometry in soil: is there a "Redfield
- ratio" for the microbial biomass? Biogeochemistry 85, 235–252. Cordell, D., Drangert, J.-O., White, S., 2009. The story of phosphorus: global food security and food for thought. Glob. Environ. Chang. 19, 292–305.
- Ditta, A., Imtiaz, M., Mehmood, S., Rizwan, M.S., Mubeen, F., Aziz, O., Qian, Z., Ijaz, R., a, A., Imttäz, M., Menmood, S., Ruwatt, M.S., Mubeen, F., Azie, G., Qian, J., Juea, N., Tu, S., 2018. Rock phosphate-enriched organic fertilizer with phosphate-solubilizing microorganisms improves nodulation, growth, and yield of legumes. Commun. Soil. Sci. Plant.Anal. 49, 2715–2725. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624.2018.1538374. odjic, F., Börling, K., Bergström, L., 2004. Phosphorus leaching in relation to soil type
- and soil phosphorus content. J. Environ. Qual. 33, 678–684. Eivazi, F., Tabatabai, M., 1977. Phosphatases in soils. Soil Biol. Biochem. 9, 167–172. Elser, J., Bennett, E., 2011. A broken biogeochemical cycle. Nature 478, 29–31.
- Fraser, T., Lynch, D.H., Entz, M.H., Dunfield, K.E., 2015, Linking alkaline phosphatase activity with bacterial *phoD* gene abundance in soil from a long-term management trial. Geoderma 257–258, 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
- Gallet, A., Flisch, R., Ryser, J.-P., Frossard, E., Sinaj, S., 2003. Effect of phosphate fertilization on crop yield and soil phosphorus status. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 166, 568-578
- ilbert, N., 2009. Environment: the disappearing nutrient. Nature 461, 716-718. Goldstein, A.H., 1995, Recent progress in understanding the molecular biochemistry of calcium phosphate solubilization by Gram negative bacteria. Biol. Agric. Hortic. 12, 185–193.
- Grafe, M., Goers, M., von Tucher, S., Baum, C., Zimmer, D., Leinweber, P., Vestergaard, G., Kublik, S., Schloter, M., Schulz, S., 2018. Bacterial potentials for uptake, solubilization and mineralization of extracellular phosphorus in agric oils are highly stable under different fertilization regimes. Environ. Microbial. Rep. 10, 320-327.
- usmann, B., Pelikan, C., Herbold, C.W., Köstlbacher, S., Albertsen, M., Eichorst, S.A. Glavina del Rio, T., Huemer, M., Nielsen, P.H., Rattei, T., Stingl, U., Tringe, S.G., Trojan, D., Wentrup, C., Woebken, D., Pester, M., Loy, A., 2018. Peatland
- Acidobacteria with a dissimilatory sulfur metabolism. ISME J. 12, 1729–1742. Heuck, C., Weig, A., Spohn, M., 2015. Soil microbial biomass C:N:P stoichiometry niometry and microbial use of organic phosphorus, Soil, Biol, Biochem, 85, 119-129.
- Hsieh, Y.-J., Wanner, B.L., 2010. Global regulation by the seven-c system. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 13, 198–203. nt Pi signaling
- IUSS Working Group WRB, 2015. World Reference Base for Soil Resources 2014, update 2015. International soil classification system for naming soils and creating legends for soil maps. World Soil Resources Reports No. 106. FAO, Rome.
- n, M., 1988. Phosphate uptake and utilization by bacto

8

- Jin, Y., Liang, X., He, M., Liu, Y., Tian, G., Shi, J., 2016. Manure biochar influence upon soil properties, phosphorus distribution and phosphatase activities: a microco incubation study. Chemosphere 142, 128–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
- chemosphere.2015.07.015. rgensen, R.G., 1996. The fumigation-extraction method to estimate soil microbial biomass: Calibration of the kEC value. Soil Biol. Biochem. 28, 25-31.

- Kauwenbergh, S.J., Stewart, M., Mikkelsen, R., 2013. World reserves of phosphate rock-a dynamic and unfolding story. Better Crops 97, 18–20.Lang, F., Krüger, J., Amelung, W., Willbold, S., Frossard, E., Bünemann, E.K., Bauhus, J.,
- Strikter, J., Guggisberg, F., Kaiser, K., Mikutta, R., Guggenberger, G., Polle, A., Luster, J., Guggisberg, F., Kaiser, K., Mikutta, R., Guggenberger, G., Polle, A., Pena, R., Prietzel, J., Rodionov, A., Talkner, U., Meesenburg, H., von Wilpert, K., Hölscher, A., Dietrich, H.P., Chmara, I., 2017. Soil phosphorus supply controls P Torkfer, A., Steller, H.T. Simmar, L., 2017. Soft prosphora suppry software provided and prov
- Bone char as a novel phosphorus fertilizer 419–432. Lenth, R.V., 2016. Least-Squares Means: The R package Ismeans 2016 (69), 33.
- Lenti, R.V., 2016. Least-squares weaths: The K package ismens 2016 (9), 53.
  van Loon, L.C., 2007. Plant responses to plant growth-promoting rhi/bobacteria. In: Bakker, P.A.H.M., Raaijmakers, J.M., Bloemberg, G., Höfte, M., Lemanceau, P., Cooke, B.M. (Eds.), New Perspectives and Approaches in Plant Growth-Promoting Rhi/zobacteria Research. Springer, Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 243–254.
  Lueders, T., Manefield, M., Friedrich, M.W., 2004. Enhanced sensitivity of DNA- and
- rRNA-based stable isotope probing by fractionation and quantitative analysis of isopycnic centrifugation gradients. Environ. Microbiol. 6, 73–78.
- Mander, C., Wakelin, S., Young, S., Condron, L., O'Callaghan, M., 2012. Incidence and diversity of phosphate-solubilising bacteria are linked to phosphorus status in grassland soils. Soil Biol. Biochem. 44, 93–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. oilbio.2011.09.009.
- Margenot, A.J., Sommer, R., Mukalama, J., Parikh, S.J., 2017. Biological P cycling is influenced by the form of P fertilizer in an Oxisol. Biol. Fert. Soils 53, 899–909.
- https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-017-1226-9. rshedizad, M., Zimmer, D., Leinweber, P., 2016. Effect of bone chars on phosphorus-cadmium-interactions as evaluated by three extraction procedures. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Mo Sci. 179, 388-398.
- Sci. 179, 306–396. Jannipieri, P., Ascher, J., Ceccherini, M.T., Landi, L., Pietramellara, G., Renella, G., 2003. Microbial diversity and soil functions. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 54, 655–670. van der Paauw, F., 1971. An effective water extraction method for the determination plant-available soil phosphorus. Plant Soil 34, 467–481.
- Panten, K., Leinweber, P., 2020. Agronomic evaluation of bone char as phosphorus
- Panten, K., Leinweber, P., 2020. Agronomic evaluation of bone char as pnosphorus fertiliser after five years of consecutive application. J. Kulturpflanzen 72, 561–576. https://doi.org/10.5073/JfK.2020.12.02.
  Pellegrino, E., Opik, M., Bonari, E., Ercoli, L., 2015. Responses of wheat to arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. A meta-analysis of field studies from 1975 to 2013. Soil Biol. Biochem. 84, 210–217.
- Postma, J., Nijhuis, E.H., Someus, E., 2010. Selection of phosphorus solubilizing bacteria with biocontrol potential for growth in phosphorus rich animal bone charcoal. Appl. Soil Ecol. 46, 464-469.
- R Core Team, 2019. A language and environment for statistical computing. R foundation for statistical computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.r-project.org. Richardson, A.E., Simpson, R.J., 2011. Soil microorganisms mediating phosphorus
- availability. Plant Physiol. 156, 989-996.

#### Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 314 (2021) 107419

- Römer, W., Schilling, G., 1986. Phosphorus requirements of the wheat plant in various stages of its life cycle. Plant Soil 91, 221–229.
   Rowe, H., Withers, P., Baas, P., Chan, N.I., Doody, D., Holiman, J., Jacobs, B., Li, H., MacDonald, G., McDowell, R., Sharpley, A., Shen, J., Taheri, W., Wallenstein, M., Weintraub, M., 2015. Integrating legacy soil phosphorus into sustainable nutrient management strategies for future food, bioenergy and water security. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosys. 104, 393–412. Schachtman, D.P., Reid, R.J., Ayling, S.M., 1998. Phosphorus uptake by plants: from soil
- to cell. Plant Phys 116, 447–453. inner, F., Öhlinger, R., Kandeler, E., 1991. Bestimmung der Phosphomonoesterase-
- Aktivität (saure, neutrale und alkalische Phosphatase), Bodenbiologische
- Aktivitat (saure, neutrale und alkalische Phosphatase). Bodenbiologische Arbeitsmethoden. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 150–153.
  Schüller, H., 1969. Die CAL-Methode, eine neue Methode zur Bestimmung des pflanzenverfügbaren Phosphates in Böden. Z. Pflanzenernähr Bödenkd 123, 48–63.
  Siebers, N., Leinweber, P., 2013. Bone charr, a clean and renewable phosphorus fertilizer with eadmium immobilization capability. J. Environ. Qual. 42, 405–411.
- Spohn, M., Kuzyakov, Y., 2013, Phosphorus mineralization can be driven by microbial need for carbon. Soil. Biol. Biochem. 61, 69–75. Tabatabai, M.A., Bremner, J.M., 1969. Use of p-nitrophenyl phosphate for assay of soil
- Tabataoa, M.A., Dreimer, J.M., 1909. Ose of p-intropicity phosphate for assay of sor phosphatase activity. Soil. Biol. Biochem, 1, 301–307.
  Töwe, S., Wallisch, S., Bannert, A., Fischer, D., Hai, B., Haesler, F., Kleineidam, K., Schloter, M., 2011. Improved protocol for the simultaneous extraction and column
- eparation of DNA and RNA from different soils. J. Microbiol. Methods 84, based s 406-412.
- 400–412. Vance, E.D., Brookes, P.C., Jenkinson, D.S., 1987. An extraction method for measuring soil microbial biomass C. Soil Biol, Biochem. 19, 703–707. Vogeler, I., Rogasik, J., Funder, U., Panten, K., Schnug, E., 2009. Effect of tillage systems and P-fertilization on soil physical and chemical properties, crop yield and nutrient uptake. Soil Till. Res. 103, 137–143.
- Wanner, B.L., 1993. Gene regulation by phosphate in enteric bacteria. J. Cell.Biochem. 51, 47-54. Warren, G.P., Robinson, J.S., Someus, E., 2009. Dissolution of phosphorus from animal
- bone char in 12 soils. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosys 84, 167–178. Wickham, H., 2009. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer-Verlag, New
- York York, Wiesler F., Appel T., Dittert K., Ebertseder T., Müller T., Nätscher L., Olfs H.W., Rex M., Schweitzer K., Steffens D., Taube F., Zorn W., 2018. Phosphordüngung nach Bodenuntersuchung und Pflanzenbedarf. VDLUFA-Standpunkt.
  Willsky, G.R., Benent, R.L., Malany, M.H., 1973. Inorganic phosphate transport in Escherichia coli: involvement of two genes which play a role in alkaline phosphatase
- regulation. J. Bacteriol. 113, 529-539. Zimmer, D., Kruse, J., Siebers, N., Panten, K., Oelschläger, C., Warkentin, M., Hu, Y. Zuin, L., Leinweber, P., 2018. Bone char vs. S-enriched bone char: Multi-r characterization of bone chars and their transformation in soil. Sci. Total Environ 643, 145-156.
- Zimmer, D., Panten, K., Frank, M., Springer, A., Leinweber, P., 2019, Sulfur-enriched bone char as alternative P fertilizer: spectrosopic, wet chemical, and yield response evaluation. Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 9, 1–21.

9

Supplemental Information Manuscript III

**Table S1.** Mean of soil parameters in the top 30 cm of three soils with different initial P concentrations namely very low, low, and optimal  $P_{CAL}$  concentrations after harvest in 2013. Measurements were conducted before the set-up of the present experiment and previously published by Panten and Leinweber (2020).

Soil parameter	Very low P	Low P	Optimal P
P <sub>CAL</sub> [mg kg <sup>-1</sup> ]	11.2 (6.9-17.8)	20.7 (16.5-25.1)	47.2 (41.4-53.0)
P <sub>water</sub> [mg kg <sup>-1</sup> ]	2.8 (2.0-3.9)	4.4 (3.5-5.5)	9.4 (8.0-10.5)
Total P [mg kg <sup>-1</sup> ]	217 (204-241)	273 (230-324)	399 (378-424)
Total C [%]	1.3 (1.2-1.4)	1.4 (1.3-1.5)	1.4 (1.4-1.4)
Total N [%]	0.10 (0.09-0.10)	0.10 (0.10-0.11)	0.10 (0.10-0.11)
рН	5.1 (5.0-5.2)	5.2 (5.0-5.2)	5.2 (5.1-5.3)

**Table S2.** Mean values and standard deviation of the potential alkaline (ALP) and acid (ACP) phosphatase activity, dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and nitrogen (DON), microbial biomass carbon (C<sub>mic</sub>) and the pH. Samples were taken and analyzed from three field replicates.

Sampling		Treatment	ALP	АСР	DOC	DON	C <sub>mic</sub>	рН
Date		Treatment	[µg p-NP g⁻	<sup>1</sup> dwt h <sup>-1</sup> ]		[µg g-1 dwt]		
Stem								
elongation	very low	Control	69.4 ± 13	285.1 ± 24.1	21.4 ± 13.5	24.5 ± 20.6	242.5 ± 125.5	5.0 ± 0.2
		TSP	69.2 ± 14.3	248.0 ± 27.8	22.7 ± 11	10.5 ± 4.4	201.7 ± 87.1	5.1 ± 0.2
		BC	73.7 ± 10	301.3 ± 28.1	24.1 ± 9.7	20.0 ± 6.2	243.9 ± 37.8	5.0 ± 0.1
		BC <sup>plus</sup>	56.9 ± 12.4	254.4 ± 39.3	91.6 ± 115*	16.9 ± 21.0	244.6 ± 130.9	5.2 ± 0.1
	low	Control	75.6 ± 19	266.0 ± 32.1	16.1 ± 2.1	7.7 ± 5.6	225.8 ± 64.2	5.1 ± 0.0
		TSP	54.8 ± 2.5	267.5 ± 13.7	14.3 ± 3.3	2.2 ± 1.1	271.8 ± 155.3	5.1 ± 0.1
		BC	64.3 ± 11.8	283.6 ± 21.4	15.7 ± 0.7	10.3 ± 5.8	210.4 ± 48.2	5.1 ± 0.2
		BC <sup>plus</sup>	68.3 ± 13.4	265.0 ± 1.6	237.8 ± 382#	6.3 ± 4.8	163.5 ± 75.3	5.1 ± 0.1
	optimal	Control	70.4 ± 14.3	268.9 ± 21.2	20.1 ± 8.8	4.8 ± 4.9	210.6 ± 25.7	5.1 ± 0.1
		TSP	67.9 ± 5.1	260.0 ± 16.6	23.6 ± 11.3	7.0 ± 1.9	251.3 ± 48.4	5.2 ± 0.0
		BC	69.9 ± 7.3	262.6 ± 29.2	16.9 ± 5.6	3.1 ± 1.3	167.4 ± 51.8	5.2 ± 0.0

		BC <sup>plus</sup>	71.9	±	23.1	283.5	±	38.3	92.	5 ±	47.2	4.0	±	4.0	260.3	±	94.1	5.1	±	0.1
Heading	very low	Control	81.3	±	33.5	328.6	±	43	25.8	3 ±	8.9	12.6	±	6.3	225.6	±	31.2	5.1	±	0.2
		TSP	74.8	±	13.5	320.5	±	42	23.0	5 ±	4.25	8.5	±	3.1	258.9	±	31.7	5.2	±	0.1
		BC	69.4	±	17.8	324.4	±	33.7	23.9	) ±	4.95	9.2	±	1.7	259.2	±	56.9	5.2	±	0.2
		BC <sup>plus</sup>	75.0	±	5.4	314.3	±	28.2	20.2	2 ±	0.58	7.2	±	1.4	242.5	±	72.5	5.2	±	0.1
	low	Control	86.2	±	9.9	318.0	±	6.4	23.8	3 ±	4.85	8.2	±	1.1	251.8	±	36.1	5.2	±	0.1
		TSP	80.1	±	17.8	313.2	±	28.9	24.4	↓ ±	1.68	7.2	±	1.1	231.1	±	33.9	5.1	±	0.1
		BC	77.4	±	10.9	332.9	±	60.9	21.	5 ±	5.82	7.0	±	0.4	211.8	±	53.2	5.2	±	0.1
		BC <sup>plus</sup>	83.7	±	18.3	333.6	±	41.7	18.4	↓ ±	2.79	8.5	±	0.7	273.9	±	78.9	5.2	±	0.1
	optimal	Control	74.9	±	14	328.0	±	29.3	22.2	2 ±	6.8	7.5	±	1.7	247.7	±	59.6	5.1	±	0.1
		TSP	77.2	±	1.7	301.8	±	43.6	21.2	2 ±	1.71	8.0	±	1.3	270.2	±	41.3	5.2	±	0.0
		BC	78.2	±	9.6	322.6	±	32.7	18.	5 ±	4.95	6.9	±	1.2	229.2	±	11.2	5.2	±	0.0
		BC <sup>plus</sup>	65.3	±	15.3	293.1	±	25.5	20.3	L ±	1.62	6.1	±	1.1	255.4	±	35.0	5.2	±	0.1
Ripening	very low	Control	66.9	±	4.4	321.7	±	67.6	31.2	2 ±	13.9	5.8	±	0.5	249.6	±	67.7	5.2	±	0.4
		TSP	73.8	±	4.2	285.9	±	1.3	23.9	) ±	8.07	5.7	±	1.4	276.6	±	18.1	5.4	±	0.3

	BC	6	7.9	±	2.2	329.0	±	52.2	25.1	±	1.59	6.6	±	0.8	270.0	±	41.0	5.6	±	0.6
low	BC <sup>plus</sup>	8	1.7	±	8	316.6	±	27.5	23.7	±	1.35	6.3	±	0.7	283.4	±	44.1	5.2	±	0.2
	Control	8	3.9	±	8.1	294.0	±	42.5	46.4	±	34	8.7	±	2.9	255.7	±	57.3	5.2	±	0.0
	TSP	6	7.7	±	13.7	308.6	±	13.6	21.1	±	3.1	6.6	±	1.3	282.3	±	81.8	5.1	±	0.2
optimal	BC	7	3.7	±	14.9	328.0	±	15.1	30.6	±	13.4	6.3	±	1.5	268.1	±	65.2	5.1	±	0.2
	BC <sup>plus</sup>	6	9.3	±	7.2	308.0	±	39.6	29.6	±	12.6	7.1	±	1.9	244.5	±	52.4	5.2	±	0.1
	Control	64	4.7	±	11.1	303.9	±	21.2	23.7	±	4.99	5.1	±	0.7	266.9	±	35.6	5.1	±	0.3
	TSP	7	3.4	±	3.7	297.4	±	30.5	29.4	±	5.82	7.0	±	0.9	280.1	±	68.8	5.2	±	0.1
	BC	7	2.5	±	8.1	300.4	±	11.6	26.3	±	4.18	6.4	±	0.9	278.9	±	72.4	5.3	±	0.1
	BC <sup>plus</sup>	63	2.9	±	14.7	290.0	±	21	30.7	±	9.13	6.6	±	2.3	260.0	±	50.8	5.1	±	0.2

DOC values excluding outlier replicates (n=2): \*25.6  $\mu g~g^{\text{-1}}$  dwt, #17.5  $\mu g~g^{\text{-1}}$  dwt

Sampling Date	Contrast (initial P, Treatment)	p Value	Test Variable			
Stem						
elongatio						
n	very low, BC - optimal, BC	0.002	P <sub>water</sub>			
	very low, TSP - optimal, TSP	0.023	P <sub>water</sub>			
	very low, BC - optimal, BC	0.005	P <sub>CAL</sub>			
	very low, Control - optimal,					
	Control	0.031	P <sub>CAL</sub>			
	very low, TSP - optimal, TSP	0.028	P <sub>CAL</sub>			
Heading	optimal, BC - optimal, Control	0.027	pstS			
	low, BCplus - low, TSP	0.033	phoD			
	optimal, BC - optimal, BC <sup>plus</sup>	0.012	gcd			
	very low, BC <sup>plus</sup> - optimal, BC <sup>plus</sup>	0.019	gcd			
	optimal, BC <sup>plus</sup> - optimal, TSP	0.019	gcd			
	very low, BC - optimal, BC	0.000	P <sub>water</sub>			
	very low, BC - A, TSP	0.028	P <sub>water</sub>			
	low, BC - optimal, BC	0.010	P <sub>water</sub>			
	low, BC - low, TSP	0.006	P <sub>water</sub>			
	very low, Control - optimal,					
	Control	0.027	P <sub>water</sub>			

**Table S3.** p values of significant (p < 0.05) pairwise comparisons based on a Tukey Post hoc test.</th>

	low, Control - low, TSP	0.037	$P_{water}$
	very low, TSP - optimal, TSP	0.004	P <sub>water</sub>
	very low, BC - optimal, BC	0.000	P <sub>CAL</sub>
	low, BC - low, TSP	0.007	P <sub>CAL</sub>
	very low, Control - optimal,		
	Control	0.013	$P_{CAL}$
	very low, TSP - low, TSP	0.011	P <sub>CAL</sub>
	very low, TSP - optimal, TSP	0.002	P <sub>CAL</sub>
Ripening	very low, BC - optimal, BC	0.000	P <sub>water</sub>
	low, BC - optimal, BC	0.005	$P_{water}$
	low, BC - low, TSP	0.014	$P_{water}$
	very low, Control - optimal,		
	Control	0.004	P <sub>water</sub>
	very low, TSP - optimal, TSP	0.001	$P_{water}$
	very low, BC - optimal, BC	0.001	P <sub>CAL</sub>
	very low, Control - optimal,		
	Control	0.009	P <sub>CAL</sub>
	very low, TSP - optimal, TSP	0.002	P <sub>CAL</sub>

# Licence agreements

# Manuscript I

# **Environmental microbiology reports**

**Article:** Bacterial potentials for uptake, solubilization and mineralization of extracellular phosphorus in agricultural soils are highly stable under different fertilization regimes.

## **GENERAL INFORMATION**

Request ID 600043931 Request Status Accepted Request Date 03 Jun 2021 Price 0,00 EUR

## ALL DETAILS

- ISSN: 1758-2229
- Type of Use: Republish in a thesis/dissertation
- Publisher:

Blackwell Publishing

• Portion: Chapter/article

## LICENSED CONTENT

### **Publication Title**

Environmental microbiology reports

## Article Title

Bacterial potentials for uptake, solubilization and mineralization of extracellular phosphorus in agricultural soils are

highly stable under different fertilization regimes.

## Author/Editor

Society for Applied Microbiology.

### Date

01/01/2009

### Country

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

### Rightsholder

John Wiley & Sons - Books

### **Publication Type**

e-Journal

URL

http://www3.interscience.wiley.com/journal/121641579/home

### Start Page

320

Issue

3

Volume

10

**REQUEST DETAILS** 

Page range(s)

320 - 327

**Total number of pages** 

8

Format (select all that apply)

Print, Electronic

Who will republish the content?

Academic institution

**Duration of Use** 

Life of current edition

Lifetime Unit Quantity

Up to 499

**Rights Requested** 

Main product

Distribution

Other territories and/or countries

## **Enter territories/countries**

Germany

Translation

Original language of publication

Copies for the disabled?

No

Minor editing privileges?

No

Incidental promotional use?

No

Currency

EUR

## **NEW WORK DETAILS**

Title

PhD

### Instructor name

Prof. Dr. Michael Schloter

### Institution name

Technical University Munich (TUM)

### **Expected presentation date**

2022-06-30

## **ADDITIONAL DETAILS**

### The requesting person / organization to appear on the license

Martin Grafe

# **REUSE CONTENT DETAILS**

### Title, description, or numeric reference of the portion(s)

Full Article

### Editor of portion(s)

Baum, Christel; Goers, Manuela; Grafe, Martin; Kublik, Susanne; Leinweber, Peter; Schloter, Michael; Schulz, Stefanie; Tucher, Sabine V; Vestergaard, Gisle; Zimmer, Dana

### Volume of serial or monograph

10

## Page or page range of portion

320-327

### Title of the article/chapter the portion is from

Bacterial potentials for uptake, solubilization and mineralization of extracellular phosphorus in agricultural soils are highly stable under different fertilization regimes.

### Author of portion(s)

Baum, Christel; Goers, Manuela; Grafe, Martin; Kublik, Susanne; Leinweber, Peter; Schloter, Michael; Schulz, Stefanie; Tucher, Sabine V; Vestergaard, Gisle; Zimmer, Dana

### Publication date of portion

2018-06-01

# Manuscript II

JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jun 07, 2021

This Agreement between Technical University Munich -- Martin Grafe ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	5081231492457
License date	Jun 03, 2021
Licensed Content Publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed Content Publication	Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science
Licensed Content Title	Effect of triple superphosphate and biowaste compost on mycorrhizal colonization and enzymatic P mobilization under maize in a long-term field experiment
Licensed Content Author	Manuela Peine, Nora Vitow, Martin Grafe, et al
Licensed Content Date	Dec 18, 2018
Licensed Content Volume	182
Licensed Content Issue	2
Licensed Content Pages	8

Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Author of this Wiley article
Format	Print and electronic
Portion	Full article
Will you be translating?	No
Title	Investigation of bacterial P turnover potential in agricultural soils
Institution name	n/a
Expected presentation date	Dec 2020
Requestor	Veilchenweg 36 EG Mitte
Location	Neu-Ulm, 89233 Germany Attn: Martin Alexander Grafe
Publisher Tax ID	EU826007151
Total	0.00 USD

Terms and Conditions

### TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a"Wiley Company") or handled on behalf of a society with which a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular work (collectively "WILEY"). By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright Clearance Center Inc., ("CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your RightsLink account (these are available at any time at <u>http://myaccount.copyright.com</u>).

### **Terms and Conditions**

- The materials you have requested permission to reproduce or reuse (the "Wiley Materials") are protected by copyright.
- You are hereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sub licensable (on a standalone basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license to reproduce the Wiley <u>Materials for the purpose specified in the licensing process</u>. This license, **and any CONTENT (PDF or image file) purchased as part of your order**, is for a one-time use only and limited to any maximum distribution number specified in the license. The first instance of republication or reuse granted by this license must be completed within two years of the date of the grant of this license (although copies prepared before the end date may be distributed thereafter). The Wiley Materials shall not be used in any other manner or for any other purpose, beyond what is granted in the license. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate acknowledgement given to the author, title of the material/book/journal and the publisher. You shall also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Wiley publication in your use of the Wiley Material. Permission is also granted on the understanding that nowhere in the text is a previously published source acknowledged for all or part of this Wiley Material. Any third party content is expressly excluded from this permission.
- With respect to the Wiley Materials, all rights are reserved. Except as expressly granted by the terms of the license, no part of the Wiley Materials may be copied, modified, adapted (except for minor reformatting required by the new Publication), translated, reproduced, transferred or distributed, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Wiley Materials without the prior permission of the respective copyright owner. For STM Signatory Publishers clearing permission under the terms of the <u>STM Permissions Guidelines</u> only, the terms of the license are extended to include subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and does not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted figures or extracts, You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed by the Wiley Materials. You may not license, rent, sell, loan, lease, pledge, offer as security, transfer or assign the Wiley Materials on a stand-alone basis, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other person.
- The Wiley Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc, the Wiley Companies, or their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of and the right to reproduce the Wiley Materials pursuant to Section 2 herein during the continuance of this Agreement. You agree that you own no right, title or interest in or to the Wiley Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein. You shall have no rights hereunder other than the license as provided for above in Section 2. No right, license or interest to any trademark, trade name, service mark or other branding ("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto
- NEITHER WILEY NOR ITS LICENSORS MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, ACCURACY, SATISFACTORY

QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, INTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND ITS LICENSORS AND WAIVED BY YOU.

- WILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of this Agreement by you.
- You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its Licensors and their respective directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against any actual or threatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach of this Agreement by you.
- IN NO EVENT SHALL WILEY OR ITS LICENSORS BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, PROVISIONING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.
- Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed amended to achieve as nearly as possible the same economic effect as the original provision, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
- The failure of either party to enforce any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to enforce each and every term and condition of this Agreement. No breach under this agreement shall be deemed waived or excused by either party unless such waiver or consent is in writing signed by the party granting such waiver or consent. The waiver by or consent of a party to a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of or consent to any other or subsequent breach by such other party.
- This Agreement may not be assigned (including by operation of law or otherwise) by you without WILEY's prior written consent.
- Any fee required for this permission shall be non-refundable after thirty (30) days from receipt by the CCC.
- These terms and conditions together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein) form the entire agreement between you and WILEY concerning this licensing transaction and (in the absence of fraud) supersedes all prior agreements and representations of the parties, oral or written. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' successors, legal representatives, and authorized assigns.
- In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions,

these terms and conditions shall prevail.

- WILEY expressly reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.
- This Agreement will be void if the Type of Use, Format, Circulation, or Requestor Type was misrepresented during the licensing process.
- This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, USA, without regards to such state's conflict of law rules. Any legal action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to these Terms and Conditions or the breach thereof shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in New York County in the State of New York in the United States of America and each party hereby consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction of such court, waives any objection to venue in such court and consents to service of process by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the last known address of such party.

### WILEY OPEN ACCESS TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Wiley Publishes Open Access Articles in fully Open Access Journals and in Subscription journals offering Online Open. Although most of the fully Open Access journals publish open access articles under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) License only, the subscription journals and a few of the Open Access Journals offer a choice of Creative Commons Licenses. The license type is clearly identified on the article.

### The Creative Commons Attribution License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY)</u> allows users to copy, distribute and transmit an article, adapt the article and make commercial use of the article. The CC-BY license permits commercial and non-

### **Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License**

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial (CC-BY-NC)License</u> permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.(see below)

### Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License</u> (CC-BY-NC-ND) permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, is not used for commercial purposes and no modifications or adaptations are made. (see below)

### Use by commercial "for-profit" organizations

Use of Wiley Open Access articles for commercial, promotional, or marketing purposes requires further explicit permission from Wiley and will be subject to a fee.

Further details can be found on Wiley Online Library <u>http://olabout.wiley.com/WileyCDA/Section/id-410895.html</u>

### Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.10 Last updated September 2015

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

# Manuscript III

Dear,

We hereby grant you permission to reprint the material below at no charge in your thesis subject to the following conditions:

1. If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained, then that material may not be included in your publication/copies.

2. Suitable acknowledgment to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"This article was published in Publication title, Vol number, Author(s), Title of article, Page Nos, Copyright Elsevier (or appropriate Society name) (Year)."

3. Your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form.

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose for which permission is hereby given.

5. This permission is granted for non-exclusive world English rights only. For other languages please reapply separately for each one required. Permission excludes use in an electronic form other than submission. Should you have a specific electronic project in mind please reapply for permission.

6. As long as the article is embedded in your thesis, you can post/share your thesis in the University repository.

7. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

This includes permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

This includes permission for UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your

thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

8. Posting of the full article/ chapter online is not permitted. You may post an abstract with a link to the Elsevier website<u>www.elsevier.com</u>, or to the article on ScienceDirect if it is available on that platform.

Regards,

Subash Balakrishnan ELSEVIER | Permissions Granting Team

From: Administrator Date: Thursday, June 03, 2021 07:45 AM GMT Dear ,

Thank you for contacting the Permissions Granting Team.

We acknowledge the receipt of your request and we aim to respond within seven business days. Your unique reference number is 210603-010123.

Please avoid changing the subject line of this email when replying to avoid delay with your query.

Regards, Permission Granting Team

From: Date: Thursday, June 03, 2021 07:45 AM GMT

## Submission

Date: 03 Jun 2021 8:45am

Name: M.Sc. Martin Alexander Grafe Institute/company: Address: Veilchenweg, 36 Post/Zip Code: 89233 City: Neu-Ulm ID: 1172705

State/Territory: Country: Germany Telephone: 015771434284 Email: martin grafe@outlook.de Type of Publication: Journal Title: Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment Auhtors: Grafe M, Kurth JK, Panten K, Durai Raj A, Baum C, Zimmer D, Leinweber P, Schloter M, Schulz S Year: 2021 From page: 1 To page: 9 ISSN: 0167-8809 Volume: Volume 314 Article title: Effects of different innovative bone char based P fertilizers on microbiota catalyzing P turnover in agricultural soils I would like to use: Full article / chapter I am the author of the Elsevier material: Yes Involvement: Firstauthor In what format will you use the material: Print and Electronic Translation: No Proposed use: Reuse in a thesis/dissertation

Material can be extracted: No

### Additional Comments / Information:

This email is for use by the intended recipient and contains information that may be confidential. If you are not the intended recipient, please notify the sender by return email and delete this email from your inbox. Any unauthorized use or distribution of this email, in whole or in part, is strictly prohibited and may be unlawful. Any price quotes contained in this email are merely indicative and will not result in any legally binding or enforceable obligation. Unless explicitly designated as an intended e-contract, this email does not constitute a contract offer, a contract amendment, or an acceptance of a contract offer.

Elsevier Limited. Registered Office: The Boulevard, Langford Lane, Kidlington, Oxford, OX5 1GB, United Kingdom, Registration No. 1982084, Registered in England and Wales. <u>Privacy Policy</u>